

## Integrating the effects of climate-change into the agrochemical risk assessment for freshwater ecosystems

By: Tom Sinclair

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Sheffield Faculty of Science Department of Animal & Plant Sciences

September 2021

"We sit together, the mountain and I, until only the mountain remains" Li Bai

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all my supervisors for their constant help, support and guidance throughout my PhD; Lorraine Maltby, I would just like to say thank you so much for your constant patience and wisdom that has guided me throughout the PhD and ensured that I have remained on track. I hope I have learned well from your supervision and understand how much further I have to go. Alistair Boxall I would like to thank you for your extensive knowledge and ideas that spurned this project to go in new directions and were so welcoming with you and your lab group at York. Finally, I also hope that Richard Williams is making the most of his well-deserved retirement, although I want to especially thank him for all his help in pointing me in the right direction to the resources on hydrology and climate change within CEH.

I would also like to thank Peter Craig who is the statistical expert behind the hSSD model that has formed a core section of Chapter 3; I only hope my insight into biological systems has helped develop the model further. Equally, a big thank you goes out to John Murray-Bligh whose encyclopaedic knowledge of freshwater invertebrates has assisted me many times and who has been an incredible and supportive manager for my PhD placement with the Environment Agency.

A special thanks go to Francesca Turner and Lynsey Gregory for their incredible help in assisting with the setting up and maintaining of *Daphnia* cultures and acclimation over those many months. Without your help I would burned out and never would have been able to complete the laboratory work for Chapter 4. A thank you also goes out to Nicola White for being so supportive and knowledgeable of E floor labs and always being there to help, and to Ruoyu Liang and Claudia Cridge who have been invaluable for their use of the hSSD model which has allowed me to improve it thanks to their feedback.

My friends deserve a special thank you for providing both advice and support, and a necessary break from the PhD. This also goes out to the incredible PhD community in York Environment, and in Sheffield the fantastic APS cohort I am part of and the members of my office on E floor; being between York and Sheffield has very much meant that my thesis is a tale of two cities. Equally, special thanks go to the members of the writing club that have always ensured my afternoons remain productive.

Finally, and in many ways most importantly, I would like to thank my family, for being so supportive and always being there for me. You have always taken an interest in me and my work, and provided so much help and support, particularly through the pandemic which has defined the latter stages of my PhD.

## Integrating the effects of climate-change into the agrochemical risk assessment for freshwater ecosystems

#### Summary

Climate change and pollution are major drivers of global biodiversity loss and freshwater ecosystems are particularly at risk from diffuse pollution from agrochemical landscapes. The predicted increase in the impact of climate change on weather systems may have important consequences for environmental exposure and ecological impacts of agrochemicals. However, current consideration of the effects of climate change on environmental risk assessments (ERAs) is limited to qualitative reviews or specific case studies. Therefore, there is a need to quantify the effects of climate change on agrochemical exposure and ecosystem sensitivity and integrate findings within ERAs.

This thesis aims to address three major issues relevant to freshwater ERAs: firstly, how spatial and seasonal variation in climate change affects agrochemical fate via the soil matrix considering chemical persistence. Secondly, to assess what effect species composition has on assemblage sensitivity and how this varies by i) chemical type, and ii) the change in composition under climate change. Finally, multi-stressor of chemical and temperature shock was investigated for mitigation by multi-generation acclimation.

The effects of climate change exhibited spatial and seasonal variation with precipitation and chemical degradation being major factors affecting chemical flux into freshwaters. Assemblage composition, including shifts under climate change, significantly affect sensitivity, although the extent of variation is chemical dependent. Temperature influenced reproductive strategy, but multi-stressors and temperature acclimation effects were limited.

The conclusions from each chapter were drawn together by contextualising the results within an ERA framework using case study chemicals. These indicated that the change to risk is spatially variable and beyond existing uncertainty accounted for within ERAs. This demonstrates that application of these results to realistic chemical uses is insightful and that existing ERAs can be adapted to include climate change. This is necessary as this thesis indicated that specific chemicals and locations underwent a large increase in risk.

### Contents

Chapter 1. Int	troduction	9 9
1.2 Agr	ochemicals: Context and risk assessment	11
121	Emissions & fate	
1 2 2	Organisms under agrochemical exposure	
1 2 3	Communities under agrochemical stress	13
1.2.5.	vications of climate change on agrochemical risk	
131	Meteorology	15
1 3 2	Agriculture under climate change	15
1 2 2	Eate & behaviour under climate change	10
13.5	Freshwaters under climate change	17
125	Community under climate change & agrochemical consitivity	10
1.3.5	Multi-stressor effects on organisms	19 22
1.5.0	nd objectives	22
L. AIIII di	no objectives	
change condi	tions	
2.1. Intr	oduction	27
2.1.1.	Meteorology, climate change and chemical fate	27
2.1.2.	Agrochemical fate and freshwaters in the UK	31
2.1.3.	Aim and objectives	34
2.2. Me <sup>-</sup>	thodology	
2.2.1.	Overview	
2.2.2.	Data collection and processing	
2.2.3.	PRZM setup and running	42
2.2.4.	Analysing PRZM outputs	42
2.2. Res	ults	45
2.2.4.	Climate change on UK weather	45
2.3.2.	Weather and chemical fate	47
2.3.2.	Interactions of climate change and chemical properties on fate	51
2.3.3.	Season and degradation on flux	54
2.3.4.	Effects of climate for realistic chemical application scenarios	57
2.4. Disc	cussion	60
2.4.1	Factors influencing chemical flux under climate change	60
2.4.2. Im	plications & applications	62

Chapter	3. Assessing the effect of taxonomic composition on chemical sensitivity at an as	semblage
3.1	Introduction	67
3.1.	1 Sensitivity on scales above the organisms	67
3.1.	2 Hypotheses and Objectives	72
3.2	Methods	73
3.2.	1 The hSSD Model	73
3.2.	2 Chemical selection and processing	74
3.2.	3 Testing the hSSD model	76
3.2.	4 Assemblage selection and processing	76
3.2.	5 Running the hSSD model	77
3.2.	6 Variation in chemical sensitivity across reference sites	77
3.2.	7 Influence of typology on assemblage composition and chemical sensitivity	78
3.2.	8 Effects of climate change on assemblages	79
3.2.	9 Assemblage composition under climate change and chemical sensitivity	80
3.3	Results	81
3.3.	1 Chemical and assemblage taxonomy with model predictions	81
3.3.	2 Distribution of chemical sensitivity across reference sites	82
3.3.	3 Influence of typology on assemblage composition and chemical sensitivity	85
3.3.	4 Effects of future climates on assemblages and their chemical sensitivity	
3.4	Discussion	91
3.4.	1 Model functionality and applicability	92
3.4.	2 Assemblage sensitivity considering chemical type and site typology	93
3.4.	3 Accounting for climate change on assemblage composition	95
3.4.	4 Applied use of the hSSD model	96
Chapter	<ol><li>Multi-stressor impacts in a warming world: the importance of multigenerationance</li></ol>	al thermal
4.1	Introduction	
4.1.	1 Interactions and mechanisms of temperature and toxicants	
4.1.	2 Thermal acclimation and multi-stressor effects	
4.1.	Approach, and hypotheses and objectives	
4.2	Methods	
4.2.	1 Daphnia culture	
4.2.	2 Acclimation process	
4.2.	3 Copper concentrations	
4.2.	4 Toxicity test design	
4.2.	5 Measurement and parameters	
4.2.	6 Data analysis	
		6

4.3	Results	
4.3.	1 Experimental parameters	
4.3.	2 Reproductive parameters	
4.3.	3 Effects of temperature on copper toxicity and endpoints	
4.4	Discussion	
4.4.	1 Effects of temperature acclimation and shock	
4.4.	2 Shifts to reproductive strategy	
4.4.	3 Acclimation and mitigation of temperature and chemical stress	116
4.4.	4 Implications and limitations	
Chapter risk asses 5.1	5. Agrochemical and climate change effects on freshwaters: implications ssment Introduction	ofor environmental 
5.2	Main findings	
5.2.	1 Interaction between climate change and chemical flux	
5.2.	2 Assemblage sensitivity	
5.2.	3 Multi-generation adaption and organism sensitivity	
5.3	Application of findings to environmental risk assessment	
5.3.	1 Framework for considering climate change	
5.3.	2 Case study: Glyphosate	
5.3.	3 Case study: Copper	
5.3.	4 Case study: Theoretical new chemical	
5.4	Conclusion	
5.4.	1 Uncertainties, limitations and recommendations	132
5.4.	2 Conclusion	134
Referenc Appendio Appen	ces ces ndix A2 for Chapter 2	
Appen	ndix A3 for chapter 3	156
Appen	ndix A4 for Chapter 4	

# **CHAPTER 1**

Factors affecting agrochemical input and sensitivity to freshwater ecosystems under the influence of climate change

#### Chapter 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. A changing world

Anthropogenic impacts have altered ecosystems and landscapes throughout human history but human development following the industrial revolution has increased the extent and magnitude of effects, which now occur at a global scale (Ellis et al., 2021). Chemical pollution is one anthropogenic driver of change with global effects; chemical pollutants have been detected from Mount Everest to the Marianas Trench (Dasgupta et al., 2018; Miner et al., 2021). Agricultural land use represents 55% of Earth's land area (Ellis et al., 2010), and increasing intensity and industrialisation of agriculture since the Green Revolution has seen agrochemical use increase rapidly; even recently, between 1990 to 2019 global pesticide use has nearly doubled from 2.3 million tonnes to 4.2 million tonnes (FAO, 2020; Liu et al., 2015). Application of agrochemicals results in environmental exposure beyond the target ecosystem as the chemical is transported. This results in toxic effects of agrochemicals to organisms, ecosystems and the benefits directly and indirectly humans gain from them (ecosystem services) being observed ultimately leading to issue of environmental pollution entering public discourse (Carson, 1962; Carvalho, 2017; Reid, 2005). Ultimately, this led to regulations that calculated the risk posed to ecosystems by considering the quantity of chemical the ecosystem is exposed to and the sensitivity at which an ecosystem and its functioning and services are impaired (Nienstedt et al., 2012). Consequently, an ecosystem services perspective forms an important contextual point when considering agrochemical use and the unintentional exposure of non-target ecosystems, and thus requires the evaluation of how increased agricultural yield weighs against the negative impacts on non-target ecosystems (Daryanto et al., 2018; IPBES et al., 2019; Palm et al., 2014). Going forwards, increasing human population and developing dietary patterns have agrochemical use forecasts which predict continued pollutant pressure over the 21<sup>st</sup> century (Delcour et al., 2015; UN, 2019). However, agrochemicals will not be the only stressor to ecosystems and services, and the 21<sup>st</sup> century is set to be one increasingly affected by the rise of climate change as stressor of ecosystems and their biodiversity across the entire planet (Pecl. et al., 2017; Malhi et al., 2020). Indeed, climate change, which currently contributes to the decline of 19.4 % of threatened species (i.e., the 7<sup>th</sup> largest contributor), is set to increase in importance during the 21<sup>st</sup> century and to become one the major causes of species extinction due to rising greenhouse gas emissions exacerbating the changes to climate and therefore ecosystems (Maxwell et al., 2016).

Beyond the effects of climate change itself, climate change is expected to alter the risk from extensively studied agrochemicals, such as pesticides, and from emerging chemical pollutants (Balbus

et al., 2012; EFSA et al., 2020; Fijalkowski et al., 2017; Watts et al., 2015). For example, direct effects of climate change on ecosystem sensitivity involve multiple stressor effects where chemical sensitivity of receptor organisms is mediated by climatic factors such as temperature stress or water availability(Birk et al., 2020) Other direct effects affect chemical exposure by altering the fate and behaviour of chemical transport to non-target ecosystems (Bloomfield et al., 2006; Gagnon et al., 2016). Climate change may also mediate the effect of chemicals on ecosystems indirectly, affecting chemical exposure by altering the types and amounts of agrochemicals used and their use patterns (Bussi et al., 2018; Delcour et al., 2015; Zimmermann et al., 2017), or altering the sensitivity of the ecosystem indirectly by shifting community composition and hence the presence of different receptor organisms, all with varying chemical sensitivities. Different approaches are used to investigate each of these potential climate change effects, and are discussed in further detail in 1.3 below, although a full consideration of combined risk is needed to integrate each approach into a framework and be adaptable to the range of chemicals, climate effects and ecosystems worldwide.

Freshwater ecosystems cover only 0.8% of the planet's area, but are disproportionally biodiverse, representing around 6% of described species (Dudgeon et al., 2006). Within the UK, riparian ecosystems and their catchments have been heavily impacted with none unaffected by human activity (Maltby et al., 2011; Vaughan and Ormerod, 2012). Assessments of UK rivers indicate that only 14% of monitored river water bodies are in good ecological status while 0% are in good chemical status (Environment Agency, 2020, 2018). While efforts have been made to improve water quality, with pollutant loads to rivers reducing by 70% between 1995-2005, point source chemical pollution still occurs and inputs from agricultural land pose ongoing threats to river ecosystems, and agrochemical use continues to rise (Garthwaite, 2018; Liu et al., 2015). Furthermore, the development of more sensitive analytical detection techniques and fate pathways has uncovered the potential risks from emerging chemical pollutants (Boxall et al., 2003; Sarmah et al., 2006). For example, pharmaceuticals, which were previously undetected in freshwaters and therefore not considered as a pollutant, are now understood to be a potential risk in UK rivers following exposure from sewage systems or from livestock, biofertiliser and irrigation emissions onto agricultural land (Daughton and Ternes, 1999; Gros et al., 2019; Ternes et al., 2007).

While the effects of climate change and chemical pollution occur globally, their effects vary spatially depending on the local freshwater ecosystems, climates, and anthropogenic drivers (Birk et al., 2020; Vaughan and Ormerod, 2014). Within Europe, existing freshwater ecosystems, their condition and their services have been shown to be failing the objectives set for their protection with both chemical pollution and climate change indicating deteriorating trends and targets largely not on track (EEA,

2019). Therefore, to assess and address their impacts, consideration of the risk posed by these stressors and the extent of variation in them is required. Environmental risk assessments (ERAs) provide a method with which to quantify risk to ecosystems from agrochemical application and therefore represent one approach to this (EFSA, 2013a). However, existing consideration of climate change within ERA approaches is limited and has been acknowledged as such from both a scientific and regulatory perspective (Brooks et al., 2013; EFSA et al., 2020; Van den Brink et al., 2018). Consequently, linking the different aspects of climate change and agrochemical pollution together is a major, but necessary, challenge to future proof ERAs and to protect freshwater ecosystems from the negative effects of agrochemical inputs (Reid et al., 2019). This thesis aims to investigate aspects of the exposure and sensitivity of ecosystems to agrochemicals and to quantify the effects of climate change on them by adapting specific aspects of the ERA and integrating them back into the existing ERA framework. In particular, it focuses on quantifying some of the effects of climate change on both exposure and sensitivity within a UK perspective due to the extent of existing freshwater, landscape, chemical and climatic data available (University of Hertfordshire, 2007a, 2007b; Met Office, 2019; Cranfield University, 2021; Environment Agency et al., 2021). The quantification of climate change on risk will be considered simultaneously with the development of a framework for considering the effect of climate change on ERAs that is adaptable to different chemicals, locations and climates of ecosystems potentially at risk.

#### 1.2. Agrochemicals: Context and risk assessment

#### 1.2.1. Emissions & fate

Following introduction to agricultural land, agrochemicals pass through multiple processes to ultimately affect ecosystems and the benefits we derive from ecosystem services, such as water processing, purification and extraction, and pest and disease control (Figure 1.1). Chemicals applied to agricultural land are transported to non-target ecosystems ranging from adjacent land both cultivated and not, local soil ecosystems and bodies of freshwater such as ditches, rivers and ponds, each subject to negative effects on the constituent organisms (Gagnon et al., 2016; Steffens et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2019). Pesticide transport by surface runoff depends on local climate, agricultural practices, topography, soil characteristics, crop type, and pest phenology conditions. To accurately assess the impact of climate change, these factors must be accounted for in a single framework by integrating their interaction and uncertainty. Such negative effects cascade throughout different species through community interactions, impacting the ability of the ecosystem to function and Ultimately this impairment in functioning reduces ecosystem services necessitating consideration of chemicals risk for ecosystem protection (Brauman et al., 2007; Nienstedt et al., 2012; Palm et al.,

2014). Exposure of non-target ecosystems occurs following application through transport of the agrochemical via multiple routes including air, soil, water and trophic transfer (Bach et al., 2016; Lorenz et al., 2017). Consequently, there is a need to understand both the inputs and routes of chemical exposure. This has been done in chemical fate field trials which have quantified the movement of chemicals through the soil matrix and into freshwater (Capel et al., 2008; Gros et al., 2019). As both inputs and routes of chemical exposure are sufficiently understood and quantifiable, equations for accurately calculating chemical fate have been discovered. This has led to the development of exposure models to predict the concentration of agrochemicals in freshwater bodies often supported and validated by field data (EFSA, 2013a; EMA et al., 2017; Parker et al., 2007; Schnoor, 1992). These exposure models not only enable the chemical fate, behaviour and transport into freshwater ecosystems to be quantified, but they can also be altered to account for specific scenarios, chemicals and situations (Bach et al., 2016).



Figure 1.1 Pathway of introduction of agrochemicals to agricultural land and the resultant pathway of effects that cascade onto to ecosystems and the services gain from them

Since 1993, the FOrum for Co-ordination of pesticide fate models and their USe (FOCUS) have attempted to integrate and harmonise the calculation of predicted environmental concentrations of chemicals and agree upon fate models suitable for the ERA (FOCUS, 2021). Consequently, there are a suite of exposure models used in regulatory risk assessment that enable chemical exposure to be considered for specific locations, chemical applications and uses, and meteorology, providing the required input data are available (Bach et al., 2017; Jarvis et al., 1997; Mullins et al., 1993; US EPA, 2016a). In addition to ERA uses, models have been run for a series of realistic and hypothetical location-specific case studies, including watershed level predictions (Wang et al., 2019), with comparison of land-use and chemical fates (Oliver et al., 2012). There have also been efforts to create risk assessment scenarios for chemical exposure including for Europe-wide assessments (Blenkinsop et al., 2008), down-the-drain chemicals discharged directly into freshwaters (Franco et al., 2017) and soil-specific fate assessments (Bach et al., 2017).

However, when considering the impacts of climate change on the effects of agrochemicals on freshwater ecosystems, previous studies either consist of theoretical frameworks without methods to quantify exposure (Biswas et al., 2018; Bloomfield et al., 2006) or highly specific case-study locations (e.g. the fates of persistent-organic pollutants into the Venico Lagoon (Valle et al., 2007) or agricultural runoff into San Joaquin Valley, California (Ficklin et al., 2010)). Climate change will have a multitude of effects on chemical fate pathways, with further consideration of for example chemical transport in floods or chemical dynamics for intermittent waters (Ademollo et al., 2011; Boxall et al., 2009). Consequently a framework that quantifies the impacts of climate change on chemical fate and transport that is applicable across multiple locations and chemicals while accounting for underdeveloped pathways, requires development.

#### 1.2.2. Organisms under agrochemical exposure

Concurrently with the Green Revolution, harmful effects of agrochemicals to organisms were being observed and acknowledgement of these issues entered public discourse (Carson, 1962; Carvalho, 2017). Application of agrochemicals resulted in environmental exposure as the chemical was transported into non-target ecosystems and affected non-target organisms, with effects on freshwaters being particularly noted (Cairns et al., 1972; Pilli et al., 1988). Freshwater organisms may be exposed to agrochemicals through absorption, ingestion or filtering of contaminated water, sediment or food (Schwarzenbach et al., 2006; Walters et al., 2016). Upon exposure, organisms will begin to exhibit toxic effects dependent on the concentration of the chemical. Generally, these effects are categorised by the timeframe of exposure, with acute toxicity occurring over short periods of time (i.e., hours or days) being associated primarily with mortality and behavioural changes. In contrast

chronic toxicity occurs over longer periods of time (i.e., weeks or months) either through continual or repeat exposure and is noted for also affecting organism growth, reproduction and development (Ashauer et al., 2006; EFSA, 2013a).

In Europe, an environmental risk assessment has been required for pesticides since 1991 and for veterinary medicines since 1996 (Brauman et al., 2007; Nienstedt et al., 2012). This section describes the approach used to assess risks Regulatory ERAs are typically based on single species toxicity data derived from laboratory tests with standardised test species and protocols (Harrass, 1996). Such studies are limited by their lack of realistic community dynamics and abiotic conditions, but are reliable and repeatable and therefore provide a base with which to extrapolate to natural ecosystems within the assumption of being conservative with risk assessment (EFSA, 2013). Standard test species (e.g. Daphnia magna) are selected as they are generally sensitive to chemical toxicants and capable of being reared and tested in a laboratory environment (Craig et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2007). Standard toxicity tests have defined endpoints; most commonly this is the concentration causing 50% effects for acute studies, although other percentiles may be used (as effect concentration x%, ECx, or lethal concentration for x%, LCx), and for chronic studies either the concentration at which no effects were observed (NOEC) or an ECx (where x is typically 10%) are commonly used (ECHA, 2008; EFSA, 2013a). If refinement of the toxicity data is required, additional (higher tier) approaches may be adopted that increase the realism of the studies either by altering the study environment (biotic and abiotic) or altering the chemical exposure regime from a continuous to a variable exposure regime that reflects exposure patterns that occur in the real environment (Boxall et al., 2002; EFSA et al., 2018b). However, despite these methodological alterations, there remains considerable uncertainty when extrapolating from laboratory or semi-field studies to natural ecosystems. These uncertainties increase when accounting for future climate change conditions in the assessment of ecological risk. Where possible, a precautionary approach is used in ERAs in conjunction with assessment factors to address uncertainties associated with extrapolating from standard toxicity tests to potential effects on natural ecosystems (Hickey et al., 2009; Kuemmerer et al., 2019; Metz and Ingold, 2017). Such assessment factors are intended to cover all uncertainties, including from study design, repeatability of studies, and the variation in the sensitivity and exposure across natural ecosystems.

#### 1.2.3. Communities under agrochemical stress

Communities consist of multiple species and the community-level effect of chemical exposure will be a function of toxicity to individual organisms and the consequences of interspecific and intraspecific interactions (Preston, 2002; Relyea and Hoverman, 2006). The structure and composition of communities varies spatio-temporally and this complexity makes fully understanding and predicting the effects of chemical exposure on natural communities difficult. Regulatory ERAs address this complexity by considering broad taxonomic groups of organisms (e.g., invertebrates, fish, algae, microbes) and identifying acceptable levels of risk for each group. The assumption being that, if risk to these major groups is acceptable, then risk for the entire community the risk will also be acceptable (EFSA, 2010; Ibrahim et al., 2013).

The initial tier of ERAs utilises the toxicity endpoint of a single sensitive species in each of the taxonomic groups of interest (EFSA, 2013a). For freshwater risk assessment the major taxonomic groups and species are: invertebrates (cladoceran e.g., Daphnia magna), vertebrate (fish e.g., Oncorhynchus mykiss), and algae (unicellular green algae e.g., Raphidocelis subcapitata). This endpoint is used to assess the entire group with assessment factors used to represent the diversity in toxicity and uncertainty of different species' responses to a chemical. The greater the uncertainty, the larger the assessment factor. Several approaches can be used to make the data package more robust. Uncertainty associated with interspecific variation in sensitivity may be addressed by testing additional species. These data can then be used to generate species sensitivity distributions that more accurately reflect the range of sensitivities in natural ecosystems (Aldenberg and Jaworska, 2000). Uncertainty associated with species interactions and interspecific variation in sensitivity can also be addressed using multispecies studies (e.g., microcosms and mesocosms) that include population interactions and dynamics across a range of scales and stressors (Birk et al., 2020; Juvigny-Khenafou et al., 2021). Mesocosm studies that aim to replicate natural ecosystems exhibit high ecosystem specificity with the reduction of applicability to other community types (Miko et al., 2015). Mesocosm studies are viewed as having the lowest uncertainty when extrapolating to natural ecosystems and accordingly have the smallest assessment factors.

#### 1.3 Implications of climate change on agrochemical risk

#### 1.3.1 Meteorology

Increased greenhouse gases in the atmosphere retain heat, but complex interactions within meteorological systems affect a plethora of climatic conditions beyond warming alone (Lowe et al., 2018; Watts et al., 2015). Consequently, climate change has and will continue to alter hydrological and atmospheric cycles, ultimately affecting all meteorological conditions, each of which can feedback onto other climate conditions (Lucarini et al., 2017). Although complex, improved meteorological modelling has shown that the effects of climate change will vary depending on the time of year (e.g. by season) and spatially down to a local level (e.g. down to 2.6 km scale in the UK, Lowe et al., 2018). In addition a greater frequency of extreme events is projected (Kennedy-Asser et al., 2021; Min et al.,

2011). On a global scale, effects from climate change vary; for example temperature changes are more pronounced towards the poles, yet spatial variation exists across all scales and down to sub-national levels (Clem et al., 2020; Maclean et al., 2017). Therefore, the effects of climate change on chemical exposure and effects must be considered within the context of climatically relevant spatial and temporal scales.

For example, the UK climate is warming with the long-term average for 2010-2019 being 0.9°C higher than the long-term average for 1961-1990. The change in long-term, average temperature has been greatest for spring (1.1 °C) and smallest for winter (0.7°C) (Kendon et al., 2020). Climate projections for the UK (Kennedy-Asser et al., 2021; Lowe et al., 2018) suggest that this trend will continue with a greater frequency of warmer weather and hot summers being more common. The increased warming is expected to be greatest in the southern UK. The UK has also become wetter, with the recent decade (2010-2019) being on average 5% wetter than 1961-1990 (Kendon et al., 2019). However, this is seasonally dependent, with climate projections suggesting increased rainfall in the winter, but lower rainfall in the summer (Watts et al., 2015). There will also be an increase in extreme precipitation notably due to convectional rainstorms primarily in spring and summer (Kendon et al., 2014). The effects of climate change on precipitation are more pronounced towards the southern and western parts of the UK. Overall, the projections trend towards a higher frequency of warmer and wetter winters and a greater frequency of hotter and drier summers.

#### 1.3.2 Agriculture under climate change

Climate change will have a multitude of effects on agriculture and on the inputs of chemicals to agricultural ecosystems. Warmer temperatures will affect growth rates and phenology of the crops, but also of the pest species associated with them (Gomez-Zavaglia et al., 2020; Tirado et al., 2010; Ziska and McConnell, 2016), potentially affecting the economic viability of certain crops. Future temperature and precipitation changes will mean that crops will be associated with different profiles of pests and diseases and therefore different pesticide regimes will be required (Bajwa et al., 2020; Teixeira et al., 2018; Zimmermann et al., 2017). These effects of climate change will alter the types of the agrochemicals used, when in the year they are applied and the quantity required to treat crop infestation (Craufurd and Wheeler, 2009; Gericke et al., 2010; McCauley et al., 2018).

Higher temperatures also increase fertilizer breakdown, necessitating an increase in fertilizer application, including of manure and biosolids, and any associated emerging chemical pollutants with them (Di and Cameron, 2004). Decreased precipitation, particularly in summer, will necessitate the use of increased irrigation, potentially introducing further chemicals present in water sources (Gondim

et al., 2012; Kinney et al., 2006; Ternes et al., 2007; Woznicki et al., 2015). Increases in the use of treated wastewater for irrigation, in response to water scarcity issues resulting from climate change, will increase the loadings of chemical pollutants to agricultural soils (Carter et al., 2019). These changes will alter the timing and quantity of agrochemical applied and must be assessed alongside emission scenarios for emerging chemical pollutants, such as with veterinary medicines and pharmaceuticals that are not currently considered within ERAs (Brooks et al., 2013; EFSA et al., 2020). Consequently, there is a need to adapt existing methodologies to quantify the effects of shifting and novel chemical emissions.

#### 1.3.3 Fate & behaviour under climate change

The fate and behaviour of chemicals transported into freshwater is highly dependent on the physical properties of the landscape, meteorology and the properties of the chemical itself (Lorenz et al., 2017). The extent to which climate change will affect the quantity of chemicals in freshwater ecosystems is dependent on the pathway of introduction and transportation of the chemical from agricultural land to freshwaters. For example, transport of sprayed chemicals may be affected by changes to wind conditions under climate change. However current regulations restrict spray application under windy conditions and therefore future changes to wind patterns under climate change future changes to may alter the opportunities to apply chemicals rather than change the transport of chemicals that are applied (Arvidsson et al., 2011; Silva Maciel et al., 2018).

In contrast, chemical movement through soil and water is highly dependent on meteorology with precipitation being a major trigger for chemical movement and temperature affecting degradation processes (Biswas et al., 2018; Gagnon et al., 2016). For such modes of transportation, assessing how climate change will affect chemical movement is particularly important for assessing ecological risk. For example, wetter winters may lead to more frequent runoff and therefore increased exposure events while warmer temperatures could increase chemical degradation (Kallenborn et al., 2012; Valle et al., 2007). However, research into these pathways must account for spatial and seasonal effects of climate change and chemical application if a realistic understanding of risk is to be calculated. In particular there is need to develop a framework for quantifying by how much climate change may affect risk that can be applied both to current agrochemicals as well as being adaptable to new chemical discoveries and emerging chemical pollutants of potential risk to the environment. For example, chemical fate models used extensively in regulatory frameworks can be used for a range of chemicals and climate conditions by altering the environmentally relevant chemical properties and meteorological inputs.

#### 1.3.4 Freshwaters under climate change

Climate change may alter the physical properties of freshwater ecosystems in multiple ways. River water volume and flow will alter in line with precipitation, with the location specific increase or decrease depending on the season (Henriques et al., 2015; Planton, 2002). Furthermore, an increase in extreme weather events will results in more periods of both flooding and drought with associated short-term changes to volume and flow (Pall et al., 2011). For example, UK climate projections (Lowe et al., 2018; Met Office, 2019) have been used to provide higher resolution projections on how climate change may impact river flows and flood peaks (Kay et al., 2021). Whereas, in general, there is a predicted increase in 20-year return flood peaks with climate change, the changes are generally smaller in the south-east than in the north-west. With respect to flow, low- and mid-range flows are predicted to decrease, but high flows are generally predicted to increase, particularly during winter and in upland areas (Burt and Ferranti, 2012; Hannaford and Buys, 2012). Flow changes vary between catchments partly due to spatial variation in climate change but also because of variation in catchment characteristics that influence the response to climatic inputs, such as soil and riverbed substrate and river width depth and flow.

As climate change increases ambient air temperatures, the temperature of waterbodies also increases, although the exact relationship is dependent on both the physical characteristics of the river and of land and water management strategies. This trend is historical, with records indicating an increase in UK river water temperatures of 0.29°C per decade (Orr et al., 2010). As for future predictions, (Jackson et al., 2018), predicted that a 1 °C increase in summer maximum air temperature would result in between a 0.4 and 0.7 °C rise in maximum water temperature of UK rivers depending on location, with the most sensitive rivers to changing air temperatures being those in the north and north-west.

Multiple chemical properties, particularly degradation in the water column and sediment, affect chemical fate and exposure and will alter under increasing river temperatures (Cooney et al., 1985; Daam and Van den Brink, 2010; Warren et al., 2003). Consequently Szalinska et al. (2021) have incorporated these changes into in freshwater fate models alongside climate projections for a case study watershed. However, rising temperatures will have effects on both how susceptible organisms are to pollutants and their niche compatibility, both affected by their ability to withstand climatic changes (Bruder et al., 2017; Kidd et al., 2014). How those changes influence other organisms and therefore community interactions will then alter the sensitivity of the ecosystem over multiple scales. Full consideration of these interacting factors and how these may be quantified for integration within

an ERA framework is required to accurately assess whether ecosystems are at risk and if chemical use should be altered (Brooks et al., 2013; EFSA et al., 2020). The existing research on these is discussed below.

#### 1.3.5 Community under climate change & agrochemical sensitivity

#### Macroinvertebrate communities

Studies of the potential impact of drought on macroinvertebrate communities have either compared permanent and intermittent rivers (Stubbington et al 2009; Hill et al 2019; Majdi et al 2020) or used mesocosms (Aspin et al 2019). The riverbed and hyporheic zone provide a refuge for some river invertebrates and many species adapted to intermittent rivers have drought resistant life history stages. Habitat fragmentation, loss of connectivity and very low water levels may have major adverse effects on community structure and function. For example, reducing water depth to 1 cm decreased leaf decomposition by macroinvertebrate shredders by approximately 75% (Hill et al 2019).

Long-term monitoring datasets have been used to explore the impact of climate change on river macroinvertebrate communities. A 2.0-2.4 °C increase in water temperature observed over 25 years in Welsh upland rivers was associated with an average 21% decrease in macroinvertebrate abundance (Durance & Ormerod, 2007). However, relationships between increased water temperature and macroinvertebrate community change are not observed in all rivers studied, due to local confounding factors, including improving water quality, masking any temperature effect (Durance & Ormerod 2007, 2009; Floury et al 2013; Vaughan & Ormerod, 2014). Consequently, assessing the effects of climate change must be considered within the ongoing changes to adjacent agricultural practice and chemical regulation and use, and how changes in both climate change and chemical exposure contribute to shifts in macroinvertebrate communities through multiple, differing and potentially opposite mechanisms.

Freshwaters are subjected to multiple stressors, both natural and anthropogenic, and many changes are likely to have occurred within a catchment over several decades. There are relatively few field manipulations of water temperature and laboratory studies tend to focus on the responses of species rather than changes in communities (Leberfinger et al 2010; Briffa et al 2016). Field manipulations include studies that have adjusted the thermal regime of rivers either by heating river water (Hogg et al 1995) or by exploiting the warming of rivers caused by the discharge of heated water from power stations (Majdi et al 2020). These manipulation studies confirm that small changes in temperature (1.5-3.0 °C) can have significant impacts on the abundance and composition of river invertebrate communities. Indeed, within the UK long-term invertebrate monitoring has observed community

shifts, and temperature is known to be a factor influencing communities within the River Invertebrate Classification Tool (RICT) which projects the expected macroinvertebrate river communities based upon the characteristics of the river (Environment Agency et al., 2021; Wright, 1994). While RICT is primarily used for ecological water quality assessment, it also has been proposed for other uses including macroinvertebrate community prediction (Clarke et al., 2003; Wright et al., 1998), and could be integrated with other data, for example climate change temperature conditions.

#### Community level chemical sensitivity

Understanding the community level effects of climate change and agrochemical exposure is complicated by the extensive interactions between species within communities and the spatial and temporal variation in species composition (Morecroft et al., 2009; Woodward et al., 2010). It has been described previously (Section 1.3.4) that community composition and structure will alter under climate change conditions, and has already done so within the UK (Burgmer et al., 2007; Chiu et al., 2017; Durance and Ormerod, 2007). Each member of the community is a contributing factor to the sensitivity of the ecosystem, either through its response to a chemical stressor or any alteration to community interactions (Belanger et al., 2017). Because species vary in their sensitivity to chemicals (Section 1.2.3) any changes to community composition due to climate change will also affect how the entire ecosystem responds to chemical stress, although this may depend on how sensitive the most sensitive members are and the connectivity of that species within the community (Bruder et al., 2017; Craig et al., 2012). The relative sensitivity of species is known to be chemical specific (Cairns, 1986; Hoekstra et al., 1994) and with different species compositions it would be expected that the sensitivities of a community would be different for depending on chemical identity. Furthermore, it has been established that climate change will shift the community composition (Burgmer et al., 2007; Vaughan and Ormerod, 2012; Zettler et al., 2013). Given variation in species sensitivity depends on chemical identity, differing combinations of species within varying natural community compositions would be expected to exhibit variable chemical sensitivities. As climate change will shift macroinvertebrate community compositions and species identity affects sensitivity, climate change may also be expected to affect the sensitivity of macroinvertebrate assemblages by shifting community composition.

As described in Section 1.2.3, regulatory ERAs are based on standardised laboratory toxicity tests and occasionally mesocosm studies. ERAs generate a single sensitivity value quantified as a regulatory acceptable concentration (RAC) for all ecosystems and do not account for temporal or spatial variation in community composition and hence sensitivity (Brock et al., 2006; EFSA, 2013). Thus, the RAC is unrepresentative of the diversity of species present in natural communities and does not capture the 20

variation in chemical sensitivities between species. RACs in current ERAs are derived from a set group of unchanging laboratory test species or mesocosms performed in ambient temperatures. Consequently, how climate change affects community composition and how this will affect risk cannot be assessed using the data available as part of existing ERAs alone.

The major challenge in accounting for changes in species composition when assessing the chemical sensitivity of communities is the lack of toxicity data for most species in the communities of interest. If the sensitivity of untested species could be predicted then existing techniques for assessing the sensitivity of species assemblages, such as species sensitivity distributions, can be applied to generate a sensitivity value of a specific species assemblage and chemical combination (Aldenberg and Jaworska, 2000; Newman et al., 2000). One solution to this is to employ species sensitivity extrapolation methods, which can be used to predict the sensitivity of untested species to specific chemicals. By combining with existing toxicity data, such methods can extrapolate across to untested species; however a range of methods exist including those based on traits, relatedness and genomics, each with their own data demand (van den Berg et al., 2021).

Genomics based methods can compare the genetic basis of biochemical pathways and enzymes of species using the molecular target site of chemical toxicity through adverse outcome pathways and therefore represent the most accurate method of extrapolation (Ankley et al., 2010; LaLone et al., 2013). However, genomics-based methods require the adverse outcome pathway to be fully understood and the sequenced genome of each species, and thus have a large data requirement meaning these methods are more suitable for the smaller number of species higher up food chains (e.g. fish, mammals, birds), rather than diverse groupings such as macroinvertebrates (Farmahin et al., 2012; Fedorenkova et al., 2010). Trait based methods have a lower data requirement that only requires major traits of the untested species be known (e.g. body size, diet, location within freshwater) and has been applied to pre-defined communities (Van den Berg et al., 2019). While the coverage of trait databases is building, they have incomplete coverage of macroinvertebrate species. Most notably they are dominated by Copeopod and Cladoceran taxa (87.0%, or 341 of 392 macroinvertebrate species in Hébert et al., 2016; Usseglio-Polatera et al., 2000) leaving many taxonomic groups, especially outside Crustacea, poorly represented. In contrast, UK freshwater invertebrate species are extensively sampled and identified with complete taxonomic structure (Wright et al., 1996). This leads to relatedness-based methods being the most broadly applicable currently to macroinvertebrate communities of the UK (noting the advantages that currently undeveloped methods combining traits and relatedness may offer), and could be adapted for use with current, historic and projected macroinvertebrate assemblages.

#### 1.3.6 Multi-stressor effects on organisms

Warming is one of the main predicted impacts of climate change and both increased temperature and chemical exposure may result in adverse effects on organisms (Noyes and Lema, 2015). Higher temperatures reduce the oxygen content of water and hence increase ventilation rates of aquatic organisms, which in turn may increase the uptake and movement of the chemical into the organism, potentially worsening toxic effects (Op de Beeck et al., 2017; Pereira et al., 2019). However, increased temperatures also increase the degradation of chemicals and the metabolic rates of poikilotherms, potentially increasing the depuration of absorbed toxicants thereby reducing risk (de Beeck et al., 2017; Norhave et al., 2014; Pereira et al., 2019). The effect of changing temperature on organism chemical sensitivity represents the most extensively studied direct effect of climate change on organism sensitivity. However, multi-stressor effects at the organism level are complex with the effects of temperature on an organism and its internal metabolic processes varying between species and chemicals (Nieto et al., 2016; Rathore and Khangarot, 2002; Willming et al., 2013). However, organism status is an important factor, and multigenerational effects of evolution and long-term acclimation and adaptation of organisms exposed to multiple stressors are observed (Contador et al., 2014; Macaulay et al., 2021; Tran et al., 2019). Consequently, understanding how temperature and chemical sensitivity changes for the diversity of species present in natural ecosystems is a challenge and requires investigation from the population scale to molecular pathways (Knillmann et al., 2013).

Most multi-stressor studies have investigated sudden short-term temperature changes (de Beeck et al., 2017; Malaj et al., 2016; Op de Beeck et al., 2018). Such findings from temperature shock experiments may provide insight into the combined effect of chemical exposure and heat waves, but it is less certain how the findings from these studies relate to the combined effects of chemical exposure and warming events that occur over the lifetime of multiple generations of a species Long-term effects of climate change, such as shifts in mean annual river temperature, occur gradually over decades (Watts et al., 2015). This timeframe will span multiple generations of macroinvertebrates providing an opportunity for species to acclimate or adapt to the changing conditions. While a few studies have investigated the effect of short-term acclimation and toxic effects over multiple generations (Bae et al., 2016; Silva et al., 2020), there is a major knowledge gap over the effect of gradual temperature acclimation of multiple generations on chemical sensitivity.

#### 1. Aim and objectives

The aim of this thesis is to explore the implications of climate change for the exposure and sensitivity of freshwater ecosystems to agrochemicals, focusing on the pathways shown in Figure 1.2. This aim is addressed by considering different aspects of the environmental risk assessment (ERA) under climate change conditions before contextualising with chemical case studies in chapter 5.



Figure 1.2 Aspects from the environmental risk assessment for chemicals considered within this thesis upon which climate change can interact to affect risk

Chapter 2 addresses how climate change interacts with chemical flux from agricultural land to freshwater and utilises UKCP18 data from the UK Met Office and the PRZM fate modelling program to quantify flux into freshwaters. The chapter considers the application of 24 pesticides and pharmaceuticals to six locations across each of the climate groups within England & Wales and its main objectives are:

- Establish how temperature and precipitation (meteorology expected to alter under climate change) will affect chemical flux via soil for hypothetical chemicals with varying persistence in soil
- To what extent are the relationships established in the previous objective relevant to actual climate conditions, chemical properties and sites under baseline and future climate change
- Assess how the season of application for a chemical affects chemical flux under climate change conditions given the different degradation rates of chemicals
- Quantify the effect of climate change on chemical flux via soil for agrochemicals applied under realistic timings

Chapter 3 addresses assemblage sensitivity utilising the RICT model and reference data set with the hSSD model to predict toxicity values for species without toxicity data for both baseline and future communities. The associated objectives are:

- Run the hSSD model for the collated toxicity datasets and evaluate the ability of the hSSD model to accurately predict sensitivity of taxa
- Assess to what extent the sensitivity between assemblages varies and the variation in sensitivity patterned across chemicals with different toxic modes of action
- Assess whether the sensitivity of an assemblage relates to the physical landscape characteristics of where that freshwater body where the assemblage is located
- To quantify how the shifting of community composition under climate change alters the assemblage sensitivity

Chapter 4 considers gradual changes to organism sensitivity under climate change by a case study of how the growth and reproduction of *Daphnia* gradually acclimatised to different temperatures is affected by copper exposure. The laboratory experiment aims to reflect the gradual changes expected from climate change rather than the short period of acclimatisation and temperature shock common to most toxicity studies. The associated objectives are:

- Determine to what extent does temperature acclimation affect organism reproductive parameters and reproductive strategy of organisms, and are the same patterns observed following temperature shock
- Calculate endpoints for reproductive parameters for organisms experiencing rises in temperature, and does acclimation mitigate the multi-stressor effect
- Evaluate whether the magnitude of thermal shock affects the relationship of the multiple-stressor effects on reproduction

Chapter 5 sets to draw a broad conclusion over the effect of climate change on agrochemical risk by considering case study ERAs accounting for the implications from the previous chapters as well as integrating the previous finding into a general framework of how climate change could be considered within an ERA. It does so by considering three case study chemicals: glyphosate, a chemical investigated in Chapters 2 and 3; copper which was investigated in Chapter 3 and 4, and a theoretical new chemical to show how the framework can be adapted beyond the agrochemicals used within this thesis.

# **CHAPTER 2**

Impacts of weather and chemical persistence on freshwater flux through soil under climate change conditions

## Chapter 2. Impacts of weather and chemical persistence on freshwater flux through soil under climate change conditions

#### 2.1. Introduction

#### 2.1.1. Meteorology, climate change and chemical fate

When considering the fate and behaviour of chemicals applied to agricultural land, localised weather represents a major factor affecting movement, and in particular, precipitation represents the largest determinant of transport as it triggers and directly moves chemicals through the soil matrix (Hutson, 1993; Lewan et al., 2009; Nolan et al., 2008). When considering the exposure of surface waters, the major routes of transport are via spray drift and through soil, with soil based transport tending to be the predominant route (Bach et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2018). Spray drift is highly wind dependent, and relatively unaffected by other meteorological conditions, and as such agrochemical application is frequently limited if local wind speeds are too high (Arvidsson et al., 2011; Gil et al., 2015; Silva Maciel et al., 2018).

In contrast, transport of chemicals through the soil matrix into freshwaters is driven by water and is highly affected by multiple meteorological conditions. Temperature, humidity and wind speed affect evapotranspiration and therefore soil moisture content, while precipitation introduces water (and any agrochemical solute) to the soil saturating it. Precipitation is highly important to chemical fate as it causes water flow in saturated soil triggering runoff of the chemical dissolved in the solvent or in erosion of soil particles that the chemical has bound to (Bach et al., 2016; Winton and Weber, 1996). In addition to the precipitation events, other meteorological factors impacting chemical fate are ambient air temperature, which affects chemical degradation (Matthies and Beulke, 2017; Valle et al., 2007), and the water content of the soil, which influences the amount of precipitation required to cause water flow (Lewan et al., 2009).

While an increase in temperature retention by greenhouse gasses is the ultimate cause of climate change, complex alterations in atmospheric movements and the water cycle will result in climate change affecting multiple meteorological factors beyond temperature, including precipitation and wind movements (Lowe et al., 2018; Stocker, 2014). Changes in temperature, precipitation and wind movements, in turn affect humidity, evaporation rates and solar flux via feedback networks (Bony et al., 2006; Cess, 1976). Many of the meteorological factors that will alter under climate change are also important for determining chemical fate (Table 2.1). From this, climate change will potentially alter flux into freshwater, posing a potential for both an increase and decrease in edge of field flux. Consequently, there is a need to evaluate the combined impact of all these factors which could affect chemical fate to fully assess the effect of climate change on chemical exposure.

Table 2. 1 Summary of chemical fate affecting factors of the agricultural land and its associated meteorology. How such factors may be affected by climate change conditions is described and the likely effect of how climate change may affect the quantity of chemical flux reaching freshwater ecosystems predicted. Note that effects are simply increases (+) or decreases (-) and do not indicate the expected magnitude of change.

Factor	Fate process affected	Effect of climate change	Climate change process	Effect on chemical exposure	References
Climate – temperature	Degradation	+	Higher temperatures increase the kinetic energy of chemical reactions, including degradation reducing the quantity of chemical in the soil system to be transported	-	Biswas et al., 2018; Cáceres et al., 2008; Cavoski et al., 2008; Delnat et al., 2021; Ficklin et al., 2010; Kookana et al., 2010; Matthies and Beulke, 2017; Noyes et al., 2009; Valle et al., 2007
Climate – winter precipitation	Runoff, erosion	+	Increased winter precipitation directly increases the amount of water in the soil compartment increasing soil saturation and the volume of precipitation required to trigger runoff and erosion events	+	Bloomfield et al., 2006; Dunn et al., 2012; Ficklin et al., 2010; Oliver et al., 2012
Climate & extreme weather – summer meteorology & drought	Runoff, erosion	+	Decreased summer precipitation, increased temperatures and increased solar flux from reduced cloud cover, reducing the amount of water in the soil compartment by direct input and evaporation meaning greater precipitation is required for saturation and triggering of flow	-	García-Prieto et al., 2012; Hrdinka et al., 2012; Miralles et al., 2012; Mosley, 2015; Whitehead et al., 2009
Extreme weather – precipitation	Runoff, erosion	+	More frequent and larger water surges through the soil compartment, particularly during summer from convection, trigger large runoff and erosion events	+	Enanga et al., 2016; Hrdinka et al., 2012; Hudak and Banks, 2006; Mayes et al., 2021; Whitehead et al., 2009

Soil – fissurisation	Runoff, erosion	+	Warmer temperatures increase occurrence and length of soil fissures permitting more flowthrough	+	Correa et al., 2019
Crop – drilling	Interception	Later	Warmer temperatures permit the drilling of crops later resulting in less crop interception	+	Craufurd and Wheeler, 2009; Pawel Marcinkowski
Crop – maturation	Interception	Earlier	Higher temperatures mature crops faster, covering more soil and increasing interception	-	and Piniewski, 2018; Olesen et al., 2012;
Crop – harvest	Interception	Earlier	Earlier harvesting results in longer period of exposed soil	+	Zimmermann et al., 2017
Irrigation	Application rate, runoff, erosion	+	Reduced summer precipitation and increased drought rates may necessitate use of irrigation. This may also introduce chemicals from treated water to freshwater	+	Gondim et al., 2012; Woznicki et al., 2015

In addition to the varied effects of climate change on flux into freshwaters, both existing climates and the effects of climate change exhibit spatial and temporal variation on global (Ruosteenoja et al., 2003) and local scales (Kendon et al., 2020; Lowe et al., 2018). This results in climate change altering both the general climate of the area as well as an increase in the frequency of extreme weather events, including extreme rainfall and storm events (Hirabayashi et al., 2008; Min et al., 2011; Ohba and Sugimoto, 2019) and of periods of drought and heatwaves (Hirabayashi et al., 2008; Stott, 2016). Consequently, any consideration of the risk posed by agrochemicals and how this will alter under climate change conditions must consider the local effects of meteorology.

While climate change can affect the transport of agrochemicals through soil directly by changing meteorological parameters (Berg et al., 2017; van der Putten et al., 2016), the behaviour of agrochemicals themselves and how they interact with the soil matrix under climate change conditions must also be considered (Steffens et al., 2015; Szalinska et al., 2021; Valle et al., 2007). This is because the combination of chemical properties, climate and soil determine fate. Climate change effects depend on specific soil and agrochemical properties resulting in variation in fate within and between agrochemicals in response to climate change (Kookana et al., 2010; Lammoglia et al., 2018). A summary of the expected results of climate change on soil and chemical properties is presented in Table 2.2. Given that effects of chemical properties on flux are not independent of chemical type and interact with meteorology, there may also be an interaction between effects of climate change and chemical properties. Consequently, considering how climate change will affect chemical flux with chemical properties will require isolating specific properties of interest that are most impactful.

Degradation of the chemical, by microbial activity, hydrolysis, photolysis or spontaneous breakdown within the soil matrix represents the largest ultimate fate of agrochemicals (Jackson, 2004; Xuan et al., 2008). Thus, the DT<sub>50</sub> (reported as degradation rate in days for the chemical to reach half of its initial mass in soil at 20°C in standard laboratory studies) of a chemical is a major factor for influencing flux. However, degradation reaction rate is temperature dependent and therefore likely to increase under climate change (Cáceres et al., 2008). As both the chemical's DT<sub>50</sub> value and the environmental temperature represent how persistent the chemical will be in the soil matrix, the increased temperatures from climate change may increase degradation rate, reducing the quantity of chemical present leading to decreased chemical flux (Cavoski et al., 2008; Matthies and Beulke, 2017).

In contrast, precipitation-induced chemical transport is affected by multiple chemical properties. Highly soluble, low molecular weight chemicals are more easily moved by water flow. In contrast, chemicals that bind strongly to organic matter (high  $k_{OC}$ ) will therefore bind more strongly to organic matter in soil reducing movement by runoff. Any erosion and movement of the soil itself can transport large quantities of such high  $k_{OC}$  chemicals. Although several environmental, soil and meteorological factors affect chemical fate, chemical flux into freshwaters is driven by two factors: the persistence of the chemical in the soil matrix (a function of chemical degradation rate and temperature) and the occurrence of extreme precipitation events (Nolan et al., 2008; Steffens et al., 2015; Webster et al., 2004).

Property		Expected effect on exposure		References
		Increased temperature	Increased precipitation	
Chemical properties	DT <sub>50</sub>	Decrease, due to faster degradation	Predominantly unaffected	Cáceres et al., 2008; Cavoski et al., 2008; Kookana et al., 2010; Ma et al., 2004; Matthies and Beulke, 2017; Noyes et al., 2009; Valle et al., 2007; Wolt et al., 2002
	k <sub>oc</sub>	Increase, due to decreased binding to soil enabling increased mobility	Increase, more flushing of chemicals bound to carbon	Farenhorst et al., 2009; Oliver et al., 2012; Paasivirta et al., 1999; Wolt et al., 2002
	Molecular weight	Predominantly unaffected	Increase, more flushing of low-mobility heavy chemicals	Mangas et al., 1998
	Solubility	Increase, greater concentration can be dissolved	Increase, more fluid to dissolve into	Paasivirta et al., 1999; Wolt et al., 2002
Soil properties	Bulk density	Increase in due to drying and compaction, reduces water holding capacity of the soil	Increase, saturated ground triggers runoff more rapidly	Correa et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2004; Wolt et al., 2002
	Organic carbon percent	Increase, due to decreased chemical binding soil enabling increased mobility	Predominantly unaffected	Cáceres et al., 2008; Conant et al., 2011; Farenhorst et al., 2009

Table 2.2 Comparison of major environmental flux relevant chemical and soil properties, and how they may alter chemical flux under the meteorological changes to temperature and precipitation

#### 2.1.2. Agrochemical fate and freshwaters in the UK

Agrochemicals are a vital component of food production and farming systems within the UK, but the transport of such agrochemicals beyond the field can have adverse effects on biodiversity, with freshwaters adjacent to agricultural land representing an ecosystem often exposed and shaped by

agrochemical pollution (Lorenz et al., 2017; Malaj et al., 2014; Nordborg et al., 2017). When considering chemical transport through soil, adjacent freshwaters represent high risk ecosystems subject to pollutant exposure with chemical flux causing toxic effects to freshwater species (Berger et al., 2017; Ceschin et al., 2021; Reid et al., 2019).

Agrochemicals fall into a series of broad groups relating to their use. For example, pesticides represent a broad collection of chemicals including both organic compounds and metals and are grouped by their target organism e.g. fungicides, insecticides, herbicides, while pharmaceuticals see input in manure, irrigation water and biosolid fertiliser following their use in livestock and humans (Fijalkowski et al., 2017; Pollard and Morra, 2018; Wu et al., 2010). Given these differing uses, the time of the year when application to agricultural land occurs will vary depending on the chemical. The timing of chemical application is important as the UK exhibits seasonal climates with precipitation and particularly temperature varying throughout the year. Consequently, the timing of applications will match that of the crop and pest phenology (Bajwa et al., 2020; Rhodes and McCarl, 2020a).

For example, in the UK, rising temperatures and changes to precipitation and humidity will increase crop susceptibility and spread of fungal infections in spring and summer (Lasram et al., 2010; West et al., 2012a), and favour the growth of weed plants necessitating earlier herbicide application. For insects, the population and range of agricultural insect pests has increased with pest outbreaks occurring earlier in the year (Kattwinkel et al., 2011; Ladányi and Horváth, 2010). However, climate change has also increased the numbers of specific insect natural predators and parasitoids (Thomson et al., 2010). These changes have been associated with both increases and decreases to insecticide use depending on the type and location of crop grown. Equally, the shifting in crop phenology will mean application of pre-drilling insecticides will move to match later crop drilling while herbicide desiccants are being applied earlier matching the shift to earlier summer harvesting times (Craufurd and Wheeler, 2009; Gericke et al., 2010; Olesen et al., 2012).

More recent understanding of emerging chemical pollutants and chemical fate pathways have also highlighted the risk posed by pharmaceuticals entering agricultural systems via livestock manure or biosolids as fertiliser or water used for irrigation (Michael et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2010). Fertilizers are applied in autumn and spring prior to crop emergence and during major growth phases (Liu et al., 2015; Sarmah et al., 2006), while irrigation will occur during periods of drought, the frequency of which is set to increase under climate change (Gondim et al., 2012; Woznicki et al., 2015). While climate change will have impacts on the timings and application of agrochemicals, there is also a need to understand how the effects of climate change will affect the transport of such chemicals into

32

freshwaters if full consideration of the change to risk climate change poses to ecosystems is accounted for and mitigated.

In addition to climate varying throughout the year, there are also spatial differences in the climate across the UK. Broadly the UK climate is associated with a North-South temperature gradient and an East-West precipitation gradient with higher temperatures occurring further south and greater precipitation in the West (Kendon et al., 2020). Furthermore, there are coastal-inland differences, with coastal areas having their temperatures buffered by the sea resulting in a decreased range of temperatures compared to inland areas. Another spatially varying aspect that can affect chemical fate is the soil and landscape properties: for example, the extent and slope of a field can increase water and soil movement (Morselli et al., 2018). Across the UK there are a wide range of soil types each exhibiting different structures and compositions across their component horizons, with a comprehensive dataset available for the UK as LandIS: The Soils Guide (Cranfield University, 2021). Loamy soils tend to have higher organic carbon content leading to different flux patterns particularly for chemicals with high k<sub>oc</sub> (Farenhorst et al., 2009). Broadly both sandy and loamy soils tend to permit water flow while clay soils restrict flow. In addition, clay based soils in the UK are commonly drained leading to an additional route of exposure for freshwater ecosystems (Bach et al., 2017; EFSA, 2013a).

How some soil properties that may alter flux under climate change are shown in Table 2.2. Given the large number of landscape, cropping and soil parameters, and how they interact with multiple chemical properties, on top of assessing spatial effects of climate and climate change, the impacts of spatial variation on flux are varied and complex. Thus there is need to isolate factors for consideration by keeping others constant with the ultimate goal of developing scenarios for encompassing the range of risks that spatial variation covers (Blenkinsop et al., 2008; Vernier et al., 2017).

The risk posed by pesticides to freshwater ecosystems is highly regulated within the UK and is assessed within an environmental risk assessment framework (EFSA, 2013a). For pesticides, existing regulation focuses on predicting probabilistic chemical flux based upon models integrating meteorological conditions, chemical properties, and soil and landscape characteristics that have been standardised into generic scenarios. The climatic condition from multiple years is used for several example locations that capture reasonable representative scenarios. Given standardised climatic scenarios are used when calculating fate ERAs and the effect that changing meteorology has on flux, the effect of climate change could drastically alter the quantity of chemical flux and ultimately freshwater chemical exposure. Currently, consideration of how climate change can affect flux has predominantly focused on case study areas that may not be representative of the risk posed under climate change conditions,

although there is increasing acknowledgement of the issue beyond academic and research sectors (Biswas et al., 2018; EFSA et al., 2020; Ma et al., 2016; Valle et al., 2007).

In contrast to pesticides, other chemical groups such as pharmaceuticals, do not have the same regulation and environmental risk assessment performed. Furthermore, where there is consideration of agriculturally relevant pharmaceuticals, this generally focuses on the adjacent topic of human health and anti-microbial resistance rather than ecotoxicity (Boxall et al., 2003; Wolstenholme et al., 2004). Consequently, the ecotoxicological risk posed by pharmaceuticals is largely unconsidered and associated with uncertainty, although increasing research on the effects of climate change and pharmaceuticals is being performed (Balbus et al., 2012; Boxall et al., 2009). Therefore, there is a need to develop a methodology that considers the risk for pharmaceuticals and other emerging chemical pollutants in addition to pesticide risk.

#### 2.1.3. Aim and objectives

The aim of this chapter is to consider the effect of climate change on agrochemical fate to UK freshwaters. While multiple meteorological conditions affect chemical fate, two are notable for being the largest contributors to change in fate: precipitation as the trigger of chemical movement and temperature as a major factor of degradation rate (Biswas et al., 2018; Elrashidi et al., 2013). This is because both have extensive effects on chemical flux and are expected to change extensively and spatio-temporally under climate change conditions (Bloomfield et al., 2006; Hawkins and Sutton, 2011). For example, across England, year-round average temperatures are expected to rise by 3.51 °C with temperature extremes increasing by 4.73 °C representing a 24% and 45% increase respectively (Met Office, 2019). Equally for precipitation, maximum precipitation is set to increase by 6.27mm (22% increase), while overall mean precipitation and the number of precipitation days exhibit much less change (1.6% and 1.0% decrease respectively). However, this does not reflect the spatial and seasonal differences under climate change which also affect flux. Ultimately, any consideration of the effect of climate change on chemical flux must be both relevant to and suitable for existing pesticide ERAs while being adaptable and generic enough to consider the risk for pharmaceuticals and other emerging chemical pollutants.

Assessing the effect of climate change on chemical fate can be split into two broad topics of interest: firstly, how the seasonal effects of predicted climate change, particularly precipitation, will alter chemical fate and secondly, what is the relationship between the spatial differences expected under climate change and varying properties of agrochemicals. Therefore, the following objectives and specific research questions have been explored:

- Establish the relationship between how meteorological parameters that will alter under climate change (temperature and precipitation) will affect flux for a series of hypothetical chemicals with varying persistence in soil
  - Does the relationship between precipitation and flux deviate from a 1:1 relationship?
  - Does the degradation of chemical over time mean that increasing the delay to large precipitation events (and therefore time for degradation to occur) reduce flux?
  - Is the temperature-degradation rate relationship non-linear and variable among chemicals?
- 2. Establish if the predicted relationships investigated above hold for actual and climatically divergent agricultural sites under both baseline and future climate conditions
  - Does the amount of precipitation that triggers major chemical flux events increase as DT<sub>50</sub> increases, and to what extent is there climatic spatial variation?
  - Does the delay to the precipitation that triggers major chemical flux events increase as DT<sub>50</sub> increases, and to what extent is there climatic spatial variation?
  - Given the results of the two above, does the amount of chemical flux from major events increase as DT<sub>50</sub> increases, and to what extent is there climatic spatial variation?
  - Does the quantity of chemical flux in extreme chemical flux events increase under climate change, and does this vary spatially?
  - Does the degradation rate-flux relationship change under climate change conditions and to what extent is there climatic spatial variation?
- Consider to what extent does the season of application affect the change in chemical flux under climate change conditions, and how does this vary spatially, and by the persistence of the chemical in soil.
  - Are there variable differences between the change in chemical flux over degradation rate between sites and additionally from differing seasons of application within a site?

- Given the effect of higher DT<sub>50</sub> values on the delay and size of precipitation event, does the variation of chemical flux between seasons decrease with increasing DT<sub>50</sub>?
- Does the season of application, and the meteorological events linked to season, affect the relationship between change in chemical flux and the delay to or precipitation amount in the event that triggered it? How does this relationship vary depending on chemical degradation rate?
- Quantify the effect of climate change on flux via soil with actual agrochemicals with realistic application timings, and is the change in flux patterned by chemical persistence across different sites

#### Approach to answer research questions

A core requirement to address the research questions is a method to quantify chemical fate from agricultural soil compartments to freshwater. When considering methods for calculating chemical transport into freshwater via runoff and erosion several models have been developed (Jarvis et al., 1997; US EPA, 2016a). Since their initial development in the 1980s, chemical fate models for soil transport have been validated by field trials and have been refined to improve their fate predictions (Bach et al., 2016; Carsel et al., 1985; EFSA, 2006). The predicted chemical exposures from these models have been and continue to be used within ERAs to assess chemical flux to freshwaters via soil and to approve chemicals for use. One such model, PRZM (Pesticide Root Zone Model) calculates edge of field exposure for chemicals transported via runoff and erosion and predicts all the necessary information to address the research questions of this chapter.

PRZM was first developed in 1984 to calculate chemical fate from agricultural land to freshwater (Carsel et al., 1985; Wagenet and Rao, 1990). However, the applicability of the model led to the adoption of PRZM within regulatory environments (EFSA, 2006; US EPA, 2020). A diagram of the inputs and process of PRZM is presented in Figure 2.1. The PRZM model calculates chemical input, transport within the soil matrix and eventual exit from the system by degradation, to freshwater or to groundwater. PRZM calculates input into freshwater from both erosion and runoff and does so daily. In addition, it provides the option to export and water flow and chemical quantity remaining within the modelled compartments (soil at cm divided depths, surface and on crops) to track chemical movement and status.

Importantly, PRZM can accept custom daily climate data, enabling climate change projections to be read into the model and their effects predicted. Because the climate data can be taken at the daily
level, extreme localised rainstorm and heat-wave events can be represented in the model that would not be captured with coarser timescales. Other timed events can also be simulated, particularly crop phenology, dates of chemical applications and irrigation. For chemicals, PRZM incorporates degradation rate as half-life (DT<sub>50</sub>) for multiple contexts including within soil, as utilised in this study, in addition to foliar, water column, photolysis and aquatic sediment. Furthermore, the range of environmentally relevant properties used by PRZM to calculate chemical fate includes the molecular mass, solubility in water, Henry's coefficient and organic carbon partitioning coefficient of the chemical.



Figure 2.1 Diagram of chemical transport including movement through the soil matrix modelled by the Pesticide Root Zone Model (PRZM)

# 2.2. Methodology

# 2.2.1. Overview

To address the research questions, three stages of investigation were necessary. First, changes in chemical flux under different meteorological conditions and interactions between chemical degradation and persistence in soil were established. Hypothetical climate data and hypothetical chemicals were used to establish relationships between:

- 1. Size of precipitation on edge of field chemical flux
- 2. Delay to precipitation event and persistence in soil (as a function of soil degradation rate) on edge of field chemical flux
- 3. Air temperature and soil degradation rate on chemical persistence in soil

Secondly, climate change projections were used to evaluate whether the patterns investigated in the first objective hold for actual chemical, climatic and landscape data. This was investigated using scenarios with actual chemical properties applied to spatially variable climates in England and Wales with comparisons between sites, and baseline (1980-2000) and future end of century (2060-2080) conditions.

Third, the importance of seasonality in the effects of climate change and local meteorology were investigated. Given that meteorology affects chemical transport, chemical flux would be expected to vary depending on when in the year a chemical was applied. As site, season of application and chemical degradation rate were all considered, complex interactions were expected, so analysis focused on the relationship between season of application and chemical degradation rate.

Finally, the results from the third objective were contextualised by being combined with the actual application time of the various agrochemicals to quantify how climate change will increase or decrease in percentage the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile edge of field chemical flux under future conditions compared to baseline climates.

# 2.2.2. Data collection and processing

PRZM requires a suite of data from across geographic, agronomic and chemical studies (Table 2.3). Each of the major data groups is associated with their own set of references depending on the type and ubiquity of data. The collection process and justification for each group is described in further detail below.

Table 2.3 Data collected and used to run PRZM as part of chemical exposure modelling

Data group	Parameters	Reference
Meteorology	Temperature (mean, minimum, maximum), Precipitation, Solar radiation, Wind speed at 10m, Pan-evapotranspiration	Met Office, 2019,
Soil	Soil layers, density, Saturation (minimum, maximum), Organic carbon content, Soil erodibility	Cranfield University, 2021; Hallett et al., 2017
Landscape	Slope, Field runoff, Field area, Slope length-gradient, Farming practice (slope, contour or strip)	EFSA, 2013; Mullins et al., 1993
Crop	Crop type, Date of: emergence, maturation, and harvest; Root depth, Canopy cover, height, and holdup; Interception factor, Area of field cropped, Tillage method	Craufurd and Wheeler, 2009; EFSA, 2013; Olesen et al., 2012
Chemical	$K_{OC}$ , $DT_{50}$ in: water column, benthic, aqueous photolysis, hydrolysis, in soil, and on foliage; Molecular weight, Vapour pressure, Solubility, Henry's constant, Date(s) of application, Quantity of application	EFSA, 2013; University of Hertfordshire, 2007a, 2007b

# Chemical data

Chemicals were selected to provide a range of soil  $DT_{50}$ , molecular mass, organic carbon partition coefficient ( $k_{oc}$ ) and solubility values representative of agrochemical pollutants. Chemicals selected were primarily across two classes: pesticides and pharmaceuticals, with preference given to the most commonly applied chemicals. This was to both represent multiple groups of agrochemical pollutants and to ensure full coverage of the chemical property space. For example, pharmaceuticals had halflives in soil of up to an order of magnitude less than pesticides (Figure 2.2).

Chemical properties were collected from three sources: EFSA reports on the chemical, papers investigating the environmental properties of the chemical, and the Pesticide/Veterinary Properties Database (University of Hertfordshire, 2007a, 2007b). Only chemicals that had the full suite of environmental properties to run PRZM and that expanded the chemical space were selected. Twenty-four chemicals were selected (14 pesticides and 10 pharmaceuticals) and full chemical properties are presented in Table A2.1.



Type 🔶 Pesticide 🔺 Pharmaceutical

Figure 2.2 Comparison of the soil degradation rates ( $DT_{50}$ ) in days for the 24 chemicals over a log base 10 scale *Climate data* 

United Kingdom Climate Projections simulated by the UK Met Office in 2018 (UKCP18) were used in this study (Met Office, 2019). Met Office projections represent the most extensive set of localised climate projections for England and Wales and are based on historic climate measurements collected from weather stations since the 1940s. UKCP18 projections, which utilise probabilistic projections and convection-permitting meteorology, run from 1980-2080 and have a resolution of 5 km (Met Office Hadley Centre, 2017; Met Office UKCP, 2018). High resolution climate projections capture high impact events that would be averaged at larger resolutions, such as localised heavy rainfall, making them particularly relevant to chemical transport. However, these high-resolution projections have some limitations: probabilistic limits are not available and they were only projected for the RCP 8.5 climate scenario and therefore the most extreme outcome. While probabilistic projections would be preferable for assessing the variation of climate change impacts, data were only available at the coarser 12km scale, therefore missing localised extreme rainfall events, and did not include two variables essential for running PRZM: surface wind speed and net long wave flux.

To accurately run PRZM the meteorology file must represent the range of meteorological events projected under climate change. However, it must also avoid taking the results from a single extreme or outlying year unrepresentative of future climate conditions. Consequently, baseline and future climate scenarios were created from 20-year time steps from the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile value taken from the central unperturbed version of the ensemble of projections the Met Office produced for these data. Daily data was subsetted from 1980-2000 for the baseline scenario and 2060-2080 for the future scenario.

#### Site data

Sites were selected according to the UK climate districts as defined by the UK Met Office (Figure 2.3). In total, six sites were selected, one from each of the districts across England and Wales. The UK climate districts are represented in Figure 2.3 and fall across a north-south temperature gradient and the east-west precipitation gradient with cooler temperatures associated with northerly sites and reduced precipitation at easterly sites. The location in each climate district was selected to ensure that they are representative of both the climate district as a whole and the meteorological gradients of the England and Wales while ensuring that the selected sites were not too geographically close to one another.



Figure 2.3 UK climate districts as defined by the UK (image adapted from Met Office, 2021) compared to the six sites selected for investigation in this study

#### 2.2.3. PRZM setup and running

The US EPA fate modelling suite PWC (Pesticide Water Calculator, version 2.001) contains the latest version of PRZM (version 5.0+) within the program and was run for PRZM outputs only. When saving the PRZM outputs, the following calculated values were included in the output (in zts format): runoff volume, erosion volume, mass of chemical in runoff, mass of chemical in erosion, daily volatilisation of the chemical, leaching into groundwater, decay in soil profile, chemical mass remaining in soil profile and the chemical mass on foliage. The zts formatted files were then converted to csv format within R.

To address the meteorology-degradation relationships, PRZM was run using the hypothetical chemical, an azoxystrobin clone with customised soil degradation values of 0.5, 2.5, 12.5, 62.5, 312.5 days and a hypothetical weather file altered to investigate each weather parameter of interest on the standard site, with no crop modelled to avoid the crop dynamics being an additional factor affecting the relationship. For investigating the precipitation-flux relationship, precipitation amounts of 1, 2, 4, 8, 16 and 32mm occurred 4 days after chemical application and the total amount of edge of field chemical flux totalled. The delay-degradation-flux relationship was measured by running the hypothetical chemical suite for meteorology files with a single precipitation event of 10 mm occurring at 1, 4, 9, 23, 58, 144 or 360 days after each hypothetical chemical was applied. The temperature-degradation relationship was investigated by measuring the amount of chemical degraded by the day after each hypothetical chemical chemical application under different meteorology files with no precipitation and different temperatures of 0 to 40 °C in 5 °C steps.

To assess the effects of climate change on chemical fate, PRZM was then run for the 24 chemicals across each of the 6 sites and for 4 different application times of spring, summer, autumn and winter (on the 1<sup>st</sup> of April, July, October and January respectively). Edge of field chemical flux was totalled from calculated chemical flux from both erosion and runoff. From these files, the effects of chemical degradation rate, site specific meteorology and seasonality could be assessed depending on how the PRZM outputs were processed and analysed.

### 2.2.4. Analysing PRZM outputs

#### Weather conditions and chemical fate considering degradation

All statistical analysis were performed within R with processing and visualisation supported by the tidyverse package(Wickham et al., 2019). To address the first objective, meteorology-degradation relationships with the hypothetical chemicals and set weather files were plotted and analysed. As it is necessary to isolate the effects of degradation on flux under differing meteorological conditions, a

series of hypothetical chemicals were established where all the chemical parameters were kept constant while the DT<sub>50</sub> value was altered. This was done because all other chemical properties did not affect the degradation of the hypothetical chemical and therefore were not necessary to investigate the hypothesis. While the values of chemical properties kept constant were unimportant, they are required to run PRZM. As the identity of these values was not important, all non-degradation chemical properties were cloned from those of azoxystrobin as it was the first chemical alphabetically.

The relationships were fitted based upon the expected interactions among chemical fate and meteorology or chemical properties from the literature (EFSA, 2008; Ma et al., 2004; Nolan et al., 2008; Wolt et al., 2002). For precipitation and flux, this was a linear model, while both the degradation over time plots and temperature degradation plots had logarithmic curves fitted. As chemical degradation occurs in a natural logarithmic fashion, the remaining chemical in the soil (relevant to the effects of delay on flux) were fitted with curves fitting the following equation:

$$y = a + r \ln(x)$$

Where y is the chemical flux, a is the static coefficient representing the flux, r is the gradient coefficient representing the shape of the decay curve and x is the days after application (>0).

In contrast, the effect of temperature on chemical degradation in soil is of exponential form with a Q10 value a representative ratio of chemical degradation given a 10°C rise (EFSA, 2008). This informed the fitting of curves to the temperature-degradation relationships within PRZM for the landscape and soil characteristics used within this study. Consequently, the following equation was used:

$$y = a e^{(rx)}$$

Where y is the degradation rate, a is the static coefficient representing the intercept, r is the gradient coefficient which alters the shape of the exponential curve and therefore Q10 value, and x is the temperature of the chemical undergoing degradation.

#### Relationships between flux, precipitation and degradation for agrochemicals

All other objectives dealt with flux into freshwater meaning a suitable threshold value for assessing flux was required. The edge of field 90<sup>th</sup> percentile chemical flux (EFF<sub>90</sub>) was calculated across the 20-year periods of each the baseline and future climate scenarios. This 90<sup>th</sup> percentile was selected as it is generally considered to cover reasonable worst-case scenario resulting from meteorological and subsequent chemical fate conditions and has precedence for both pesticides and pharmaceuticals (Cunningham, 2006; EFSA, 2014).

The relationship of EFF<sub>90</sub> and meteorology (precipitation that triggered the EFF<sub>90</sub> event, and the time after application that the EFF<sub>90</sub> event occurred) from soil degradation rate was assessed using linear models for each site and for baseline and future climates using generalised linear models.

The interactions between site, climate change scenario and degradation rate were investigated with 3-way ANCOVA. From this, Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction were used to compare the effect of different sites' climate on the DT<sub>50</sub>-EFF<sub>90</sub> relationship, including for the delay to and size of precipitation event that triggered the EFF<sub>90</sub>. The Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction was separately performed for both baseline and future climate conditions and then compared.

To investigate the direct effect of climate change on chemical flux, a paired t-test was performed on the data from all chemicals applied in all seasons but each site considered separately. Bonferroni correction was applied to account for the paired t-test being run for each of the six sites.

#### Effects of seasonal application and DT<sub>50</sub> on flux under climate change

In contrast, site and season are associated with different meteorological patterns that both influence EFF<sub>90</sub> together. Degradation effects on the change to EFF<sub>90</sub> under climate change were non-linear in response to meteorology, meaning different patterns between the sites and season of chemical application. Instead, the inter-seasonal variation of EFF<sub>90</sub> under climate change was compared based upon the degradation rates of the chemical to address the third objective.

Variation was calculated on a chemical basis for the variation in flux ( $EFF_{90}$ ) between different seasons of application at the same site. As site was separated at this point, the relationship of variation and  $DT_{50}$  was investigated using ANOVA with Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction used to compare the relationships in a pairwise fashion between sites.

#### Effects of climate change on flux for agrochemicals and application times

As the final objective focused on actual chemicals with realistic application dates, the change in flux under climate change conditions was quantified as a change of the EFF<sub>90</sub> of the future climate as a percentage of the EFF<sub>90</sub> of the baseline climate, with percentages >100% representing an increase in flux under climate change conditions, <100% a decrease, and 100% itself no change under climate change.

# 2.2. Results

# 2.2.4. Climate change on UK weather

For the six sites in England and Wales, the effects of climate change on meteorological conditions were site, season and parameter dependent. In England & Wales, mean daily temperature exhibits a north-south gradient with southerly sites having higher mean daily temperatures. Under climate change conditions (Figure 2.4), the effects on mean daily temperature were consistent across sites, with an increase in temperature throughout the year that was more pronounced in the summer and autumn months (3.7°C to 5.0°C), compared to spring and winter (2.1°C to 2.8°C). In contrast, maximum daily temperature, representative of extreme climate conditions, exhibits greater variation between sites and the seasonality of the temperature change. Projected increases were reduced in the westerly (5.4°C Lancashire and Cornwall 4.2°C) sites compared to other locations (range of 8.6°C to 10.0°C).

Precipitation in England & Wales Mean occurs throughout the year although precipitation is generally lowest during late summer. While seasonal variation is generally minimal across sites compared to other global climates, northerly (Lancashire and Durham) and westerly (Lancashire and Cornwall) sites exhibit greater variation with wetter winters and dryer summers than other sites. Future climate conditions tend to exacerbate the seasonal differences in mean daily precipitation resulting in wetter winters (17.3% to 42.7%) and dryer summers (-16.2% to -35.6%) across all sites, with less change in spring and autumn. Maximum precipitation exhibited greater monthly variation for both baseline and future scenarios. Consequently, when in the year the maximum precipitation event occurred was different for each site and changed under future climate conditions. Generally, maximum precipitation increases in summer under climate change for most sites (13.9% to 67.4%), except for Cornwall (-11.4%) and Durham (-33.1%). Notably, maximum spring precipitation in Oxfordshire sees an increase of 103% under future conditions, much greater than any other sites (next largest is Essex with a rise of 28.1%). Equally Essex exhibited a much larger increase to maximum precipitation in Autumn (58.7%) than other sites (next largest is Kent with an increase of 8.0%)



Figure 2.4 Effects of climate change on mean and maximum daily A) air temperatures (absolute change) and B) precipitation (percentage change) across each season, between baseline (1980-2000) and future (2060-2080) UKCP18 climate scenarios for six UK sites representing different UK Met Office climate regions (A1-6 & B1-6 respectively). Mean daily values across the season are shown as dots while maximum daily values for the whole season are triangles

# 2.3.2. Weather and chemical fate

#### Precipitation quantity and flux

The amount of precipitation directly increases edge of field chemical flux (Figure 2.5). Following a lag phase for precipitation values below 4mm, chemical flux increases linearly with precipitation (gradient of 0.00326 mg ha<sup>-1</sup> mm<sup>-1</sup>, p <0.01, df = 5). The maximum single precipitation event across all sites and time scenarios was 94.4 mm while the mean precipitation value that triggered the 99<sup>th</sup> percentile chemical flux events across baseline and future scenarios was 50.1mm (sd = 1.89, range = 12.6-94.4 mm). Credible precipitation and chemical flux events are represented would not be expected to deviate from the relationship exhibited in Figure 2.5.



Figure 2.5 Relationship between individual precipitation (mm) events and edge of field chemical flux (mg/ha) for the generic hypothetical site using precipitation values along an exponential scale. Precipitation events occurred the day following the application of the generic hypothetical chemical with slow degradation ( $DT_{50}$  of 312.5 days) at 1 kg/ha

#### Precipitation delay, degradation and flux

Edge of field chemical flux reduced in a logarithmic relationship as the delay to a precipitation event increased (Figure 2.6). This was true for all  $DT_{50}$  values of the chemicals meaning that the edge of field flux is proportional to the decreasing quantity of chemical remaining within the soil matrix due to degradation. Hypothetical chemicals with lower  $DT_{50}$  values (0.5, 2.5 and 12.5 days) resulted in negligible chemical flux before the end of a year due to near complete degradation, while slower degrading chemicals (62.5 and 312.5 days) remained within the soil matrix and could be liable to transport beyond the year timeframe where chemical application may occur again leading to accumulation in the soil. Natural logarithmic models fitted to the flux curves in Figure 2.6 varied depending on their degradation rate, with the coefficients shown in Table A2.2. The static factors (a) for the lowest  $DT_{50}$  values of 0.5 and 2.5 days (a of 0.003 and 0.016 respectively) result in a much lower initial flux than from the higher  $DT_{50}$  values (a of 0.024 to 0.026). In contrast the gradient factor (r) for a  $DT_{50}$  value of 0.5 days is lower than all other  $DT_{50}$  values (r of -0.0007 compared to r of -0.0028 to -0.0042) reflecting the different shape of the decay curve for this  $DT_{50}$  value.



Figure 2.6 Effect of increasing the delay to a precipitation event after application of a chemical to the resultant edge of field chemical flux. The hypothetical chemical was altered with differing degradation values

#### Temperature and degradation

For all  $DT_{50}$  values chemical degradation rates increase as temperature increases, although the hypothetical chemicals have different relationships of temperature and degradation. For most  $DT_{50}$  values the rate of change to degradation increases with temperature increases, equivalent to the degradation rate increasing with an exponential relationship to temperature increases (Figure 2.7). The relevant coefficients calculated for these standardised degradation curves and their respective Q10 values are presented in Table A2.3. For chemicals with increasing  $DT_{50}$ , the calculated Q10 converges to 1.77 for the soil and landscape parameters tested. While the 0.5 day  $DT_{50}$  hypothetical chemical exhibits the inverse relationship to increasing temperature, this is due to increased depletion of the chemical from higher temperature degradation. This results in a large enough reduction to chemical capable of undergoing degradation that degradation rate within the soil matrix decreases. It is the effect of reduced chemical to undergo degradation that reduces the Q10 value for more rapidly degrading chemicals.



Figure 2.7. Effects of increasing air temperature on chemical degradation rate for five hypothetical chemicals with a range of degradation rates (A-E DT<sub>50</sub>) including a plot where the percentage of chemical degraded was standardised according to the minimum and maximum percentages degraded for each chemical (F)

# 2.3.2. Interactions of climate change and chemical properties on fate

#### Chemical persistence and extreme flux events

#### Relationship of DT<sub>50</sub> and the delay to and size of precipitation triggering 90<sup>th</sup> percentile flux

For the 24 chemicals with environmental properties tested in PRZM, grouping all sites over both baseline and future conditions as the  $DT_{50}$  of the chemical increased, the size of threshold precipitation events triggering the edge of field 90<sup>th</sup> percentile chemical flux (EFF<sub>90</sub>) also increased (log-transformed linear model, p < 0.001, linear model R<sup>2</sup> = 0.71). The equivalent consideration for how the delay to the threshold precipitation events triggering the 90th percentile edge of field chemical flux varied by  $DT_{50}$  found a similar relationship (log-transformed linear model, p < 0.001, linear model R<sup>2</sup> = 0.46).



Figure 2.8 Relationship between how the size of threshold precipitation events triggering the EFF<sub>90</sub> varies by chemical soil DT<sub>50</sub> across 6 sites (panels A to F) in England and Wales and all seasons of chemical application when predicted within PRZM. Shared lowercase letters following the site indicate pairwise comparisons between sites that are not significantly different (p<0.05) following a Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction where colour represents a baseline (orange, 1980-2000) or future (purple, 2060-2080) climate

While all sites and climate scenarios exhibited positive relationships between delay and degradation, there is spatial variation between sites in this relationship over both baseline and future climate conditions, as shown by the orange and purple letters in Figure 2.8. For baseline conditions the central

and south-eastern locations of Oxfordshire, Essex and Kent all share a non-significantly different  $DT_{50}$ precipitation relationship, while all other sites exhibited steeper and had significantly different relationships. In contrast, under the future climate scenario, the grouping is more homogenous following a north south gradient. A full table including the individual pair-wise comparisons is available in Table A2.5A and Table A2.5B.



Figure 2.9 Relationship between how the delay to threshold precipitation events triggering the EFF<sub>90</sub> varies by chemical soil DT<sub>50</sub> across 6 sites (panels A to F) in England and Wales and all seasons of chemical application when predicted within PRZM. Shared lowercase letters following the site indicate pairwise comparisons between sites that are not significantly different (p<0.05) following a Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction where colour represents a baseline (orange, 1980-2000) or future (purple, 2060-2080) climate

Again, although all sites and climate scenarios exhibited positive relationships, there is spatial variation between sites Figure 2.9. This manifests with a broadly northern group typified by Lancashire, and a central and southeast group with Oxford and Kent with the other sites falling between these two. Specific p-values for pairwise comparisons are shown in Table A2.5C and Table A2.5D. However, in contrast to the DT<sub>50</sub>-precipitation relationship, the DT<sub>50</sub>-delay relationship exhibited little change in the groupings of sites between baseline and future climates with only Essex becoming more distanced from the Durham and Cornwall relationships. Additionally, both Durham

and Kent see significant shallowing of the  $DT_{50}$ -delay relationship under climate change conditions associated with increased frequency of extreme precipitation events (p = 0.003 and 0.032 respectively, df = 2303, 2280, 3-way ANCOVA).

# Relationship between $DT_{50}$ and $90^{th}$ percentile flux

For the 24 chemicals with environmental properties tested in PRZM, grouping all sites over both baseline and future conditions as the  $DT_{50}$  of the chemical increased the edge of field 90<sup>th</sup> percentile chemical flux (EFF<sub>90</sub>) also increased (log-transformed linear model, p < 0.001, linear model R<sup>2</sup> = 0.65). There was spatial variation between the sites for the  $DT_{50}$ -EFF<sub>90</sub> relationship as shown from pair-wise comparisons (Figure 2.10), and these groupings differed to those for the  $DT_{50}$ -delay and  $DT_{50}$ -precipitation (Table A2.5E and Table A2.5F, compared to A-D). For baseline climates three patterns formed; this was a western group (Lancashire and Cornwall), and a central and southeast group (Oxfordshire, Essex and Kent), with Durham significantly different to all others. However, under climate change this shifted to a southern group composed of Cornwall and Kent, and a central group of Oxfordshire and Essex, but with Essex was no longer significantly different from Lancashire. Again, Durham was significantly different to all other sites.

#### Climate change impacts on flux

The overall effect of climate change on  $EFF_{90}$  was assessed with paired t-tests investigating whether flux altered under climate change conditions over the 24 chemicals and 4 seasons of application. Such tests were performed separately each site, and indicated spatial variation between them. The central and southeast sites of Oxfordshire, Essex and Kent all exhibited significant increases in flux under climate change conditions while Cornwall exhibited a significant decrease (all p <0.001, df = 91, paired t-test). In contrast, the northern sites of Lancashire and Durham exhibited no significant difference in flux between baseline and future conditions (p = 0.88 and p= 0.982 respectively, df = 91, paired t-test).



Figure 2.10 Relationship between how the threshold precipitation event that triggered the  $EFF_{90}$  varies by chemical soil  $DT_{50}$ across 6 sites (panels A to F) in England and Wales and all seasons of chemical application when predicted within PRZM. Shared lowercase letters following the site indicate pairwise comparisons between sites that are not significantly different (p<0.05) following a Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction where colour represents a baseline (orange, 1980-2000) or future (purple, 2060-2080) climate

#### 2.3.3. Season and degradation on flux

When comparing how the percentage of edge of field 90<sup>th</sup> percentile chemical flux (EFF<sub>90</sub>) changes under the climate change scenario, all of site, season of application and the degradation rate of the chemical (DT<sub>50</sub>) affect the percentage change. This can be seen in Figure 2.11 where the effect of increasing DT<sub>50</sub> has differing effects of change to flux for each site and season combination. Qualitatively, the pairings of Oxfordshire & Essex, and Cornwall & Durham appear most similar, but even then, differences are notable, particularly in autumn for Oxfordshire & Essex, and in spring for Cornwall & Durham. In contrast, Kent is notable for the maintaining of a large percentage increase to flux for summer applications beyond equivalent DT<sub>50</sub> values of all the other sites.



Figure 2.11 The percentage change to the  $EFF_{90}$  due to future (2060-2080) climate conditions compared to the baseline scenario (1980-2000) considering the effects of 24 chemicals with differing degradation rates. The effect of seasonal differences to weather under climate change was considered with applications of the chemical being modelled for each season. Lines between and are not indicative of any model fit but rather to show how change in chemical flux changes over the differing DT<sub>50</sub> values

One aspect common across all sites is the reduced effect of the season of application on the percentage change to edge of field 90<sup>th</sup> percentile chemical flux (EFF<sub>90</sub>) as the DT<sub>50</sub> of the chemical increases. This is demonstrated in Figure 2.12 by the reduction in variation of flux between seasons for increasing DT<sub>50</sub> values (p < 0.001, linear model,  $R^2 = 0.71$ ). The results from pair-wise comparisons between the sites indicate that all sites exhibit a similar relationship between the extent of seasonal variation in chemical flux depending on the degradation rate of the chemical.



Figure 2.12 Variation ( $\sigma^2$ ) between different seasons of chemical application for the percentage change in EFF<sub>90</sub> between baseline (1980-2000) and future (2060-2080) scenarios across the degradation rate range of the chemicals. Shared lowercase letters following the site indicate pairwise comparisons between sites that are not significantly different (p<0.05) following a Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction

#### 2.3.4. Effects of climate for realistic chemical application scenarios

Pesticides have specific times of application so they are most efficacious against their target organisms. As pests life histories are variable among plants, animals, fungi and microorganisms, the timing of pest infestation and therefore season of pesticide application vary. However, most commonly application tends to occur during major crop growth periods (spring and summer) when conditions are also favourable for pest growth and few applied in winter. This is reflected in the application times for the pesticides investigated within this study (Table 2.4). Generally, there is a large variation in the effect of climate change on edge of field 90<sup>th</sup> percentile chemical flux (EFF<sub>90</sub>), with percentage changes ranging from -97% to 249%. Chemicals applied in Cornwall always exhibited a decrease in EFF<sub>90</sub> while aside for those which rapidly degrade (DT<sub>50</sub> < 5 days), all chemicals exhibited an increase in Essex and Oxfordshire. Season of application affected both the direction and magnitude of change, but this depended on the site. For example, fluvalinate and imidacloprid have similar DT<sub>50</sub> values (31 and 38.9 days respectively), but are applied in different seasons (summer and autumn). Consequently, when applied in Kent imidacloprid increases by 249%, while fluvalinate increases by just 18%. In contrast when applied in Durham, fluvalinate sees a 9% rise while imidacloprid sees a decrease of 23%. These changes to EFF<sub>90</sub> mean that the reasonable worst-case quantity of chemical entering freshwater bodies is enough to alter the outcome of existing ERAs. Consequently, the effects of climate change on the shift to chemical flux is significant and requires consideration at a spatial and chemical specific level, including accounting for when in the year the chemical is applied.

Table 2.4 Effect of climate change on EFF<sub>90</sub> for 14 different pesticides applied under realistic application times in accordance with good agricultural practice across six sites representing the climatic groups of England & Wales. All values at 100% or below represent no change or an decreasing in EFF<sub>90</sub> and are coloured green. Values >100% represent an increase in flux under climate change and become increasingly red as the change in flux increases

Chemical	Chemical	DT₅₀ in soil (days)	Season	Change in 90 <sup>th</sup> percentile edge of field flux under climate change conditions over 20 years (%, 1980-2000 to 2060-2080)					
chemical			Scuson	Cornwall	Durham	Essex	Kent	Lancashire	Oxfordshire
Prothioconazole	Fungicide	0.5	Spring	-97	-14	-89	-97	248	-71
Fluroxypyr	Herbicide	0.7	Spring	-97	-33	-90	-97	209	-73
Thifensulfuron methyl	Herbicide	1.39	Spring	-90	-58	-92	-92	100	-31
Chlorothalonil	Fungicide	4.29	Spring	-46	-54	-40	0	-12	231
Pyraclostrobin	Fungicide	62	Spring	-29	-15	159	28	-29	80
Azoxystrobin	Fungicide	78	Spring	-27	-12	155	25	-27	84
Cypermethrin	Insecticide	141.3	Spring	-22	-7	176	35	-15	75
Glyphosate	Herbicide	20.5	Summer	-46	15	40	24	91	37
МСРА	Herbicide	21	Summer	-46	52	70	43	104	77
Fluvalinate	Insecticide	31	Summer	-45	9	38	18	85	40
Cyproconazole	Fungicide	126	Summer	-40	-17	47	-25	-9	95
Imidacloprid	Insecticide	38.9	Autumn	-31	-16	129	249	40	127
Tri-allate	Herbicide	58.2	Autumn	-31	-23	124	207	24	112
Diflufenican	Herbicide	141.8	Winter	-25	29	44	4	-2	91

Currently, pharmaceuticals primarily see introduction onto crops within manure and biosolid fertiliser use which is associated with application in autumn and spring for winter wheat. As for pesticides, the effects of climate change are highly spatially variable and chemical specific for pharmaceuticals with variable percentage changes to edge of field 90<sup>th</sup> percentile chemical flux (EFF<sub>90</sub>) of -97% to 343% with distinct patterns forming over both site and chemical degradation rate. Autumn application in Kent see the largest rise of 96 – 343%, but this pattern is not seen for Kent spring application which exhibit both decreases (up to -97%) and increases (up to 46%). Cornwall see universal decreases in EFF<sub>90</sub>, aside from the rapidly degrading diclofenac in Autumn, while Oxfordshire sees universal increases aside from diclofenac in spring. Patterns of  $DT_{50}$  are qualitatively visible for some site and season combinations, such as a positive correlation of  $DT_{50}$  and  $EFF_{90}$  in Essex, both autumn and spring, while the reverse relationship is observed for autumn applications in Durham.

Table 2.5 Effect of climate change on EFF90 for 10 different pharmaceuticals applied under realistic application times as
fertiliser either in autumn or spring across six sites representing the climatic groups of England & Wales. All values at 100%
or below represents no change or an decreasing in EFF <sub>90</sub> and are coloured green. Values >100% represent an increase in flux
under climate change and become increasingly red as the change in flux increases

Chaminal	DT <sub>50</sub> in soil	Season of fertiliser application	Change in 90 <sup>th</sup> percentile edge of field flux under climate change conditions over 20 years (%, 1980-2000 to 2060-2080)					
Chemical	(days )		Cornwall	Durham	Essex	Kent	Lancashire	Oxfordshir e
Diclofenac	0.5	Autumn	53	99	-9	297	-18	72
Naproxen	2	Autumn	-4	89	16	270	-37	100
Metformin Hydrochloride	5	Autumn	-19	38	32	327	-31	96
Metronidazole	5.7	Autumn	-19	37	33	330	-30	92
Orlistat	6.4	Autumn	-21	20	39	329	-23	94
Diazinon	9.1	Autumn	-24	5	61	326	-13	92
Erythromycin	20	Autumn	-27	5	69	343	2	147
Ivermectin	27	Autumn	-33	-16	128	266	34	136
Carbamazepine	36.5	Autumn	-32	-16	131	250	40	131
Trimethoprim	110	Autumn	-33	-17	104	96	9	97
Diclofenac	0.5	Spring	-97	-14	-89	-97	248	-71
Naproxen	2	Spring	-61	-68	-76	-63	16	143
Metformin Hydrochloride	5	Spring	-46	-48	-33	13	-15	217
Metronidazole	5.7	Spring	-36	-39	-24	21	-12	219
Orlistat	6.4	Spring	-46	-40	-8	30	-16	189
Diazinon	9.1	Spring	-47	-33	64	46	-23	160
Erythromycin	20	Spring	-21	3	174	45	3	158
Ivermectin	27	Spring	-36	-21	181	43	-30	102
Carbamazepine	36.5	Spring	-32	-18	188	39	-27	97
Trimethoprim	110	Spring	-27	-9	132	20	-25	72

#### 2.4. Discussion

The aim of this chapter was to assess the effect of climate change on the edge of field agrochemical flux the via soil matrix while considering the spatial variation in local climates and the persistence of agrochemicals in soil. The impact of future weather patterns on seasonal variation in the edge of field flux of 24 different agrochemicals was investigated for six sites across different climatic zones of England and Wales. This study had four main objectives: first to assess how climate parameters and chemical degradation affect flux, secondly to see if these relationships hold using the properties of actual chemicals and accounting for spatial variation of climates and future projections, third to assess how the season of application influences the effects of climate change in accordance with chemical degradation, and finally to quantify the effects of climate change on flux accounting for actual agrochemical uses and application times.

# 2.4.1 Factors influencing chemical flux under climate change

#### Meteorological parameters, chemical degradation and flux

#### UK climates

Using the climate data for the six specified UK sites representative of the UK Met Office climate zones for England and Wales, 5km scale UKCP18 data were extracted and processed for visualisation and inputting into PRZM (Met Office, 2021, 2019). The UK is set to undergo seasonally variable climate change with hotter dryer summers and warmer wetter winters with an overall increase in extreme events, both floods and droughts, throughout the year (Lowe et al., 2018). However, visualisation of the UKCP18 data here also revealed where there was spatial variation in the effects of climate change. For example, with mean daily temperature, the westerly sites of Lancashire and Cornwall exhibited more marginal increases in maximum autumn temperatures compared to other sites, while the changes to maximum precipitation were more varied between sites and seasons affecting the precipitation events triggering chemical flux. In contrast, the rise in mean temperature was relatively consistent between sites, although the increase was more pronounced in summer and autumn (3.7°C to 5.0°C across all sites and both seasons) than spring and winter (2.1°C to 2.8°C across all sites and both seasons), thus degradation rates would be expected to increase year-round, but particularly so in summer and autumn.

#### Processes underlying flux and degradation

Chemical flux is established to be primarily determined by the size and frequency of precipitation, and here both within examples using hypothetical chemicals, sites and climate conditions to specifically test the effects of size of precipitation event, delay to precipitation event for differing DT<sub>50</sub> values and

how temperature affects degradation in soil for differing DT<sub>50</sub> values. These supported the existing laboratory data on degradation mechanics which also find logarithmic models of decay and quantity of chemical to undergo transport including for pharmaceuticals (Lammoglia et al., 2018; Pollard and Morra, 2018; Xuan et al., 2008), and the results are comparable to prior outputs from PRZM (Farenhorst et al., 2009). However, the calculated Q10 of 1.77 was lower than the standard of 2.2 used in ERAs (EFSA, 2008). Given the variation in soil properties that can affect the Q10, in particular organic matter and water holding capacity, this may not be unexpected and was within the range of Q10 values from laboratory studies (Cavoski et al., 2008).

#### Seasonality of climate change and chemical flux

Within the UK, it has been projected that the effects of climate change vary throughout the year, with temperatures rising more in summer than winter, and summer becoming dryer and winter wetter. In reality this has been demonstrated to be more nuanced by spatial variation in the effect of climate change on local climates (section 2.4.2.1). As climate conditions affect chemical transport, the effects of climate change on chemical transport and flux would be expected to change seasonally too. Equally, the climate and effect of seasons with climate change will both vary spatially. Consequently, seasonal effects on flux were expected to vary extensively across different UK climate zones, which was present in the results and shows the complex influence of seasonality. This supports previous studies which exhibit strong patterning in chemical fate depending on the season of chemical sampling and occurs across multiple freshwater ecosystems (Johnson et al., 1997; Varty et al., 2021). Both spatial and chemical identity, particularly around the degradation rate in soil affected the seasonal impact on the change in flux. This emphasises the complex relationship between these factors and the difficulty in extrapolating the effects of climate change from single site studies. However, some broad characteristics common across all sites and seasons could be observed, most notably that the effect of season of application made less difference to the change in flux for slower degrading chemicals. This relationship was common across all sites and has implications when considering how the timings of chemicals may shift or how new chemicals may respond under future conditions, particularly for the care required when timing the application of rapidly degrading chemicals so application does not result in chemical flux (Gros et al., 2019).

#### 2.4.2. Implications & applications

# Considering climate change with agrochemical exposure

# Increasing realism: Agrochemicals & application times

By considering realistic application times for different chemicals the actual effects of climate change on chemical flux were quantified and placed into a context that could inform chemical use and risk to non-target ecosystems. The need for this has been previously highlighted by both regulatory and scientific perspectives (Brooks et al., 2013; EFSA et al., 2020). It should be noted that within PRZM pesticides and pharmaceuticals are treated equally with all chemicals based off their environmental properties (Mullins et al., 1993). The only difference with regards to fate is the timing of application which contextualises pharmaceutical input to match that of manure or biosolid fertiliser application in spring and autumn (Gogos et al., 2012; Gros et al., 2019). Across all sites and chemicals, climate change causes a wide range of effects, from decreases of up to 97% to increases of 343% compared to the baseline scenario. Previous studies investigating the effects of climate change on chemical fate are limited either by lack of scalability or being fit to specific water systems. Szalinska et al., (2021) has shown an increase of 75% for six metals at a watershed level in 2046–2055 under RCP 8.5 conditions while Valle et al. (2007) focused on chemical degradation and distribution following input predicted decreases in chlorinated polyaromatic hydrocarbons but increased mobility under higher temperatures. However, when considering these realistic application times within an ERA perspective the large changes, both positive and negative, to chemical flux would drastically affect the outcome of ERAs. Equally the extent of spatial variation from climate alone mean that any ERA should either consider the effects of climate change on a spatially explicit scale, or create representative worst case scenarios to be run in a manner similar to the spatially explicit soil and climate scenarios used for FOCUS surface water modelling in ERAs (Fabrega and Carapeto, 2020; Hommen et al., 2010; A. S. Pereira et al., 2017). Overall, the effects of climate change on chemical flux have been shown to be a necessary point of consideration if the future risk to ecosystems from agrochemicals is to be accurately assessed.

#### Accounting for phenology

Regarding how the timings of agrochemical input may shift in response to climatic change will depend on how the phenology of agricultural crops and their pests requiring chemical application shift under climate change conditions. For example, the effect of climate change to the timing of commonly grown crops such as winter wheat has been investigated with aspects such as emergence, maturation and harvest shifting by 14-28 days by the end of the century (Craufurd and Wheeler, 2009; Paweł Marcinkowski and Piniewski, 2018; Olesen et al., 2012). This in turn will require altering the timing of fertiliser and pre-emergence herbicide use to optimise crop yield (Zimmermann et al., 2017). Equally, some pests are expected to track their phrenology to that of crops, leading to shifting times for chemical application (Bajwa et al., 2020). Furthermore, the climatic conditions may change the profile and magnitude of negative effects, and therefore the type and quantity chemical used to address the pest. For example hotter, dryer summers may increase the susceptibility and spread of fungal diseases to wheat crops (Rhodes and McCarl, 2020b; West et al., 2012b) necessitating increased use of fungicides at times of the year not currently applied. Adapting the methods used within this study may help address the possible risk these timing or chemical shifts may pose, noting a greater focus on faster degrading chemicals that are more liable to seasonal variability.

#### Integration and expansion within fate research

#### Future developments of climate projections

The UKCP18 climate data used here were high resolution 5km scale which can accurately project the occurrence and magnitude of localised extreme weather events which are associated with the largest chemical fluxes, and therefore important to realistically represent future risk (Lowe et al., 2018; Met Office, 2019). However, these projections are only available for RCP 8.5, which is the business-as-usual high emissions scenario. However, RCP 8.5 is currently viewed as an extreme scenario with little to no climate change mitigation, and therefore not the most likely climate change scenario (Christensen et al., 2018; Van Vuuren et al., 2011). Thus, these results accurately capture convectional precipitation dynamics but represent a worse case climate change scenario and therefore should be protective of future risk. However, PRZM is limited in that it can only accept daily data but the UKCP18 5km scale data is available down to hourly time periods (Carsel et al., 1985). Using another regulatory fate model, such as MACRO, could expand upon the work here and incorporate hourly data (Jarvis et al., 1997).

#### Building upon fate research and regulation

While the above results can provide some insight into potential changes to chemical risk, there are limitations that were necessary as part of the methodology to isolate the effects of climate and chemical. However, existing research into fate, agricultural and soil dynamics could be integrated with the work presented here to improve the realism and expand the scenarios that could be represented with this methodology. Notably the soil, landscape and cropping was kept consistent throughout the sites, but there exists great heterogeneity across the UK for which data already exists and could be directly integrated into this research (Cranfield University, 2021; Garthwaite, 2018). For example, soil is a major factor affecting chemical fate and behaviour and would have interacted with chemical properties, most notably koc (Farenhorst et al., 2009; Oliver et al., 2012; Paasivirta et al., 1999). Equally different crops would have differing phenologies, pests, root structures and interceptions and each

will have their own shifts under climate change conditions, all of which can be accounted for within PRZM (Bajwa et al., 2020; Craufurd and Wheeler, 2009; Squire et al., 2016).

Equally, the downstream processes from edge of field flux occur in the freshwater body and can alter the quantity and location of the chemical. These include the degradation or transport of the chemical out of the freshwater body, and the partitioning of the chemical into river sediment (Bach et al., 2016; Gavrilescu et al., 2015). This may enable exposure of the chemical to new ecosystems and organism groups (e.g. downstream water bodies and sediment dwelling organisms). Considering dynamics within freshwater bodies also permits the consideration of chronic risk. This is because long-term chemical exposure can be calculated rather than just acute peak concentrations associated with edge of field flux (Pereira et al., 2017). Just as models such as PRZM consider fate dynamics and transport in soil, extensively researched models exist for chemical fate in freshwater; TOXSWA, a regulatory model for chemical fate in freshwater bodies, can take the outputs directly from PRZM and are combined together pesticide ERAs to form the modelling suite of SWASH (Adriaanse, 1996; Te Roller et al., 2015).

In contrast SWAT is a combined soil and water fate model that functions at the watershed level rather than the field-scale explored here (Di Luzio et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2019). Indeed, Szalinska et al. (2021) used SWAT to consider the effects of climate change on fate at the watershed level projecting increases in metal loadings by 75%, while noting the specificity of these results to the location modelled (Carpathian basin, Hungary). Consequently, while the results here may prove indicative of overall trends of chemical fate into freshwater ecosystems, the major advancement here is the adaptability of this method to different chemicals and climates, which can be directly integrated with other models such as TOXSWA as done in existing ERAs (Van den Berg et al., 2015), expanding the consideration of climate change to freshwater fate represents a logical next step for contextualising the effects of climate change on chemical flux presented here.

Overall, this study has demonstrated a functional methodology from which the change to agrochemical risk from climate change can be quantified and built upon by including real chemical agricultural practices policies for regulation could be determined. For example, rapidly degrading chemicals ( $DT_{50} < 2$  days), often pharmaceuticals can see drastic rises under climate change associated with an increase in rainfall events following application that can be mitigated if there is no precipitation immediately following application. An example regulation would be "avoiding the use of manure or biosolid fertilizer within the three days prior to predicted precipitation events". Furthermore, the spatial aspect of risk has been highlighted, with specific sites, such as Cornwall

64

tending to have the largest decrease in percentage risk for most chemicals, while those applied in Oxfordshire tend to see an increase regardless of season of application. Consequently, a spatially differential risk assessment could restrict or allow application on a site and seasonal basis, like existing regulation restricting the application of specific insecticides in spring during flowering time to avoid ecotoxicological exposure to bees and other pollinators that is high risk at that time of year. Beyond consideration of edge of field flux, contextualising the result by simulating dynamics of the freshwater ecosystem could improve the realism of the risk assessment. Existing freshwater fated models exist, but would need adapting to future climate change conditions, but can be integrated to provide a full ecosystem perspective on chemical exposure (US EPA, 2016a; Wang et al., 2019). To summarise, this study has shown how localised climate projections can be adapted to existing ERAs and landscape characteristics to predict how climate change can alter the flux of various agrochemicals. These results highlighted the need to assess the effects of climate change accounting for spatial variation in climate change itself which resulted in divergent changes in flux for the same chemical with different climate data. Equally, the method here has shown how PRZM can be tailored to a wide range of climate, chemical, crop and location scenarios.

# **CHAPTER 3**

Assessing the effect of taxonomic composition on chemical sensitivity at an assemblage scale

# Chapter 3. Assessing the effect of taxonomic composition on chemical sensitivity at an assemblage scale

# 3.1 Introduction

# 3.1.1 Sensitivity on scales above the organisms

Because species vary in their geographical distribution and life histories, the species composition of communities varies in space and time in response to biogeographic factors (Cleland et al., 2013; Legendre et al., 2005; Silvertown et al., 1994). The sensitivity of species to chemical pollutants also varies and their relative sensitivity is chemical specific (Cairns, 1986; Craig et al., 2012). Consequently, the sensitivity of spatially-varying communities to chemical pollutants is also expected to differ (Relyea and Hoverman, 2006). Yet current chemical environmental risk assessments (ERAs) have no option to consider the spatial differences in taxa and to what extent this affects the sensitivity of the ecosystem (EFSA, 2013a; Hickey et al., 2009). Consequently, ERAs fail to account for spatial variation, only aiming to acknowledge this uncertainty by using assessment factors (ECHA, 2008).

#### *Issues of the ERA at an assemblage scale*

Existing ERAs consider sensitivity from species from toxicity tests but are associated with two issues relating to the species tested. Firstly, ERAs for regulated chemicals are generic and are applied over broad taxonomic groups (e.g. fish, macroinvertebrates, algae). A single regulatory acceptable concentration for each group is used irrespective of any spatial variation in the sensitivity of potentially exposed communities (Vaal et al., 2000; Verschoor et al., 2011). Secondly, testing of species is limited compared to the diversity of species exposed in nature (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Lorenz et al., 2017). For example, in the RICT reference site dataset which is meant to be reflective of the macroinvertebrate diversity of the UK in minimally impacted rivers has recorded 617 species (Wright, 1994). In contrast the agrochemical tested on the most species in the publicly-collating ECOTOX database is malathion with 176 unique species from a global distribution with uneven taxonomic testing (e.g. 16 species were tested in the *Aedes* genus, US EPA, 2021). Consequently, there is a need to assess to what extent differences in assemblage composition among natural ecosystems has on the variation in sensitivity and whether such variation has any bearing on the outcome ERAs, improving realism and making the protection of ecosystems spatially explicit.

Accounting for the sensitivity of multiple species within an assemblage has been investigated using empirical approaches such as mesocosm studies that include species expected to be found in natural habitats or statistical approaches such as species sensitivity distributions (SSDs) that collate toxicity data from multiple laboratory studies (EFSA, 2013a). However, neither approach is primarily used to

address the relationship between community composition and sensitivity to chemical exposure. Instead, mesocosm studies are designed to incorporate biotic interactions and community dynamics in the assessment of risk (Boyle and Fairchild, 1997). While mesocosm studies include some natural species and can account for some community dynamics, they are limited by the not fully representing interspecific and food web interactions, notably missing the top trophic level provided by fish, and the migration and recolonisation of natural river ecosystems once perturbed (Van den Brink et al. 2005; Preston, 2002). In addition they are time and capital intensive and therefore only performed for most chemicals' ERAs as a refinement of unacceptable risk at lower tiers of the ERA (Boxall et al., 2002). Furthermore, this impracticability means that research into the effects of assemblage composition on sensitivity between mesocosms is limited with studies focusing on the dynamics of one community (King et al., 2016; Rohr and Crumrine, 2005).

In contrast, SSDs are used to represent risk to a theoretical universe of potentially exposed species and calculate a hazard concentration value (HC<sub>x</sub>), the chemical concentration for which a specific percentage (x%) of species are affected (Wagner and Løkke, 1991). The data requirement for SSDs is sufficient toxicity endpoints (recommended at least eight, minimum five) for a chemical to fit a suitable (log-normal distribution, EFSA, 2013a). For SSDs, the availability of toxicity data limits their use for spatially variable communities. This is because toxicity tests are performed on limited numbers of species compared to the diversity in natural ecosystems, and those that are suitable for laboratory testing tend to be unrepresentative of species in natural ecosystems (Liess and von der Ohe, 2005; Lorenz et al., 2017). While SSDs can be applied broadly and altered to be spatially explicit (Posthuma et al., 2019), they remain limited in scope within ERAs by a limited species pool and therefore are unreflective of natural assemblages. Equally from a chemical identity perspective, Verschoor et al., 2011 has shown that SSDs for different metals vary and exhibit spatio-temporal variation in risk, although this was due to differences in chemical-environment interactions rather than community structure which was the same across sites.

Another issue is that SSDs assume that the sensitivities of species are independent and that for a species, its sensitivity ranking for one chemical is uninformative to another (Aldenberg and Jaworska, 2000). This means an SSD assumes that the identity of the species tested does not matter. Yet, the non-exchangeability of chemical sensitivity between species has been shown (Craig et al., 2012). This means some species tend to be more sensitive to chemicals than others, and closely related species share chemical sensitivity due to relatedness being correlated with increased sharing of genetics and traits for chemical sensitivity. Consequently, because different combinations of taxa can be used in SSDs they can reflect different spatial and temporal scales of natural assemblages. The limited

taxonomic diversity of toxicity data mean the SSD produced is generic and used to represent all communities (Belanger et al., 2017). This means the question of whether the sensitivity profile varies between assemblages beyond the coverage of a generic SSD and how chemical identity affects such variation is not considered and requires investigation.

Given the potential for species composition to influence sensitivity at the assemblage level (eg a set proportion of species exhibiting toxic effects as with a hazard concentration value, HC<sub>x</sub>), the range of communities play an important role for the variation in assemblage sensitivity. Within the UK the RICT (River Invertebrate Classification Tool) model is used as a measure of ecological water quality by predicting expected macroinvertebrate communities for an unimpacted freshwater river given the landscape characteristics of a specific river (Environment Agency et al., 2021; Wright, 1994). However, the model itself was built upon an extensive reference dataset of 835 minimally impacted sites (those experiencing only minor changes to river structure, watershed and pollution since pre-industrial times) in the UK and reflects how the variation in river typologies and properties influence the macroinvertebrate community (Davy-Bowker et al., 2006; Wright et al., 1996). Additional to spatial variation, climate change, in particular temperature, is known to influence the macroinvertebrate communities of the UK (Durance and Ormerod, 2007; Vaughan and Ormerod, 2012). Consequently, climate change over the 21<sup>st</sup> century could affect sensitivity by shifting community composition. Again, RICT can be adapted to use different river parameters, including temperature, permitting the effects of climate change on macroinvertebrate communities to be predicted (Armitage, 2000). This means that the diversity in assemblage composition which varies both spatially due to freshwater landscape and typology, and temporally due to the effects climate change, will need i) a way of assessing assemblage sensitivity, and ii) a consideration to what extent variation in assemblage sensitivity is down to taxonomic composition.

#### Methods for predicting taxa sensitivity

One approach capable of addressing both the genericism of ERAs and the lack of toxicity data for species in natural ecosystems is to predict the toxicological sensitivity of untested species and integrate these results into spatially explicit ERAs (van den Berg et al., 2021). There are multiple methods for predicting assemblage sensitivity and each has differing data requirements, explanatory power for the predictions, and limitations and assumptions, but none are currently employed within risk assessments (Baird and Van den Brink, 2007; Craig, 2013; Guenard et al., 2011; US EPA, 2016b). The calculation of a value of sensitivity is dependent on how the methodology utilises environmental and ecosystem data. For example, two common protection goals, i) ecosystem functioning because of the traits of organisms (e.g. shredders and decomposers), and ii) the genetic and taxonomic diversity

of the communities themselves can each be protected using predicted sensitivities from examples of these predictive methodologies (Loreau and Mazancourt, 2013; Nienstedt et al., 2012). These are reflected in two of the predictive methods, trait-based and relatedness-based which are discussed in further detail in the next paragraph. Genomics-based methods represent a highly accurate methodology for species prediction by basing sensitivity prediction on the genetic basis of biochemical pathways and enzymes of species using the molecular target site of chemical toxicity. However to know the molecular pathways, genomics-based methods require genetic sequencing of every taxon to be predicted. Although sequencing of macroinvertebrates is improving, sequencing of the genetics underlying the relevant target site is limited for most species (Fedorenkova et al., 2010; LaLone et al., 2013).

Traits based predictive methods work on the assumption that organisms exhibiting similar traits will have similar chemical uptake (e.g. diet, oxygenation mechanism, location within freshwater) and depuration (e.g. body size, lipid content, metabolic rate) will therefore exhibit similar chemical sensitivity (Rubach et al., 2010; Van den Berg et al., 2019). In contrast relatedness-based methods use the fact that closely related species tend to exhibit similar sensitivities to chemicals by acting as a proxy for the extent of shared sensitivity-influencing factors (e.g. body size, metabolic pathways, target receptors, Blomberg et al., 2003). This occurs as closely related species share more of their genetics and niches, affecting traits, compared to distally related species. This is due to a shared distance from a common ancestor resulting in similar biochemistry and phenotype and therefore a shared susceptibility to specific chemicals (Guenard et al., 2011; Malaj et al., 2016). Ideally phylogenetics would be used as the basis of relatedness. However, the phylogenetic tree for UK macroinvertebrates remains unresolved and so it is not possible to be used currently, although advancements in sequencing mean that this is becoming increasingly resolved (Guenard et al., 2014).

The data requirements for trait-based methods are a list of relevant traits for the predicted taxa (Baird and Van den Brink, 2007) and while macroinvertebrate trait databases are available and improving, coverage of freshwater macroinvertebrate taxa is incomplete, for example coverage of Crustacea and Insecta is good but more limited for less studied groups such as Mollusca and Annelida (Hébert et al., 2016; Rubach et al., 2010; Usseglio-Polatera et al., 2000). In contrast, relatedness-based methods that utilise taxonomic ranking and structure have known relatedness relationships of UK freshwater macroinvertebrates making such methods suitable for predicting sensitivity (Craig, 2013).

#### *Hierarchical species sensitivity distributions (hSSDs)*

Hierarchical species sensitivity distributions (hSSDs) are a relatedness-based predictive model that integrates taxonomic information to predict toxicity endpoints for a group of species with known taxonomy permitting the fitting of SSDs (Craig, 2013, and described in the methods below). The hSSD method is based upon hierarchical taxonomy and the establishment of the following from toxicity data: firstly, that there is a sensitivity tendency of a species and that these tendencies vary between species making species non-exchangeable, and secondly that interspecies correlation occurs with the strength of correlation decreasing with relatedness such that the uncertainty surrounding taxa sensitivity predictions will vary based on the relatedness of available toxicity data. This is in contrast to existing SSDs in that chemical identity will determine if a taxon is sensitive to that chemical or not, and therefore assemblage composition will affect the structure of the SSD curve on a chemical basis, a limitation noted for SSDs in current ERAs (Belanger et al., 2017). Acknowledging this, the hSSD method uses a Bayesian approach of different hierarchical model relationships depending on the degree of taxonomic relationship between the toxicity data and predicted taxa to calculate a sensitivity value, then collates the predictions for multiple taxa to calculate a HC<sub>5</sub> value representing assemblage sensitivity. More detail on the hSSD method is presented in Appendix A3.1.

Considering the existing literature above, the identified research gaps this chapter aims to address are to what extent do species assemblages vary in their sensitivity to chemicals and secondly, how is this variation affected by species composition and chemical toxic mode of action. Sensitivity prediction methods, in particular the relatedness-based hSSD method, can approach this by predicting sensitivity values for taxa with described taxonomy noting that the predictive capability of the model improves with a greater quantity of and more closely related toxicity dataset for the predicted taxon. It has been noted how such methods can improve upon the genericism of existing SSD methods, enabling spatially specific predictions of assemblage sensitivity. Furthermore, providing the effects of climate change on community composition can be projected, predictions for climate change affected assemblages could be calculated and compared to baseline predictions enabling some insight into the effects of climate change on the sensitivity of freshwater ecosystems. Contextualizing within an ERA perspective, this method could be used to inform locations where existing risk assessments are over or under protective, both currently and in a climate change affected future, avoiding excessive mitigation or highlighting areas that currently are or will undergo environmental degradation but are not considered within current ERAs.

Consequently, the suitability of addressing these two issues with the hSSD method here by posing the following questions: 1) Given that organism sensitivity varies depending on the chemical, does the

sensitivity of a species assemblage vary with the chemical and its mode of action? 2) Given communities vary spatially and have different species compositions, does the calculated sensitivity threshold decrease in accordance with sensitive species presence? 3) How will the shift in taxa composition from climate change affect assemblage sensitivity compared to baseline conditions?

These questions were addressed by: 1) Considering the magnitude of variation and the correlation coefficient of predicted values for common species between different chemical and mode of action groupings, 2) Comparing the calculated assemblage sensitivity values for different natural assemblages and linking the patterns in sensitivity to sensitive taxa and river typology, 3) Predicting the expected assemblages at a series of locations under baseline and future climate conditions and comparing the change in sensitivity between the same location for a series of agrochemicals.

#### 3.1.2 Hypotheses and Objectives

 Run the hSSD model for the collated toxicity datasets and evaluate the ability of the hSSD model to accurately predict sensitivity of taxa

How strong is the correlation of using a leave one out analysis based on the toxicity datasets alone where taxonomic distances vary?

How strong is the correlation between predicted and laboratory sensitivities for taxonomically closely related species (ie. members of the same genus and family) where similar sensitivity values would be expected?

2. Assess to what extent the sensitivity between assemblages varies and is the variation in sensitivity patterned across chemicals with different toxic modes of action

Over how many orders of magnitude are the differences in assemblage sensitivity? Do chemicals with modes of action targeting specific taxa (eg insecticides) exhibit a greater range in predicted assemblage sensitivities?

 Assess whether the sensitivity of an assemblage relates to the physical landscape characteristics of where that freshwater body and its macroinvertebrate assemblage is located

To what extent does site typology relate to the type of taxa present?

Are the most sensitive assemblages linked to typologies associated with taxa particularly sensitive to that chemical?
4. To quantify how the shifting of community composition under climate change alters the assemblage sensitivity

By how much does assemblage composition change under climate change?

Does the shift in assemblage from climate change increase mean assemblage sensitivity, and is this pattern the same for all chemical types?

Does the shift in assemblage from climate change increase the range of assemblage sensitivities, and is this pattern the same for all chemical types?

# 3.2 Methods

# 3.2.1 The hSSD Model

Natural assemblages contain a large number of species, only a few of which will have toxicity data for any specific chemical. To generate a species sensitivity distribution (SSD) for a specific assemblage, predicting the toxicant sensitivity of untested species is therefore usually necessary. The hSSD model was developed to assess the toxicant sensitivity of an assemblage that contains species whose sensitivity to the focal chemical is unknown (i.e. no toxicity data). It also accounts for the inherent uncertainty surrounding laboratory toxicity testing (EFSA et al., 2018a, (Forbes and Calow, 2002; Hickey et al., 2012). The hSSD model uses the EC<sub>50</sub> (effect concentration affecting 50% of individuals of that species) values as a measure of toxicant sensitivity. The hSSD model used within this thesis is based on Craig (2013) and is model version 122 as this includes all taxonomic ranks (kingdom, phylum, class, order, family, genus, species) but not any ranks between these levels (e.g. subphylum or superclass). Consequently, a description of the model and how it was adapted to the toxicity data used in this thesis, and how the model predicts taxa and assemblage sensitivity is included below.

At the simplest level, an EC<sub>50</sub> value (y) of a species (j) sensitivity to a chemical (i) considering the uncertainty of laboratory testing (k), a single EC<sub>50</sub> can be calculated using Equation 1.

$$y_{ijk} = \alpha_i + \beta_j + \delta_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ijk}$$
 Equation 1

Where  $y_{ijk}$  is the predicted EC<sub>50</sub> value,  $\alpha_i$  represents the "true" average toxicity of the chemical *i* to a species across all species,  $\beta_j$  the tendency of species *j* to be more or less sensitive on average to chemical exposure,  $\delta_{ij}$  the interaction factor of chemical *i* and species *j* representing per species chemical effects and  $\epsilon_{ijk}$  the inter-test variation when performing a laboratory toxicity study *k* featuring chemical i and species *j*, representing the measurement error from performing toxicity tests.

While  $\delta_{ij}$  is assumed to normally distributed for different species *j*, the shape of the distribution would be expected to be different for differing chemicals. For example, the range of sensitivities for a general narcotic would be less than for a highly specific insecticide. Consequently, a scaling factor ( $\varphi$ ) for chemical *i* is incorporated into the hSSD model to represent this variation between chemicals (Equation 2).

$$y_{ijk} = \alpha_i + \beta_j + \varphi_i \delta_{ij} + \varepsilon_{ijk}$$
 Equation 2

Factor  $\alpha_i$  was assumed to be represented by the inputted toxicity data and calculated from a normal distribution of all available EC<sub>50</sub> values for chemical j in format N( $\sigma^2 \alpha$ ) with N representing the normal distribution and  $\sigma$  the standard deviation of the available toxicity endpoints ( $\alpha$ ) for chemical j. In contrast,  $\varepsilon_{ijk}$  the inter test variation was modelled using a t distribution due to test variation tending to have one extreme tailed distribution as previously demonstrated from analysis of toxicity datasets (Craig et al., 2012). Consequently, the distribution for  $\varepsilon_{ijk}$  can be summarised as t( $\sigma^2 \varepsilon$ ) with t representing the t-distribution and  $\sigma$  the standard deviation of what would be expected to be the outcome from differing toxicity tests.

The sensitivity tendency of species ( $\beta_i$ ) and the chemical-species interaction ( $\delta_{ij}$ ) can be further broken down to reflect the taxonomic structure of species and allow extrapolation from known species sensitivities and interaction factors from more distally related species at a higher taxonomic rank (Equation 3a and Equation 3b). This permits the hSSD model to predict sensitivity values even when toxicity studies on that specific species are unavailable. Nine taxonomic ranks were incorporated into the hSSD model: species, genus, family, class, superclass, sub-phylum, phylum, kingdom (numbered 1 to 9 in Equation 3a and 3b) to align with the range of taxonomic ranks covered by invertebrate species.

$$\beta_{j} = \beta_{1(j)} + \beta_{2(j)} + \dots + \beta_{9(j)}$$
Equation 3a  
$$\delta_{j} = \delta_{1(ij)} + \delta_{2(ij)} + \dots + \delta_{9(ij)}$$
Equation 3b

Where all members at a specific taxonomic rank n (ie. 1 through 9) are incorporated to each  $\beta_{n (j)}$  and  $\delta_{n (ij)}$  factor. Each individual taxonomic ranking component is sampled from a normal distribution of inputted data in the format N( $\sigma^2\beta_n$ ) or N( $\sigma^2\delta_n$ ) with N representing the normal distribution and  $\sigma$  the standard deviation in for data at taxonomic rank n.

# 3.2.2 Chemical selection and processing

To run the hSSD model, chemicals with acute toxicity data were collated for the most taxonomically diverse selection of species possible. Chemicals were only selected for inclusion if they had suitable

acute endpoints from at least 10 different taxa and represented at least 80% of the major invertebrate phyla found in UK freshwater ecosystems. The criteria for suitable endpoints were that they must be calculated EC<sub>50</sub> or LC50 values for mortality or immobility from aquatic exposure via the medium. While the study must be aquatic, freshwater, brackish or marine species across a global distribution were considered acceptable as Maltby *et al.* (2005) indicated that taxonomic identity was an important factor influencing HC<sub>5</sub> calculated values, but the geographic distribution and test media of the species was not. Where laboratory test guidelines are available (e.g. OECD 202 for *Daphnia*, OECD (2004)), studies should ideally follow them without alteration to the media or test set-up. Any media concentration regime was acceptable, although preference was given to renewal or flow through studies as a consistent concentration is more likely to be maintained. The time frame for the study endpoint must be between 1-7 days, although ideally 96h endpoints were taken, or 48h for species where 96h studies are not performed as standard. This was done to increase the number of studies where the toxic effects would occur over the same timeframe. While both measured and nominal concentrations were considered acceptable, measured concentrations were taken in preference where available as they represent a more accurate exposure of the test organism.

Datasets were collated from two sources, the toxicity datasets previously collected for Maltby et al., 2005, and the publicly available US EPA ECOTOX database (US EPA, 2018). The chemicals included in Maltby et al., 2005 were supplemented with additional datapoints from the ECOTOX database. Endpoints from the ECOTOX database that were outliers compared to other values or were potentially from studies with multiple-stressors or non-standard methodologies had the original studies consulted to ensure suitability for inclusion. From these 40 chemicals were collected and grouped into three main types depending on their chemical properties and toxic effect on macroinvertebrates; metals formed one group, while organic chemicals were separated out based on whether they had a mode of action that specifically targeted a macroinvertebrate group, of which insecticides were the only group. All other organic chemicals were not specifically acting to one group of macro invertebrates and have been treated as general narcotics.

For the hSSD model to read the chemical data, each taxa needed the current Linnean taxonomy for each of the ranks included in the hSSD model (kingdom, phylum, subphylum, superclass, class, order, family, genus, species). To ensure consistent taxonomy when filling in the taxonomic ranks the taxize package for R was used to complete the taxonomy using taxa and classification as listed in the NCBI database (Chamberlain and Szöcs, 2013; NCBI, 2021). The taxonomy for each file was then checked with the taxonomy database within the hSSD model and corrected to ensure the two align and would in intelligible by the hSSD model. Any taxa with toxicity data at a higher rank than species was assumed

to be a generic taxon in that rank rather than removing that toxicity endpoint. To make these data readable by the hSSD model the previously blank lower taxonomic ranks were replaced with Unknown (x rank) where x is the taxa and rank the taxonomic rank which is known (e.g. Unknown (Coleoptera family) where a toxicity endpoint for Coleoptera was available only at the family level of classification).

# 3.2.3 Testing the hSSD model

Prior to use of the hSSD model for species sensitivity prediction, the model needed validation with the toxicity datasets collected above to ensure that the model would produce suitable output from these data. Firstly, a whole dataset leave one out analysis was performed to the following method. A taxon from the toxicity dataset was removed and the hSSD model run to predict a sensitivity value for the removed taxon from the other toxicity data. This was repeated for each taxon in the dataset. However, the distance in taxonomic ranks between each left out taxa and the remaining toxicity data varies. Consequently, due to the rank distance related uncertainty included in the hSSD model, the analysis will include predictions over both close relatedness e.g. shared genus, with low uncertainty factor, and distally related e.g. over phylum, where the expected strength of correlation is much weaker. While this analysis gives insight into the general predictive nature of the hSSD mode over broad taxonomic coverage, the inclusion of an uncertainty factor obscures the predictive power of the model alone.

To address this, a secondary leave one out analysis was performed with a different methodology that predicted over consistent taxonomic distances. Again, each taxon in the dataset for a chemical was isolated but was converted into a generic taxon that shared a genus with the isolated taxon in the same form for where lower taxonomy is not known; for example, the species *Daphnia magna* would become Unknown (*Daphnia* genus). The hSSD model was then run for the generic genus taxa. If multiple members of the same genus were within the toxicity dataset for that chemical, the hSSD model was run for a taxon with that generic genus once. The strength of correlation between the actual toxicity value for that genus (with a geometric mean taken for multiple values in the same genus) and the prediction from the hSSD model was measured with Pearson's method and was calculated independently for each chemical.

# 3.2.4 Assemblage selection and processing

To apply the hSSD model to UK freshwater ecosystems, a comprehensive list of macroinvertebrate assemblages representative of differing ecosystems across the country is required. The River Invertebrate Classification Tool (RICT) is a tool featuring a model to classify water quality based on macroinvertebrate biotic indices. The modelling aspect of RICT was constructed from a series of 835

reference sites across the UK reflecting a range of macroinvertebrate assemblages from the local climatic and landscape characteristics in rivers minimally impacted from anthropogenic action. Due to being minimally impacted they are representative of how chemicals would affect an otherwise unaffected macroinvertebrate assemblage. Again, the taxize package linked to the NCBI database was used to complete the taxonomy which was then aligned with the taxonomy database within the hSSD model and blank taxonomic ranks filled with the same Unknown (x rank) format.

#### 3.2.5 Running the hSSD model

A single list of all taxa present in the 835 reference sites was collated from the RICT reference dataset, while a separate list was collated for all taxa predicted to occur at these sites under either baseline or future climate conditions based on the output of the RICT model with altered temperature values. The hSSD model was then performed for 6000 runs of the Monte-Carlo sampler for each taxon in these lists for all chemicals, and one run of the hSSD model generates a predicted EC<sub>50</sub> value for each taxon in the list. The first 1000 runs were discarded to ensure convergence of the Monte-Carlo sampler. The next 5000 runs of the hSSD model were retained and for each taxon a geometric mean of these values calculated to give a predicted EC<sub>50</sub> value for each taxon. The master list of predicted EC<sub>50</sub> values was the subsetted for each reference, baseline and future assemblage to generate a list of species and EC<sub>50</sub> values for each of the 40 study chemicals, which were then used to calculate assemblage level sensitivity.

The hazard concentration affecting 5% of taxa (HC<sub>5</sub>) is an established measure of assemblage sensitivity and is calculated by determining the species sensitivity distributions (SSDs, ECHA, 2008; Raimondo et al., 2008). A lognormal distribution was fitted to the predicted EC<sub>50</sub> values for the component taxa of each site to generate assemblage-specific SSDs. The 5th percentile for the SSD was calculated and represents the HC<sub>5</sub> for that assemblage. Confidence intervals for HC<sub>5</sub> values were generated using parametric bootstrapping using the method described by (Grist et al., 2002). For each assemblage, a random value was generated from the original SSD distribution, then fitted with the original EC<sub>50</sub> values to a new lognormal distribution followed by HC<sub>5</sub> calculation. This process was repeated 1000 times and the HC<sub>5</sub> value from each forming a normal distribution with the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile value forming the HC<sub>5</sub> value for that assemblage and the 95% intervals of the bootstrapped values derived to give the confidence intervals of the HC<sub>5</sub>.

#### 3.2.6 Variation in chemical sensitivity across reference sites

A total of 33,400 assemblage-specific  $HC_5$  values were generated (i.e. 835 sites by 40 chemicals). To ensure comparability between chemicals, the  $HC_5$  for each site and chemical combination was

standardised using the 50th percentile  $HC_5$  value for that chemical by dividing all assemblage  $HC_5$  values by the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile assemblage  $HC_5$  for that chemical. The distribution of predicted  $HC_5$  values across all chemicals (33,400  $HC_5$  values) was visualised using a violin plot and the magnitude of difference of  $HC_5$  values across all sites and chemicals was calculated considering the range in the standardised  $HC_5$  values. To compare between different chemical types across the range and distribution (here taken as difference between 95% and 5% quantiles of the  $HC_5$  values), the properties of the  $HC_5$  distribution for each chemical were compared. The ranges and distributions for each chemical types, a one-way ANOVA featuring chemical type as the factor and Tukey tests used to distinguish between chemical types.

# 3.2.7 Influence of typology on assemblage composition and chemical sensitivity

To visualise the link between typology and assemblage composition, a non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (NMDS) plot was fitted to presence/absence data for the assemblages of 835 sites grouping taxa at the order rank. Bray-Curtis was the distance metric used and the NMDS attempted 20 fittings with goodness-of-fit being measured as stress with the aim of minimising stress. Loadings were calculated for each taxonomic order with adjustment for the frequency of each order such that higher frequency increases loading strength. Typologies were assigned to each site based upon those recorded in the RICT reference database (Wright, 1994), and visualised across two dimensions with adjusted loadings according to typology.

The Water Framework Directive categorises typology as being based upon the altitude, catchment area size and geology of the river sampled (Davy-Bowker et al., 2006). Each of these is subdivided into different categories: altitude above sea level into low (< 100 m), medium (100-1000m) and high (> 1000 m), catchment area into very small (<10m<sup>2</sup>), small (10 - 100 km<sup>2</sup>), medium (100 - 1000 km<sup>2</sup>), and large (> 1000 km<sup>2</sup>), and finally geology into calcareous, silicious or organic. Typologies have seen use within the WFD as the type and quantity of taxa expected in river ecosystems are associated with specific river typologies. The RICT reference sites have been categorised into each WFD category as part of inclusion in the database (Wright, 1994). For each chemical type, to analyse the link between typology and the most sensitive sites, a Chi squared test was used to compare the proportion of typologies represented across the 5% most sensitive assemblages for each chemical type and the overall proportion of each typology represented by the RICT reference sites.

# 3.2.8 Effects of climate change on assemblages

RICT is used for assessing water quality by comparing the sampled macroinvertebrate assemblage from a site to the theoretical expected macroinvertebrate assemblage that would be present in optimal water quality conditions as predicted by RICT (Wright et al., 1998). RICT does so by comparing the landscape and climate characteristics from the sampled site and to the properties of the reference sites. RICT then predicts the assemblage for the sampled site probabilistically for each taxon based upon on the similarity of landscape and climate characteristics between the sampled and reference sites. For reference sites more in common with the sampled sites, the taxa that were present at the reference sites are more probable in the sampled site. Therefore, RICT can also be used to predict the expected macroinvertebrate assemblage for a given set of climate and landscape characteristics.

When RICT predicts the assemblage, it utilises a series of landscape and climatic characteristics of the site. Under climate change conditions, landscape parameters intrinsically associated with the site such as river geology (as calcareous, siliceous and organic) and altitude will not be expected to change. Thus, of the parameters used by RICT, mean air temperature and discharge are the two categories that are influenced by the climate. RICT uses four discharge categories each an order of magnitude apart. Projected changes to mean river flow across various river catchments across the UK are expected to be between a -8.9% to +2.2% for UKCP18 projections for the A1B emission scenario, supporting similar findings for projections from UKCP09 datasets (Kay et al., 2021, 2020; Prudhomme et al., 2012). This change is far less than the order of magnitude difference between discharge categories used by RICT. Consequently, the change to mean air temperature will be the largest effect of climate change on RICT.

Projected mean air temperatures for the UK are produced by the UK Met Office (Lowe et al., 2018). The latest version of the United Kingdom Climate Projections (UKCP) are from 2018 (with revisions in 2019) are known as UKCP18 and are the climate projections used in this study (Met Office, 2019). The UKCP18 dataset is available at a variety of time periods and resolutions. To reflect the local climate of each reference sites and to match the climate data used within Chapter 2, UKCP18 data at the 5km resolution was used. The 5km resolution uses projections for the RCP 8.5 pathway and mean temperature projections between 1980-2000 (baseline) and 2060-2080 (future) were used matching the scenarios in Chapter 2. Each of the 835 sites were linked to the nearest UKCP18 5km grid square and the daily mean air temperature data across the scenario period extracted and then averaged annually to form the baseline and future air temperature value for each site. Mean daily air temperature at 10m was used as this was the value used in constructing RIVPACS, the original model underlying RICT.

Using these UKCP18 values, the built-in air temperature value for the reference sites was replaced with the respective baseline or future temperature and then run within RICT. RICT predicted the probability of taxa being present at the site and a cut off probability of occurrence of 0.5 was used in accordance with the cut off originally used within RICT (Wright et al., 1996). By repeating this process for each of the 835 reference sites, 1670 macroinvertebrate assemblages for each site under baseline and future conditions was formed. To fill the necessary taxonomic rankings for running the hSSD model, the NCBI database was used for macroinvertebrate taxonomy with the taxize package (Chamberlain and Szöcs, 2013). This completed missing taxonomic ranks from the taxa RICT predicted with any remaining blank taxonomic ranks filled with the format Unknown (x rank) where x is the taxa and rank the taxonomic rank which is known (e.g. Unknown (Coleoptera family) where a toxicity endpoint for Coleoptera was available only at the family level of classification).

#### 3.2.9 Assemblage composition under climate change and chemical sensitivity

When accounting for the effect of climate change on assemblage composition it was necessary to quantify by how much macroinvertebrate composition shifts under climate change (using the RICT predictions from 3.2.8). Jaccard similarity (Jaccard, 1912) was calculated to compare assemblage composition at each of the 835 sites under baseline and future climate conditions. The Jaccard Similarity (j) was calculated as below, where two assemblages have the number of taxa A and B, and  $A \cap B$  is the number of taxa in common between the two assemblages.

$$j = \frac{A \cap B}{A + B - A \cap B}$$

The hSSD model was then applied to the baseline and future assemblages for each chemical to calculate  $HC_5$  values according to the same methodology as the RICT reference sites (see 3.2.5, 6000 runs with first 1000 burned, SSD fitted with a log-normal function)

To compare the assemblage sensitivity (as  $HC_5$  values) of baseline and future assemblages for one chemical, a paired t-test was used including the  $HC_5$  values from each site. This was repeated for all chemicals, the results from which were then grouped by chemical type (i.e. insecticides, metals and narcotics). To analyse the effect of climate change on the change to  $HC_5$  between baseline and future sites and whether this varied depending on chemical type, a two-way ANOVA incorporating both climate change and chemical type was performed, with Tukey tests to compare the chemical types. These analyses were performed for both the mean change in  $HC_5$  and the distribution (here taken as difference between 95% and 5% quantiles of the  $HC_5$  values) of  $HC_5$  values across sites.

# 3.3 Results

# 3.3.1 Chemical and assemblage taxonomy with model predictions

Using the chemical selection methodology described in 3.2.2, 40 chemicals were considered suitable with all having between 12 and 177 suitable toxicity endpoints depending on the chemical across phyla coverage of between 82.3% and 98.2% of the RICT reference dataset. A full breakdown of the toxicity data on a per chemical basis is presented in Appendix Table A3.1

The hSSD model was constructed with the following relationship; as the taxonomic distance between the taxon to be predicted and the nearest taxonomic rank for which toxicity data is available increases, the strength of correlation between the prediction and toxicity data decreases and the uncertainty surrounding the prediction increases. A comparison of the overlap in taxonomy of the assemblages at 835 reference sites compared to the toxicity datasets for the 40 chemicals is presented in Figure 3.1 for different taxonomic levels (a full breakdown on a chemical type and individual chemical basis is presented in Table A3.1). At the phylum level, at least 93% of phyla in reference assemblages were represented in toxicity data sets for metals (98%), insecticides (95%), and narcotics (93%). The phyla not represented in toxicity data sets were those most infrequently tested and were also rarely recorded within the RICT reference dataset such as Tardigrada, Porifera and Cnidaria. The proportion taxa to be predicted that overlapped with the taxa in the toxicity data decreased at lower taxonomic ranks (Figure 3.1), with only 6-10% of the 635 taxa in the reference sites sharing a genus with the toxicity data (mean across chemicals grouped by type, for individual chemicals the range was 0.1 - 22.5%).

The hSSD model was first tested with a leave one out analysis using the toxicity datasets from 40 chemicals. For each of the 40 chemicals, the  $EC_{50}$  value for each taxon in the toxicity dataset was predicted from the  $EC_{50}$  data for other taxa in that dataset. The Pearson R<sup>2</sup> value calculated between the actual and predicted toxicity data ranged between 0.4 to 0.5 across all taxonomic ranks (i.e. species-specific predictions based on toxicity data for taxa in the same genus, family, order, class or phylum). A second leave one out analysis, using family and genus data only in the extrapolation, resulted in an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.83 across all chemicals for species-specific predictions based on taxa in the same genus.



Chemical Type 🖨 Insecticide 🛱 Metal 🛱 Narcotic

# 3.3.2 Distribution of chemical sensitivity across reference sites

The 122 version hSSD model was used to calculate the  $EC_{50}$  values for all species present at the reference sites, then specific HC<sub>5</sub> values were calculated for each of the 835 site-specific assemblages and for each of the 40 study chemicals. Assemblage-specific HC<sub>5</sub> values were standardised across different chemicals by dividing by the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile HC<sub>5</sub> for that chemical and the distribution of the resulting 33,400 HC<sub>5</sub> values is presented in Figure 3.2. Most sites fell around the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile (ie. a standardised log<sub>10</sub>[predicted HC<sub>5</sub>] of 0 in Figure 3.2), although the range if HC<sub>5</sub> values among sites was large, with different assemblages having HC<sub>5</sub> values of over 3 orders of magnitude apart. There was a positive skew to this range with the upper tail for sites with high HC<sub>5</sub> extending further beyond the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile than sites with smaller HC% values. On a per chemical basis, the distribution of HC<sub>5</sub> values for specific chemicals and their chemical type without standardisation of the HC<sub>5</sub> is presented in the appendix (Figure 3.3).

Figure 3.1 Mean percentage overlap at differing taxonomic ranks between taxonomy in the reference 835 sites and toxicity data for 40 chemicals grouped by chemical type (with the number of chemicals in each type being 24 insecticides, 5 metals and 11 narcotics). Boxplots representing the 25<sup>th</sup>, 50<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentile across all combinations with whiskers representing the media plus 1.5 times the inter-quartile range



Figure 3.2 Distribution of 33,400 predicted  $HC_5$  values from across 835 reference sites in the UK and 40 chemicals presented on a base 10 logarithmic axis. As species and therefore assemblages have chemical-dependent sensitivity, the site  $HC_5$  values have been standardised by dividing by the 50th percentile site  $HC_5$  for that chemical.

The proportional range of HC<sub>5</sub> values (maximum HC<sub>5</sub> divided by the minimum HC<sub>5</sub>) varied depending on chemical type. Insecticides, which have a toxic mode of action targeting insect species, exhibited a significantly greater range of HC<sub>5</sub> values than narcotics, which exhibit general toxic effects (Figure 3.4, F value = 30, DF = 2, 37, p = <0.001). On average, the proportional range of HC<sub>5</sub> values for assemblages at references sites varied by a factor of 25.2 for insecticides, much greater than the factor of a factor of 2.68 for metals and a factor of 2.51 for narcotics.



Figure 3.3 Comparison of the calculated HC<sub>5</sub> values across the 835 RICT reference sites for 40 different chemicals. Chemicals have been coloured by chemical type representing their grouping and effect on macroinvertebrate taxa



Figure 3.4 Proportional difference between the predicted  $HC_5$  values for the maximum and minimum range across sitespecific assemblages across sites where the proportional range is the maximum  $HC_5$  divided by the minimum  $HC_5$ . Letters denote results of pair-wise comparisons (Tukey's HSD test) and means values sharing the same letter are not significant different (p < 0.05). Results have been presented on a logarithmic base 10 scale with the mean represented as the central point with 95% confidence interval error bars while values for individual chemicals are represented as smaller points

# 3.3.3 Influence of typology on assemblage composition and chemical sensitivity

Reference sites differ in the composition of their macroinvertebrate assemblage in accordance with the physical properties of the site included in the Water Framework Directive (WFD) as presented in Figure 3.5. The NMDS plots in Figure 3.5 show the ordination of 835 RICT reference sites based on the presence of macroinvertebrate families in each site-specific assemblage. Sites are colour-coded to indicate WFD classifications of river geology, altitude above sea level and river catchment size. The NMDS plot of site-specific assemblages had Spearman correlation of 0.867, and the loadings collated at the order rank are shown on the plot. In general, loadings were more strongly aligned with the NMDS1 axis than the NMDS2 axis, and the NMDS1 axis was the primary differentiator between sites. Major Insecta orders including Plecoptera, Odonata and Ephemeroptera among others, and the worm order Lumbriculida were associated with negative NMDS1 values. In contrast most soft bodied invertebrate orders, such as Mollusca (including Bivalva and Gastropoda) and leeches (Arhynchobdellida and Rhynchobdellida) with positive NMDS1 values. Positive NMDS1 values were also associated with a different set of Arthropod taxa including Isopoda Crustacea, Trombidiformes (freshwater mites) and multiple Insecta clades: Hemiptera, Lepidoptera, Megaloptera, and Neuroptera.



Figure 3.5 Ordination of the 835 RICT reference sites based upon family level assemblage composition with non-metric dimensional scaling across two axes with arrows demoting loadings at the order level. Typologies have been separated out based upon the classification according to Water Framework Directive with the three component categories of riverbed geology (A), altitude (B, ≤100m above sea level low, > 100m above sea level medium), and river catchment size (<10m<sup>2</sup>, 10 - 100 km<sup>2</sup>, 100 - 1000 km<sup>2</sup>, > 1000 km<sup>2</sup> from very small to large respectively)

All the typological categories of geology, altitude and catchment size exhibited differentiation in the NMDS, particularly along the NMDS1 axis (Figure 3.5). Figure 3.6 shows that the midpoint for organic sites at all altitudes, and both calcareous and silicious sites at medium altitude was at NMDS1 values of below one, while lowland (<100m altitude) calcareous sites had their midpoint at a positive value of 0.31 and was significantly higher than all other typologies. Low silicious sites had a midpoint of 0.00 and again, were significantly different to all other typologies. River catchment size is partially autocorrelated with altitude; upland sites are nearer to river source and therefore have both smaller catchment sizes and are at higher altitudes compared to the large drainage basins associated with lowland rivers. Supporting this, catchment size increased positively along the NMDS1 axis. Consequently, these patterns of typology align with the effect of taxonomy on the NMDS scales. Smaller upland rivers and those with silicious and organic geologies tend to have more of specific Insecta taxa such as stoneflies (Plecoptera), mayflies (Ephemeroptera), beetles (Coleoptera) and caddisflies (Trichoptera) than large lowland and calcareous rivers which are more associated with other Insecta species (e.g. Heteroptera), Isopoda Crustacea, and Mollusca taxa.



Typology

Figure 3.6 Violin plots indicating the distribution of assemblages and their associated NMDS1 scores based upon ordination at the Order level for the taxonomy of 835 RICT reference sites separated by typology with the midpoint of each displayed as a point in the violin plot. Letters denote results of pair-wise comparisons (Tukey's HSD test) and means values sharing the same letter are not significant different (p < 0.05). Typologies have been separated out based upon the classification according to Water Framework Directive with the three component categories of riverbed geology and altitude (<100m above sea level low, > 100m above sea level medium) When considering the most sensitive assemblages for each chemical (here the 5% most sensitive), the proportion of sites belonging to each typology (where typology is one of six combining the WFD geology and altitude classification) varied depending on chemical type (Figure 3.7B). Compared to the proportion of these typologies in the reference sites (Figure 3.7A) there were significant differences in the 5% most sensitive assemblages for metals (X-squared = 115, df = 5, p < 0.001) and narcotics (X-squared = 24, df = 5, p < 0.001). In contrast there was no significant difference between the proportion of typologies in the 5% most sensitive sites for insecticides and the proportion of typologies in the RICT reference sites (X-squared = 2.9, df = 5, p > 0.99). Metals were associated with low calcareous sites where they were proportionally more of the sensitive sites (77%) than for both insecticides (38%) and narcotics (52%). Concurrently, proportionally fewer of the most sensitive sites were of medium silicious typology for metals (4%) than for insecticides (25%) and narcotics (22%). For some typologies, comparatively few of the 835 reference sites were of these typologies (e.g. medium organic and low organic composed only 4 and 14 sites or 2.5% and 4.5% of total sites respectively in the RICT reference dataset) meaning drawing conclusions for such typologies is difficult.



Figure 3.7 Plots displaying the typological distribution of the sites associated with A, each assemblage from the RICT reference sites and B amongst the 5% most sensitive assemblages based on the predicted  $HC_5$  values for each chemical grouped by chemical type. Typologies were defined based on geology and altitude three component categories of riverbed geology, altitude ( $\leq 100m$  above sea level low, > 100m above sea level medium) On B, \* indicate chemical types where the typologies from the sites of the 5% most sensitive assemblages are significantly (p < 0.05) different to the proportion of assemblages associated with the site typologies of the RICT reference sites

#### 3.3.4 Effects of future climates on assemblages and their chemical sensitivity

Running RICT with the reference site data but with meteorological characteristics altered resulted in two scenarios for each site, a baseline and future assemblage. The amount of change in taxonomic composition was not the same over all sites, as shown in Figure 3.8 where Jaccard similarity indicated how similar the assemblage compositions are, and Jaccard similarity decreases with an increase in temperature change between baseline and future conditions (linear model, gradient = -0.16, df = 835, 834, t value = 16.9, p value < 0.001). There are notable peaks at similarities of 0.3 and 0.5 not associated with any typology (ANOVA, df = 5, F value = 1.91, p value = 0.09) likely corresponding to thresholds within the RICT model.



Figure 3.8 Jaccard index measuring similarity between the assemblage composition of the future scenario compared to the

assemblage composition of the baseline scenario for each of the 835 reference sites, where a Jaccard index of 0 is total dissimilarity and 1 is total similarity. Both baseline and future assemblages were predicted by RICT utilising UKCP18 climate data for mean daily temperature and range at a 5km scale for each site

The shift in taxonomic composition also altered the sensitivity of the sites as the predicted HC<sub>5</sub> values changed across chemical types. Considering the mean HC<sub>5</sub> across each site for all chemicals (Figure 3.9A), when grouping by chemical types both insecticides and narcotics exhibited a significant increase to mean HC<sub>5</sub> of 16.1% and 2.7% respectively and therefore an average decrease in site sensitivity due to future assemblage composition compared to baseline assemblages (t value = 45, DF = 19031, p < 0.001 and t value = 12.25, DF = 8722, p < 0.001 respectively). There was no significant change in the mean HC<sub>5</sub> between the baseline and future scenarios for metals (2.7% increase, t value = 1.54, DF = 3964, p = 0.12). However, there was a significant difference between the mean HC<sub>5</sub> value for insecticides and narcotics with assemblages shifting to become increasingly less sensitive to insecticides than narcotics (F value = 3.78, DF = 2, 37, p = 0.032).

In contrast, the range between the 5% least and most sensitive sites is set to significantly decrease under climate change for all chemical types, with the 50<sup>th</sup> percentile range for insecticides, metals and

narcotics having a decreased range of 32%, 27% and 16% respectively (Figure 3.9B). Although this pattern was common across all chemical types, insecticides exhibited a significantly greater decrease to this range than narcotic chemicals (F value = 7.93, DF = 2, 37, p = 0.014).



Figure 3.9 The percentage change to A, the mean  $HC_5$  across sites and B, the change range between the 5% lowest and highest  $HC_5$  values for each chemical grouped by type when predicting  $HC_5$  values for assemblages predicted under future climate conditions (2060-2080) compared to baseline conditions (1980-2000). The results have been grouped by chemical type with letters denoting results of pair-wise comparisons (Tukey's HSD test) and means values sharing the same letter are not significant different (p < 0.05). For plot A, \* denote chemical types where the change to  $HC_5$  was significantly (<0.05) different from 0%, representing a change to mean  $HC_5$  from shifting assemblage composition. For B, all chemicals were significantly (<0.05) different from 0%

#### 3.4 Discussion

Spatial and temporal variation in the taxonomic composition of stream macroinvertebrate communities is well established and based upon records on macroinvertebrate samples in the UIK dating back to 1980s (Bradley and Ormerod, 2001; Vaughan and Ormerod, 2012). Such communities change in composition due to environmental stressors, such as pollutants or changes in temperature, changing species' niche compatibility and interspecific interactions, driving population changes, migration and colonisation. On the other hand, understanding of how species composition translates into ecosystem sensitivity to chemicals is poorly understood (Gessner and Tlili, 2016). Any consideration of the threat posed by chemicals to natural species assemblages faces a major challenge; toxicity data are only available for a limited number of species meaning the sensitivity of each of the diverse species in natural ecosystems is unknown. Therefore, there is a need to develop and improve approaches capable of extrapolating toxicity data from tested species to multiple untested species in assemblages of interest. In this chapter, the hSSD model has been used to predict the sensitivity of untested species in natural assemblages and to investigate how variation in the taxonomic composition of natural assemblages influences their sensitivity to chemical pollutants.

To capture the likely effects of agrochemicals on natural ecosystems, 835 minimally impacted sites (those experiencing only minor changes to river structure, watershed and pollution since preindustrial times) in the UK formed the base assemblages for predicting sensitivity (Wright et al., 1996). To represent the suite of agrochemicals, toxicity datasets for 40 chemicals, grouped by chemical type and effect on invertebrate taxa, were investigated to establish whether the variation in sensitivity would affect the outcome of Environmental Risk Assessments (ERAs) and if there was any linkage between the spatially variable typological properties of the site and therefore assemblage and chemical sensitivity. Furthermore, a reinterpretation of the RICT model, usually used for assessing water quality, has been used to predict the effect of rising temperatures associated with future climate change on invertebrate composition. While this option for the RICT model has been previously highlighted (Armitage, 2000), it has not seen applied use and thus this research represents a novel reinterpretation of RICT. By combining predicted changes to taxonomic composition with species-specific toxicity predictions from the hSSD model, a novel use for RICT has been found. This is as a way to quantify how taxonomic composition changes under climate change affect the sensitivity of natural ecosystems.

# 3.4.1 Model functionality and applicability

The hSSD model provides a way to predict chemical-specific sensitivity values for taxa without toxicity data (i.e. untested taxa for the focal chemical) that can be integrated into an SSD for the entire assemblage and used to calculate an assemblage-specific HC5 value for a specific chemical. The predictive power of the model is a function of the toxicity dataset for each chemical to the assemblage being predicted, namely the taxonomic distance being extrapolated over, and the quantity and extent of concordance of the toxicity data at each taxonomic rank. Although the hSSD model has was developed and tested for functionality and statistical robustness (Craig, 2013), this study is the first time it has applied to naturally occurring assemblages. Consequently, additional analyses were performed to evaluate the robustness of the hSSD model. Two types of leave-one-out analyses were performed; the first predicted a sensitivity value for each taxon in the toxicity dataset using all other toxicity datapoints and resulted in a of correlation > 0.4 for all chemicals reflecting the expected relationship of taxonomic distance and sensitivity from taxonomically diverse sensitivity datasets (Craig, 2012). The second leave-one-out analysis tested extrapolations where a high degree of correlation would be expected ie. a taxonomic distance of the family and genus level between the toxicity data to the predicted species. Predictions to taxonomic data separated at the at the family and genus level resulted in mean correlations of 0.83 and 0.85 respectively across all chemicals demonstrating the functionality of the model and applicability to species in natural ecosystems.

The hSSD model is only one approach to addressing prediction of species toxicity, but while genomicsbased or trait-based methods may be able to provide greater insight into assemblage sensitivity, both methods are limited by their data requirements not covering the genomes and full trait profiles for the 637 taxa recorded in the RICT reference data (Blomberg et al., 2003; Guenard et al., 2014; van den Berg et al., 2021). Thus, given the ubiquity of organism taxonomy, the major data requirement for the hSSD model is for a wide range of taxonomic data that covers a sufficiently broad range of the phyla, classes and families to be predicted making the hSSD method easier to apply than other predictive methods. For extensively researched chemicals with a broad taxonomic coverage the hSSD model provides a useful method for predicting assemblage sensitivity but has limited utility for data-poor chemicals such as newly synthesised pesticides or emerging chemical contaminants (US EPA, 2018). This limitation has been shown within the datasets; using the selection criteria described in 3.2.5 (10 acute EC<sub>50</sub> endpoints for at least 10 unique taxa and coverage of at least 80% of the phyla represented in the RICT dataset) there are no pharmaceuticals with taxonomically rich enough datasets to run the hSSD model and therefore provide reliable sensitivity predictions. While the use of taxonomy as the basis of sensitivity predictions allows the application of the hSSD to a diverse set of macroinvertebrates, there are limitations: taxonomic ranks represent differing levels of phylogenetic distance and therefore genetic similarity between different invertebrate clades, yet rank is being used as a discrete proxy for genetic similarity of chemical sensitivity (Barraclough, 2010; Pfrender et al., 2010). Secondly the genetic difference between taxa does not necessarily relate directly to sensitivity, with some sensitivity influencing traits (e.g. body size, lipid content) being highly labile between members of the same genus (Blomberg et al., 2003; Rubach et al., 2010). Regarding the former, while phylogenetic methods exist, but have poor applicability to natural ecosystems as the phylogenetic tree for all macroinvertebrates has not been resolved (Guenard et al., 2014; Malaj et al., 2016). This means that the extent of genetic similarity between many macroinvertebrate taxa is currently unknown, although improvements to mass sequencing may permit this method in the future and supplant taxonomy utilising relatedness-based methods of predicting species sensitivity. Regarding the second point, there are cases of closely related species e.g. those separated at the genus level and even intraspecific phenotypic differences, that exhibit drastically different sensitivities to the same toxicant, due to the traits of the organisms that are not currently accounted for in traits-based methods (van den Berg et al., 2019). Again applicability to a wide range of macroinvertebrates is an issue as trait knowledge is a limiting factor with many non-arthropod clades being incomplete, although this is improving (Hébert et al., 2016; Rubach et al., 2010). Ideally, an integrated predictive methodology combining the hSSD with other sensitivity prediction methods, such as genomics-based and trait-based approaches may provide the most suitable and accurate method of predicting species sensitivity (van den Berg et al., 2021). However, given the early stage of research into predictive sensitivity, a proof of application for the hSSD model has been demonstrated here that can be built upon.

# 3.4.2 Assemblage sensitivity considering chemical type and site typology

The predicted  $HC_5$  values for each site-specific assemblage demonstrate that chemical sensitivity varies between assemblages, and that the magnitude of this variation is influenced both by type of chemical being studied and the river typologies of the sites being compared. The range of assemblage sensitivity (measured as chemical-adjusted  $HC_5$ ) averaged out over all chemicals as a factor of 16.1, although this varied greatly by chemical identity. While some chemicals, such as tolulene exhibited little difference in sensitivity (factor of 0.9), 21 chemicals varied by a factor greater than 5, and 15 chemicals had sensitivities vary by orders of magnitude (factor of >10) including endrin with largest factor of difference at 154. This extent of between assemblage variation in sensitivity means the location of chemical exposure is important as specific locations may be more prone to chemical

exposure, supporting existing literature on the site variability on the effects of chemical pollution (Beketov et al., 2009; Berger et al., 2017), while also providing a quantitative and chemical specific sensitivity value. Contextualising in an ERA perspective, over half the chemicals investigated would exhibit greater sensitivity between sites than covered by the assessment factor of 5 recommended for ERAs based upon SSDs to account for spatial variation, among other sources of uncertainty (ECHA, 2008; EFSA, 2013a).

Moving beyond pan-chemical considerations, the range in assemblage sensitivity varies between chemical types. Some chemicals target particular groups of invertebrate species (i.e. specifically acting chemicals) whereas other have a broader spectrum of activity (i.e. generally acting chemicals). In this study, insecticides, which specifically target arthropods, are notable for having significantly larger between-assemblage variation in sensitivity than other chemicals studied (i.e. metals and narcotics). This supports the hypothesis postulated in the Introduction that assemblages will exhibit a greater range in sensitivity for specifically acting chemicals as the differences in taxonomic composition will in the sensitive taxa in the assemblage determining the HC<sub>5</sub>. This result represents the first broadscale investigation of how assemblage composition can affect sensitivity; Posthuma et al. (2019) have calculated SSDs for 1760 chemicals and over 22,000 waterbodies but only considered variation in chemical fate dynamics without any consideration on how spatial variation in assemblage composition affects the SSDs and therefore sensitivity. In contrast, Birk et al. (2020) investigated multistressor effects, including agrochemical toxicity, on a series of 33 mesocosm and 36 watershed basins. While taxon-sensitivity indices were used within the study, these were to inform biodiversity as a response to multiple stressors rather than a factor driving variation in sensitivity to agrochemicals. Thus, the hSSD methodology of predicting and assessing assemblage specific HC<sub>5</sub> could represent nuanced assessment of agrochemical risk not currently given due consideration.

Given that it has been established that variation in assemblage sensitivity (HC<sub>5</sub>) that is dependent on the taxonomic composition of assemblage, any environmental factors that influence assemblage composition could therefore also influence chemical sensitivity. River typology, defined in terms of altitude, geology and catchment size, has been shown to be an important determinant of UK macroinvertebrate assemblage composition (Davy-Bowker et al., 2006; Townsend et al., 2003). Landscape typology acts as a factor influencing assemblage composition, with patterns between taxonomy and geology, and the linked variables of altitude and catchment size observed. Investigating how the link related to agrochemical sensitivity, the hypothesis that assemblage sensitivity would also vary between river typologies was supported. Assemblages sensitive to metals and narcotics were more abundant in low altitude calcareous rivers compared to the proportion of reference sites with this typology. Low altitude calcareous sites were associated with Isopoda Crustacea and soft bodied taxa such as Hirudinea (leeches), and Mollusca. Molluscs are known to be particularly sensitive to metals, such as copper (Bjerregaard et al., 2015; Verschoor et al., 2011). In contrast the distribution of assemblages sensitive to insecticides was not significantly different to the proportion of each typology in the RICT reference dataset. Insecta and Crustacea are highly sensitive to insecticides and therefore drive the sensitive end of the SSD shape and therefore greatly influence the HC<sub>5</sub> (Forbes and Calow, 2002). However, unlike other invertebrate clades which are associate only with zero to positive NMDS1 values, Insecta and Crustacea taxa are ubiquitous in UK freshwater ecosystems irrespective of typology, albeit with different clades being found at positive and negative NMDS1 values. This also meant that the sensitive insecticide taxa are likely to be present across NMDS1 scales irrespective of the river typology.

# 3.4.3 Accounting for climate change on assemblage composition

The implications of climate change for freshwater communities has been investigated and the combined influences of changing climate and water quality have been observed on broad large scale patterns (EFSA et al., 2020; Pearson et al., 2016; Vaughan and Ormerod, 2014). Equally, Chiu et al., (2017) investigated a specific Californian watershed as a case study area on the effects of climate change on invertebrate communities and their response to chemical contamination. However, currently no methodologies exist for quantifying the consequences of climate-induces changes in assemblage composition on chemical sensitivity that can be adapted to different chemicals and sites. This was addressed here by using the RICT model to predict site-specific assemblages under baseline (1980-2000) and future (2060-2080) climate conditions using site-specific temperature predictions from UKCP18 RCP 8.5 and then comparing the predicted HC<sub>5</sub> values between the baseline and future assemblages.

The RICT model is primarily used to calculate the water quality of a location based on the presence of freshwater invertebrate species given the physical parameters of the site (Clarke et al., 2003). However, by effectively running the model using altered physical parameters, the model can be used to predict species compositions rather than assess quality (Armitage, 2000). There are some limitations of using RICT for these purposes not encountered during the normal use of the RICT model, particularly where temperatures rise beyond those in any of the reference sites. Following extreme climate change, some locations will have moved their meteorology beyond any of the reference sites in the model resulting in increased uncertainty over the results. Moving forwards, with the WFD directive seeing use across multiple countries, including those who currently experience climate conditions comparable to future UK river sites, integration of such sites with the RICT model could

prove useful for evaluating shifts in community composition under climate change (Kochskämper et al., 2016; Wilby et al., 2006).

The similarity in the predicted baseline and future assemblages at the 835 reference sites varied between 0.13 and 1.0 (ie. no change), with the median similarity being exactly 0.5. Future changes in assemblage composition were associated with decreases in the sensitivity of assemblages to chemical exposure (i.e. increase in HC<sub>5</sub>), although this was only statistically significant for assemblages exposed to insecticides or narcotics. The quantification of the effects of climate change on chemical sensitivity from assemblage composition represent a novel application little investigated; Chiu et al. (2017) noted little to no change in the SPEAR index in agricultural land and an increase in some upland streams. However, the SPEAR index is not chemical specific and could not be used to compare the change in risk on a per-chemical basis as considered here (Beketov and Liess, 2008; Liess and von der Ohe, 2005).

The results from this chapter are that the shifts to assemblage composition from climate change will have relatively limited effect on the site sensitivity with a slight increase in median site tolerance across all chemical types. However, it should be noted that there was a corresponding decrease to the range of sensitivities between sites by varying percentages (45 – 106%) for all chemicals, and therefore an decrease to the proportion of sites below the 5% most sensitive sites under baseline conditions not reflected in the change to the 50th percentile HC<sub>5</sub>. While the overall increase in the median tolerance of assemblages to chemicals under climate warming was common across all chemical types, at the individual species level, many studies have reported additive or synergistic effects between warming and chemical exposure (Cuco et al., 2016; Janssens et al., 2017; Khoma et al., 2021; Nieto et al., 2016; Rathore and Khangarot, 2002; Silva et al., 2020; Tran et al., 2018), which may counteract the increase in chemical tolerance due to compositional changes.

#### 3.4.4 Applied use of the hSSD model

The use of the hSSD model to assess assemblage specific sensitivity has relevance to status of freshwaters and water quality, including under climate change scenarios. Biological monitoring remains important in the assessment of pollution, and will remain relevant for where long-term chemical exposure is expected to occur, but the hSSD model provides an opportunity to highlight locations with taxonomic compositions vulnerable to specific chemicals of interest and pre-empt necessary action (Camargo, 1994; Vernier et al., 2017). In addition, chemicals themselves may influence communities, so complex interactions may occur as chemical risk is alleviated or alters but climate change worsens (Berger et al., 2017; Vaughan and Ormerod, 2012). This also highlights the need for forecasting and for regular invertebrate sampling to identify both sites affected by chemical

pollution and climate change, but also those who have undergone shifts in community structure and are now vulnerable to different chemical types.

One use of the hSSD method could be as a refinement within the ERAs for chemicals in the same way that SSDs themselves are used as a refinement with sufficient toxicity data (EFSA, 2013). However, the advantage of the hSSD method is increased realism compared to SSDs alone given the same number of toxicity data available. This is due to considering the sensitivity of natural taxa and reflecting variation in taxonomic composition between sites the toxicity data that exiting SSDs do not reflect (Newman et al., 2000; Posthuma et al., 2019; Raimondo et al., 2008).

The results here show that the range of sensitivities between site-specific assemblages goes beyond the current extrapolation factors used in ERAs when risk is considered (usually 5 for an SSD, and 10 or 100 for chronic and acute data alone respectively, EFSA, 2013). Furthermore, this is chemical dependent with chemicals with specific toxic modes of action, such as pesticides targeting specific organisms, are often those undergoing extensive regulation already and exhibit larger ranges in assemblage sensitivity (a mean factor of difference in the range of 25.2 for insecticides, compared to 2.68 for metals and 2.51 for narcotics). Consequently, the results here show that by not considering risk on a per-site basis, current risk assessments may be both not conservative enough for some specific sites and chemicals, and concurrently too conservative for others.

This study has demonstrated the potential for river typologies to be used to inform assemblage sensitivity, permitting a spatially variable risk assessment that can target locations with typologies associated with the most vulnerable taxonomic compositions. This could enable both a triage of atrisk sites based upon typology, as well as forming the basis of hypothetical risk scenarios with differing taxonomic compositions that would need to be passed for acceptable risk, enabling a spatially variable risk assessment. Existing freshwater risk assessments primarily account for spatial variation in risk from exposure with limited consideration of how biota influence sensitivity and therefore risk (EFSA, 2013a; Franco et al., 2017). While the toxicity data requirement of a diverse toxicity dataset to run the hSSD method may currently limit use to chemicals with taxonomically diverse datasets, one proposal could be for integration with ERAs as a higher tier refinement. To use the hSSD method within an ERA a suite a taxonomic ranks (e.g. Insecta, Crustacea, all major macroinvertebrate phyla) covered within the toxicity dataset could be specified that would be sufficient for the hSSD model to accurately run.

The results here show how the hSSD model can be used to predict assemblage sensitivity, and have assessed how climate change influences assemblage sensitivity across different chemical types. Chemicals that target specific organisms (e.g. the insecticides investigated here) exhibit the greatest

spatial variation in macroinvertebrate communities and represent a risk not currently covered by existing ERAs. Additionally, the relevance of river typologies and their associated macroinvertebrate assemblages is noted, for example with for lowland calcareous sites being vulnerable to metal pollutants. However, these observations form one aspect of the complexity surrounding the sensitivity aspect of chemical risk. For climate change, the shifts to assemblage composition from rising temperatures will on average not change or increase the tolerance of an average site to chemical pollution depending on the chemical.

While taxonomic composition informs one aspect of ecosystem sensitivity, it fails to account for community and population level dynamics, in particular food webs and interspecific interactions (Brose et al., 2019; Kidd et al., 2014). Furthermore, these dynamics themselves are affected by climate change independently of chemical pollution (Woodward et al., 2010), and understanding the multiple stressor conditions of chemical pollution and climate change add an additional layer of complexity. However, the hSSD method has shown to be a useful and novel tool for predicting assemblage risk of natural ecosystems that has previously not been investigated and paves the way for integration into a tiered ERA, for considerations of water quality, or with RICT and theoretical community and organism level consideration, the first step in a conceptual framework of the effects of climate change on ecosystem sensitivity.

# **CHAPTER 4**

Multi-stressor impacts in a warming world: the importance of multigenerational thermal acclimation

# Chapter 4. Multi-stressor impacts in a warming world: the importance of multigenerational thermal acclimation

# 4.1 Introduction

Freshwater ecosystems are potentially at risk from multiple chemical, physical and biological stressors (Reid et al, 2019), whose combined effects on individuals may have consequences for community structure and functioning (Birk et al., 2020; Vaughan and Ormerod, 2012). Climate change and pollution have been identified as major threats to freshwater biodiversity (IPBES, 2019) but the effects of temperature shock and toxic effects start by acting on the organism scale on acute and chronic timeframes. Negative effects on organisms go on to affect population and community dynamics, ultimately reducing ecosystems services., for example, knockout of organic matter decomposition following pollution events (Fent et al., 2006; Giller et al., 1998; Sokolova and Lannig, 2008). However, the co-occurrence of temperature stress and chemical exposure has a combined effect that can be described as antagonistic, additive or synergistic depending on whether the negative effects on the organism are less than, equal to or greater than those of each stressor independently.

#### 4.1.1 Interactions and mechanisms of temperature and toxicants

To investigate the existing research on the multi-stressor effects a literature search was performed using standardised search strings to capture ecotoxicological studies that investigate the interactions between temperature and chemical toxicity on invertebrate species. The search aimed to accounting for different types of macroinvertebrate taxa and climate change effects (e.g. heat wave, temperature rise, intermittent flow). Studies were filtered based on their relevance to the topic and must contain both temperature and chemical toxicity effects. In addition, they must be relevant to UK freshwater ecosystems meaning any marine studies or freshwater from non-relevant ecosystems were not considered. These studies cover a wide range of temperature increases, taxonomic and chemical groups, although the most common temperature increase studied was 3-5°C, which is the mean increase expected in the UK by the mid-end of the century based on the current climate projections (Lowe et al., 2018). From this search 35 suitable studies were considered, and the breakdown of study taxa, chemical, multi-stressor effect and endpoint type is presented in Figure 4.1.

Previous studies investigating multi-stressor effects indicate additive or synergistic effects of higher temperatures on toxicant sensitivity (Bae et al., 2016; Boeckman and Bidwell, 2006; C. M. S. Pereira et al., 2017). Synergistic interactions between climate change variables (including temperature) and toxic chemicals may be a result of the effect of chemical exposure on an organism's response to

climate change (i.e. toxicant-induced climate change sensitivity, TICS) or the effect of climate change on an organism's chemical sensitivity (i.e. climate change-induced toxicant sensitivity, CITS) (Hooper et al, 2013; Moe et al; 2013). Antagonistic temperature-chemical interactions may be a result of a temperature-induced change in exposure either via increase degradation rate of toxicant in the environment, increase detoxification, sequestration, or depuration the toxicant within the organism (toxicokinetics), or increase growth rate and body size resulting in dilution of internal toxicant concentrations (de Beeck et al., 2017; Verheyen and Stoks, 2020).



Figure 4.1 Flow chart collating 119 multi-stressor toxicity endpoints under temperature change collected from a systematic review into the multistressor effects of climate change on macroinvertebrate chemical sensitivity Endpoints are separated proportionally based upon four factors: invertebrate taxa tested at the class rank, chemical type grouped according to metal or pesticide target organism, multi-stressor response observed and the toxic endpoint calculated within the study

One limitation of the existing research investigating the combined effects of temperature stress and chemical toxicity is that the temperature change organisms experience is in the form of temperature shock or short-term (i.e. less than one generation) acclimation periods to temperature change. In natural ecosystems the effects of climate change are gradual, leaving time for organisms to acclimatise and adapt to different temperature regimes. Bae et al., (2016), Haap et al., (2016) and Tran et al., (2018) all investigated combined temperature and chemical stress on reproductive and growth parameters over two to four generations. However, these studies investigated temperature and chemical stressor co-occurrence, and therefore not representing any CITS effects from temperature altering chemical sensitivity. Furthermore, all studies were performed over a small number of generations (maximum 3) therefore not reflecting any potential long-term phenotypic changes in organisms that may mitigate the effects of temperature change. In contrast, another approach is to sample test taxa from populations exposed to differing temperature regimes either spatially (Dinh Van

et al., 2014; Op de Beeck et al., 2017) or temporally (Cuenca Cambronero et al., 2018). However, these are associated with two caveats: firstly, adaptations to environmental factors other than just temperature will have occurred that may also affect organism sensitivity, and secondly that the populations undergo sexual reproduction and therefore genetic adaptation as well as phenotypic acclimation occurs. Consequently, there is a need to establish whether similar results would occur from multi-generational asexual laboratory temperature acclimation alone.

#### 4.1.2 Thermal acclimation and multi-stressor effects

Short-term temperature changes are known to affect the functioning, life history and reproduction of organisms, for example with increased temperatures elevating biochemical stress responses and triggering life-stage changes and metamorphoses (Clark and Peck, 2009; Hofmann and Somero, 1995; Kroiher et al., 1992; Morgan and Jangoux, 2002). However, many organisms exhibit some level of adaptability to environmental changes, including temperature, with acclimation and evolutionary adaption occurring over multi-generational timescales (Brans and De Meester, 2018; Clarke, 1987; Reger et al., 2018). The impacts of temperature changes on organisms are therefore a function of thermal history, physiological acclimation and genetic adaptation. It is therefore hypothesised that organisms would exhibit reduced effects of temperature change (e.g. changes to generation time, time to first brood, reproductive investment) when acclimated to that temperature over multiple generations (Hypothesis 1).

The reproductive strategy exhibited by an organism can vary depending on environment, and temperature is one factor that influences how an organism invests resources in reproduction. For invertebrates, increasing temperatures have been associated with shorter generation times observed in all cases, and specifically increased fecundity at a less mature, smaller adult size (Brans and De Meester, 2018), a greater short-term reproductive investment (Clarke, 1987) and early maturation (Morgan and Jangoux, 2002). Chen and Stillman, (2012) demonstrated that *Daphnia* acclimatised at 25°C and 30°C exhibited little metabolic variation after 6 generations compared to those cultured at the original temperature of 15°C, but time to first brood decreased as acclimation temperature increased. Considering multi-stressor effects, with multi-generation phenotypic adjustment from acclimation, the reproductive strategy would be expected to alter towards that of the acclimatised temperature strategy. For example, it may be expected that higher temperatures lead to shorter generation times meaning investment in a smaller number of larger offspring at first brood (Hypothesis 2).

Most multi-stressor studies have either not acclimated study organisms to the test temperature or tested temperature change and chemical stress over multiple generations together. However, some have investigated the effects of short term acclimation on chemical sensitivity; Silva et al. (2020) acclimated *Daphnia* to different temperatures with a acclimation period of neonate to adult then introduced glyphosate testing for acute effects with acclimation being protective of the synergistic effects of increased temperature and glyphosate exposure. Moller et al. (1994) instead investigated the effect of two-month temperature acclimation on snails, followed by cadmium exposure. Again, acute toxicity was measured and increasing temperatures increased toxicity, although acclimation appeared to worsen the effects of cadmium exposure. If Hypothesis 1 is correct, and temperature does affect reproduction (Hypothesis 2) then it follows that multi-generation temperature acclimation will mitigate temperature-toxicant interactions (Hypothesis 3), noting that existing literature on the topic is both limited and has mixed outcomes relative to this hypothesis.

The effects of increasing temperature on an organism and their metabolic processes is non-linear with organisms reaching thermal maxima after going beyond a point of increased biochemical and metabolic rate (Dallas and Rivers-Moore, 2012a; Ernst et al., 1984; Williams et al., 2012). Thus, it would be expected that larger temperature increases are associated with greater multi-stressor effects than expected for a smaller temperature rise alongside exposure. Thus it is hypothesised that CITS will be greater for organisms experiencing larger temperature increases. Furthermore, the magnitude of CITS is expected to be greater for organisms acclimated at the higher temperatures as greater temperature increases are expected to be associated more stress to the organism and its ability to metabolise toxicants (Hypothesis 4).

# 4.1.3 Approach, and hypotheses and objectives

The importance of multigenerational acclimation to temperature change on temperature-toxicant interactions was investigated using *Daphnia magna* as the model system and copper as the exemplar toxicant. *Daphnia magna* is a common member of the zooplankton community in many lentic freshwater ecosystems, it is well suited to laboratory conditions, has a short generation time and is generally more susceptible to chemical stressors than other tested invertebrate species (Craig et al., 2012). *Daphnia* are extensively used within a regulatory environment as the standard invertebrate species being tested for both lethal (i.e. immobility) and sublethal (e.g. reproduction) effects (EFSA, 2013a; OECD, 2012, 2004). Copper is released into environments from mining and industrial activities and from agricultural land, where sources include pesticides and biosolid fertilizer applications, with known effects on freshwater ecosystems (de Oliveira et al., 2004; Gogos et al., 2012; Howard et al., 2015). Furthermore, as copper is a metal ion in solution it does not degrade; this means that 103

degradation can be ruled out. However, copper concentrations in the test solutions may change from uptake by and binding to organic matter (e.g. *Daphnia*, algal food, waste) or reacting and precipitating out of solution. *Daphnia* from a single clone were acclimated to different temperatures over multiple generations before exposing organisms from each acclimation temperature to copper at different test temperatures. The acclimation and test temperatures were 15 °C, 20 °C and 25 °C and the specific predictions tested were:

- Do *Daphnia* exhibit reduced effects of temperature when acclimated to that temperature over multiple generations?
- Does multigeneration temperature acclimation shift reproductive strategy between number of offspring and offspring size such that higher temperatures are associated with fewer, but larger offspring? Does combined temperature shock and copper exposure alter this relationship?
- What are the effects of temperature shock on the sensitivity of macroinvertebrates exposed to copper and does multigeneration temperature acclimation mitigate the effect of CITS on copper sensitivity?
- Are multistressor effects greater for larger magnitudes of temperature increase (i.e. acclimation at 15°C tested at 25°C) when compared to a temperature increase at lower temperatures (i.e. acclimation at 15°C tested at 20°C)?

# 4.2 Methods

# 4.2.1 Daphnia culture

*Daphnia magna* were obtained from the clonal line maintained at the University of Sheffield (Clone S-1, the historic line from Sheffield, UK, (Baird et al., 1991). These *Daphnia* had been maintained under complete darkness in a temperature-controlled room at 20°C, with feeding every other day with 1 mL of algae solution (*Chlorella* species, culture sustained under complete light conditions at 20 °C in Ebert medium) and weekly media changeovers in 1L plastic vessels. Aside from temperature and use isolated test vessels per individual, the test conditions were maintained within those recommended in OECD 211 (OECD, 2012) throughout the study. They are explained in further detail along with the methods for the acclimation process and copper exposure tests below. The media used for culturing *Daphnia* was a hard ASTM (American Society for Testing and Materials) solution enriched with 4 mL marinure/L with a hardness of 170 mg CaCO<sub>3</sub>/L and a pH of 7.4 (ASTM, 1980).

#### 4.2.2 Acclimation process

Acclimation began with 75 individuals from a clonal line that had exhibited no signs of stress, including atypical behaviour, limited mobility, discolorations, developmental defects or ephippia in their prior generations. Groups of five individuals were placed in approximately 260 mL glass jars with 250 mL of ASTM media and a set of five jars were placed in a temperature-controlled room and in two temperature-controlled cabinets, all of which were set at 20°C ±1°C in complete darkness. As before, feeding occurred every other day, with media changes every week with hard ASTM media. Jars were checked daily and all first brood neonates and any dead *Daphnia* were removed and discarded. All other neonates were isolated into new 260 mL glass jars with 250 mL of ASTM media to form the next generation. Once at least 25 neonates were ready from the next generation, the previous generation were maintained under the same conditions but not used for testing then disposed of once the next generation produced neonates. Following a one-week acclimation period at 20 °C, the temperature one of the temperature-controlled cabinets was decreased by 0.5 °C a week. Weekly 0.5°C temperature changes to the temperature-controlled cabinets occurred over a ten-week period until they reached the final acclimation temperatures of 15 and 25 °C. The temperature-controlled room was maintained at 20°C throughout in darkness.

# 4.2.3 Copper concentrations

Six concentrations of copper were selected across a range that would cover a value above the immobility  $EC_{50}$  at 25°C (34 µg Cu/L (Bae et al., 2016)) down to concentrations that would ensure that sub-lethal effects (including behavioural, growth and reproductive) would be triggered without the death of the test organisms. The test concentrations were 6, 9, 13, 20, 45 and 68 µg Cu /L and a control without any added copper. Hydrated copper (II) sulfate (from Timstar Laboratories, 40.0% copper content in ion form) was used as the source of copper ions and stock solutions were created by dissolving this 105compound in fresh ASTM solution. Test solutions were created by serial dilutions from a stock of 20 mg Cu/L, itself diluted from a 1 g Cu/L stock solution. The studies were semi-static with weekly renewals of test solutions prepared from stock solutions that were recreated on a weekly basis.

Copper samples were taken from the stock solutions, the initial and final test concentrations with a sample taken of the fresh test solutions at each concentration and sample taken from each test vessel at the end. Following filtration through a 0.45  $\mu$ m filter, 10 mL samples were fixed in solution using 0.1 mL of concentrated nitric acid grade >99%, and stored in darkness and under refrigeration at 4°C. The nitrified samples for the stock solutions were then analysed via spectrophotometric analysis using

a Perkin Elmer Optima 7300 V. This instrument analysed the concentration of copper using five wavelengths of 213.6, 222.5, 222.8, 224.7 and 327.4 nm using a 2mg/L Yttrium internal standard.

#### 4.2.4 Toxicity test design

Tests to assess the toxicity of copper to *Daphnia* were performed according to OECD 211 (OECD, 2012) where possible, although test duration was extended beyond 21 days to account for slower reproduction and generation times at 15°C. Except for the test temperatures and concentrations of copper, test conditions were as for the acclimation period (i.e. complete darkness, with feeding every other day and weekly media changeovers). Food was the same algae culture as for the acclimation period. Toxicity tests were performed with *Daphnia* from all three lines (15, 20 and 25 °C) exposed to all three test temperatures (15, 20 and 25 °C) in a Latin square format, resulting in nine acclimation x test temperature combinations. Triplicate copper toxicity tests were performed for each acclimation x test temperature combination. For each toxicity test (acclimation-test temperature replicate), seven non-first brood neonates (i.e. <24 hours old) were each placed in a 60 mL jar and exposed to 50 mL of ASTM with no additional copper added (control) or to 50 mL of copper spiked ASTM (for each of the following concentrations: 6, 9, 13, 20, 45 and 68 µg Cu/L).

#### 4.2.5 Measurement and parameters

Dissolved oxygen concentration and pH of the initial and final test solutions was measured with a YSI Professional Plus probe capable of measuring both parameters. Temperature was recorded daily for each temperature-controlled room or cabinet. *Daphnia* were checked daily to observe and measure toxic effects. The following parameters were investigated during the experiment: immobility (no movement including after gentle stimulation with a pipette), time to first reproduction, number in first brood, size of parent at first brood, size of neonates at first brood and the presence and size of any ephippia. *Daphnia* were checked for toxic effects (immobility, atypical behaviour, limited mobility, discolorations, developmental defects or ephippia) and neonates daily. Tests were run for 30 days if a full first brood of *Daphnia* had occurred, otherwise the test was extended to 40 days to enable more time for a first brood to occur.

The size of adults and neonate *Daphnia* was measured from photographs. Photographs taken with a USB camera attachment with 30 times magnification and the photographs measured with the program Measuring Body Length developed by Agatz et al., (2015). Body length was defined as the distance from the top of the head above the compound eye down to the base of the apical spine and average of three measurements taken (Comber et al., 1993; Green, 1956). *Daphnia* were measured at death where possible and on the day of every brood with neonates or ephippia being photographed

with the parents when present. Each brood was treated as separate, and each brood defined by the presence of neonates when no neonates had been observed on the prior day, thereby grouping neonates on consecutive days together.

#### 4.2.6 Data analysis

Data were analysed within R and three different analyses of reproductive parameters were performed based upon the research questions. Here the reproductive parameters used were time to first reproduction, size of parent at first brood, and the reproductive investment of the adult. Reproductive investment was calculated as the number of neonates multiplied by the mean size of neonates in that brood. The first analysis tested the effects of acclimation temperature on reproductive parameters and compared them to how temperature shock affected reproductive parameters. The second analysis assessed the relationship between how acclimation and test temperature alongside chemical exposure affected the reproductive parameters. Finally, a calculation of how acclimation and test temperature affected the calculated  $EC_{50}$  values for each reproductive parameter was performed.

The effects of acclimation and shock test temperature were compared by comparing how the reproductive parameters changed between acclimation-test temperature combinations using a twoway ANOVA with differences between combinations statistically compared with Tukey's honest significant difference tests. Reproductive investment was calculated as an index of the number of offspring multiplied by average neonate size, and the shifts between neonate size and number were assessed as for the reproductive parameters with a two-way ANOVA with differences between combinations statistically compared with Tukey's honest.

Direct toxic effects were considered using the shifts in reproductive parameters and reproductive strategy (increasing number of neonates against increasing neonate size) under increasing copper exposure for the acclimation-test temperature combinations relevant to investigating whether acclimation mitigated effects and whether magnitude of change was relevant. Due to the large number of combinations affecting toxicity (acclimation temperature, test temperature, chemical concentration, endpoint type) a MANOVA was performed to avoid replicating repeat statistical analysis and inappropriately low p values.

Dose response curves were fitted to acclimation-test temperature combinations across all replicates with non-linear log-logistic models. Dose response curves and effect concentrations ( $EC_x$ ) were calculated and visualised using the drm and ED functions of the drc package respectively which calculates dose response curves for the data; curve fitting was fitted to a four-parameter log-logistic function (Noel et al., 2018; Ritz, 2010). Comparisons directly between  $EC_{50}$  values for different

acclimation-test combinations were the result of two categorical factors, acclimation and test temperature. Consequently, as for investigating the effects of temperature on reproductive parameters, to investigate the effect of acclimation-test temperature combinations on EC<sub>50</sub> for each parameter two-way ANOVA with differences between combinations statistically compared with Tukey's honest significant difference tests were applied.

# 4.3 Results

# 4.3.1 Experimental parameters

Across all the controls (acclimation and test temperature the same and no additional concentration of copper) there was an overall mortality of 8.3%. This was due to one mortality for a *Daphnia* acclimated and tested at 20°C. All other control *Daphnia* did not appear to exhibit toxic effects throughout the study.

The temperature of the temperature-controlled rooms and cabinets did not vary by more than  $\pm 1^{\circ}$ C throughout the study except for one 23.9°C recording for 25°C acclimation temperature. Temperature ranges were 14.0°C to 15.6°C for 15°C acclimation, 20.1°C to 20.3°C for 20°C acclimation and 23.9°C to 24.7°C for 25°C acclimation. All temperatures were within the  $\pm 2^{\circ}$ C recommended within OECD 211 (OECD, 2012). Dissolved oxygen content of the test jars ranged between 88.6% to 102.7% throughout, well above the OECD 211 (OECD, 2012) recommended minimum oxygen concentration of >3 mg/L (roughly >40% oxygenation). For pH values recorded, the range was between 7.72 to 8.30 across all jars, within the ranges of and pH 6-9 and with a difference of less than 1.5 throughout the test recommended within OECD 211 (OECD, 2012).


Figure 4.2 Effects of shock temperature change (test temperature) on the reproductive and growth parameters of control *Daphnia* (no copper exposure) acclimated over multiple generations to  $15^{\circ}$ C,  $20^{\circ}$ C or  $25^{\circ}$ C (acclimation temperature). A, the time to first brood, B, adult size at their first brood and C, the reproductive investment of the adult in the first brood calculated as a measure of both the number and size of neonates. Boxplots represent the  $25^{\text{th}}$ , median and  $75^{\text{th}}$  percentiles, with whiskers the minimum and maximum values. Letters denote results of pair-wise comparison tests; values sharing the same letter are not significantly different (p > 0.05), for B and C no significant differences were observed.

The stock solutions of 20 mg Cu/L (from which test solutions were created), and 1 g Cu/L (from which the 20mg/L solution was created) underwent duplicate spectrophotometric analysis. The analysis across the five wavelengths were 96% and 98% of the nominal for the duplicate analysis on the 20 mg Cu/L solutions, and 96% and 94% of the nominal for the duplicate analysis of the 1 g Cu/L solutions.

#### 4.3.2 Reproductive parameters

#### Temperature on reproduction

Multigenerational temperature acclimation affected the reproductive performance of *Daphnia*, including before copper exposure. Temperature acclimation resulted in the *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C being on generation 8, while those acclimatised at 20 °C and 25 °C being on generation 11 and 12 respectively at the end of the 36-week acclimation period, indicating an increase time between generations. Within the study itself, for the controls the time to first brood was significantly affected by the test temperature (DF = 2, F = 72.8, p <0.001) and notable for the interaction between acclimation and test temperature (DF = 4, F value = 4.0, p value = 0.066), but not affected by acclimation temperature alone (DF = 2, F value = 0.009, p value = 0.99). Figure 4.3A shows these patterns and highlights that acclimation and testing at 15°C was significantly different to *Daphnia* tested at higher temperatures regardless of acclimation.

Regarding the size of adults at first brood in the controls (Figure 4.3B), there was no significant effect of acclimation temperature (DF = 2, F value = 0.5, p value = 0.61) or test temperature (DF = 2, F value = 0.25, p value = 0.78), and no significant interaction between the two (DF = 4, F value = 1.56, p value = 0.23). In contrast, for the reproductive investment of the controls (Figure 4.3C), there was a significant effect of acclimation temperature (DF = 2, F value = 4.2, p value = 0.03), although no significant effects of either test temperature alone (DF = 2, F value = 0.13, p value = 0.88) or the interaction of acclimation and test temperature (DF = 4, F value = 2.1, p value = 0.11) were observed.

#### *Shifts to reproductive strategy*

Although significant changes to reproductive investment were observed depending on the acclimation temperature, reproductive investment here was a measure of neonate size and number of neonates. Considering the number of neonates at first brood in the controls, there was a significant effect of acclimation temperature (DF = 2, F value = 3.6, p value = 0.046) and the interaction of acclimation temperature and test temperature (DF = 4, F value = 3.22, p value = 0.034), with no significant effects for test temperature (DF = 2, F value = 0.03, p value = 0.97). In contrast the only significant effect on neonate size was the interaction between acclimation and test temperature (DF = 4, F value = 3.6, p value = 0.02), with no significant effects for either acclimation temperature (DF = 2, F value = 0.25, p value = 0.78) or test temperature alone (DF = 2, F value = 2.1, p value = 0.15). As shown in Figure 4.3, the only significant multi-comparison difference between acclimation-test temperature combinations

was for the size of neonates of *Daphnia* acclimatised at 25°C and tested at 25°C being larger than those acclimatised at 25°C and tested at 20°C.



- Figure 4.3 Effects of shock-term temperature change (test temperature) reproductive investment parameters for control Daphnia (no copper exposure) acclimated over multiple generations to 15°C, 20°C or 25°C (acclimation temperature). A, first brood neonate count, B, mean neonate size in the first brood. Boxplots represent the 25<sup>th</sup>, median and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles, with whiskers the minimum and maximum values. Letters denote results of pair-wise comparison tests; values sharing the same letter are not significantly different (p > 0.05)
  - 4.3.3 Effects of temperature on copper toxicity and endpoints

# Temperature acclimation and toxicity

When assessing the multi-stressor effects of copper and temperature, any temperature shock was considered in comparison to the *Daphnia* acclimated and tested at the same temperature (i.e. acclimation-test temperature combinations of 15-15°C, 20-20°C and 25-25°C). A full set of calculated  $EC_{50}$  values is presented in the Table A4.1 of the appendix. Notably, the *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C and tested at 20°C were the least sensitive *Daphnia* tested. For these *Daphnia* the calculated  $EC_{50}$  values for all reproductive parameters ( $EC_{50 \text{ time to 1st brood}} = 41.1 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ ,  $EC_{50 \text{ size of adult at 1st brood}} = 42.9 \,\mu\text{g/L}$ ) were significantly less sensitive than all other acclimation-

test temperature combinations (except for the endpoint of adult size at first brood for *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C and tested at 20°C). In contrast, between *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C and tested at 15°C and tested at 25°C and tested at 25°C there was no significant difference in sensitivity in the endpoints for size of adult at first brood (EC<sub>50</sub> of for 15-15°C and for 25-25°C) and the reproductive investment (EC<sub>50</sub> of for 15-15°C and for 25-25°C). However, *Daphnia* acclimatised at 25°C and tested at 25°C and tested at 25°C and tested at 25°C for 15-15°C and for 25-25°C). However, *Daphnia* acclimatised at 25°C and tested at 25°C and tested at 25°C resulted in a significantly more sensitive endpoint (EC<sub>50</sub> of 2.8  $\mu$ g/L) for the time to first brood compared to those *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C and tested at 15°C and tested at 15°C (EC<sub>50</sub> of 17.2  $\mu$ g/L).



Figure 4.4 Effects of shock temperature increase (test temperature) on the reproductive and growth endpoints (EC<sub>50</sub>) of *Daphnia* exposed to copper following acclimation over multiple generations to 15°C, 20°C or 25°C (acclimation temperature).Plots are A, the time to first brood, B, adult size at their first brood and C, the reproductive investment of the adult in the first brood calculated as a measure of both the number and size of neonates. Boxplots represent the 25<sup>th</sup>, median and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles, with whiskers the minimum and maximum values. Letters denote results of pair-wise comparison tests; values sharing the same letter are not significantly different (p > 0.05)

Three sets of *Daphnia* experienced a shock rise in temperature that could be directly compared to *Daphnia* acclimatised and test tested at the same temperature. *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C and tested at 20°C, and *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C and tested at 25°C both experienced a shock temperature rise of 5°C alongside copper exposure. A 10°C shock temperature rise was experienced by *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C and tested at 25°C.

Comparing a shock 5°C rise to test temperature for *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C did not increase sensitivity compared to those *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C and tested at 15°C indicating no effect of heat shock on sensitivity. In contrast, shock 5°C rise to test temperature for *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C saw a significant increase in sensitivity for all reproductive parameters compared to those *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C. However, given there is no significant difference when comparing the EC<sub>50</sub> values between *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C and tested at 25°C (ie a shock temperature rise of 5°C) and *Daphnia* acclimatised at 25°C and tested at 25°C (acclimation to the higher temperature), it cannot be concluded that there is an effect of heat shock on sensitivity.

The 10°C rise is a greater thermal increase than the other *Daphnia* that only experienced a 5°C rise in temperature. However, none of the reproductive endpoints considered here indicated that a larger temperature rise was associated with a significant increase of sensitivity (Figure 4.4). Equally, the *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C and tested at 15°C did not have any significantly different endpoints compared to those *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C undergoing a shock rise in temperatures.

# 4.4 Discussion

Most previous studies investigating the toxicity of copper to *Daphnia* at different temperatures use non-acclimated animals (i.e. temperature shock). Climate change is not necessarily associated with temperature shocks alone, but the gradual increase in freshwater temperatures compared to baseline conditions (Watts et al., 2015). Given the effects of long-term acclimation currently have limited consideration, there is a need to assess how multi-generational temperature acclimation can influence the multi-stressor response to temperature increase and chemical exposure. Consequently, the aim of this study was to investigate importance of multigenerational acclimation to temperature change on temperature-toxicant interactions. In particular, it addressed the following hypotheses:

- 1. Organisms would exhibit reduced effects of temperature on reproductive parameters when acclimated to that temperature over multiple generations
- 2. Higher temperatures lead to an investment in a smaller number of larger offspring

- 3. Multi-generation temperature acclimatisation will mitigate temperature-toxicant interactions reducing the effect of CITS
- 4. The effects of a given temperature increase on CITS will be magnitude dependent such that a greater change to chemical sensitivity will occur for greater temperature increases

The effects of copper exposure and temperature increase on *Daphnia magna* reproduction was used to investigate these hypotheses.

# 4.4.1 Effects of temperature acclimation and shock

Organisms have the capacity to acclimate to changing temperatures, and gradual temperature increases have been demonstrated to mitigate the stress from heat shock (impairment of body and metabolic functions) associated with temperature increases over short periods of time (Ernst et al., 1984; Moulton et al., 1993, Paul et al., 2004). Indeed, gradual acclimation can increase the threshold temperature at which stressor effects begin to occur (Dallas and Rivers-Moore, 2012b). Previous studies have demonstrated that *Daphnia* acclimated to higher temperatures, including over multiple generations (Lamkemeyer et al., 2003), had increased metabolic rate, physical movements and swimming rates (Paul et al., 2004), increased growth rates (Chopelet et al., 2008) and shorter generation times (Chen and Stillman, 2012). Thus changes to reproductive parameters alter the organism's ability to respond to stress and undergo recovery when population decreases from stressor events occur (Woodward et al, 2016).

Gradually acclimatising a single *Daphnia* clone to different temperatures over 8-12 generations resulted in significant changes in reproductive parameters. A gradual 5°C decrease from the long-term culturing temperature of this clone (i.e. 20°C) resulted in an increase in time to first brood and increase in reproductive investment but no change in adult size, whereas a gradual 5°C increase resulted in no change in the time or size at first reproduction but did cause a significant reduction in reproductive investment.

# 4.4.2 Shifts to reproductive strategy

An increase in acclimation and test temperature from 20°C to 25°C resulted in a significant reduction in reproductive investment. However, given reproductive investment here was a measure of the number and size of neonates, the reduction in reproductive investment was the result of a shift in reproductive strategy. *Daphnia* acclimatised and tested at 25°C increased their average size of neonates at the expense of a smaller number of neonates in total for the first brood. This occurred alongside significantly faster times to first brood than those tested at 15°C. Previous studies have also reported significantly longer times to first brood for *Daphnia* maintained at lower temperatures (Chen and Stillman, 2012; Im et al., 2019), although an increase in temperature has not previously been associated with a change to the number of neonates (Im et al., 2019).

# 4.4.3 Acclimation and mitigation of temperature and chemical stress

With regards to temperature as a combined stressor with copper exposure, broadly speaking the results here indicate limited multi-stressor effect of copper and temperature increase. Aside from *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C and tested at 20°C which are discussed in more detail below, the only significant change in sensitivity was the EC<sub>50</sub> for time to first brood where *Daphnia* acclimatised at 25°C and tested at 25°C were significantly more sensitive than those acclimatised at 15°C and tested at 15°C. The second objective explored here was with regards to the magnitude of temperature change on multi-stressor effects of copper and temperature. *Daphnia* acclimatised at 15°C experienced temperature shocks of 0°C, 5°C and 10°C, but there was no significant difference in sensitivity between these *Daphnia* for all reproductive endpoints tested. As discussed above, in this study temperature appears to have had little effect on *Daphnia* sensitivity to copper, and larger magnitudes of thermal change did not significantly affect the calculated EC<sub>50</sub> values.

Notably the *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C and tested at 20°C were consistently the least sensitive to copper exposure for all reproductive parameters and was the case even after *Daphnia* had been acclimatised to differing temperatures over many generations. Existing literature has observed similar patterns before. Lamkemeyer et al. (2003) did not investigate chemical toxicity, but did acclimate *Daphnia* over multiple generations and discovered that the optimum temperature for *Daphnia* was between 16.2 and 19.5°C for *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C and between 21.4 and 21.7°C for those acclimatised at 30°C indicating an optimum temperature around 20°C. Similar results were observed by Chen and Stillman (2012) where the optimum temperature for *Daphnia* metabolism was found to be around 20°C.

However, two previous studies have investigated the effect of copper on *Daphnia* after short-term (2 generations) temperature acclimation (Hochmuth et al., 2016; Pereira et al., 2017). The results presented here are consistent with those of Hochmuth et al. (2016), who reported that *Daphnia* reproduction (number of neonates) was less sensitive to copper when tested at 19°C (compared to 15°C and 23°C). This contrasts with the results from Pereira et al. (2017), which reported that *Daphnia* reproduction (number of neonates) was most sensitive to copper when tested at 15°C and that there was no difference in sensitivity between *Daphnia* tested at 20 and 25°C. This may be reflective of this clonal line being well adapted to laboratory testing at 20°C, and 20°C has been shown to be the

metabolic optimum for *Daphnia* in previous studies (Chen and Stillman, 2012; Lamkemeyer et al., 2003). From an applied perspective, *Daphnia* are tested in ecotoxicological tests at 20°C by standard (OECD, 2012, OECD, 2004), but the applicability of such studies may need to be reconsidered under the context of a warming planet given the effects that a 5°C increase would have on the sensitivity of *Daphnia* and other test organisms to chemical exposure.

# 4.4.4 Implications and limitations

The main thrust of this research was to investigate multiple stressor effects of temperature and chemical exposure. Consequently, the controls here were designed in number of replicates and format to match those exposed to copper, meaning the results from the controls may not be reflective or have enough power to represent the outcomes of a study designed to test the effects of acclimatisation and temperature shock alone. Furthermore, when considering the effect on macroinvertebrates, one natural route of improving the realism of the experiment to simulate natural day night temperature cycles as has been done for other invertebrate species and has been shown to be a major factor that can affect organism sensitivity (Delnat et al., 2021, 2019; Willming et al., 2013).

Overall, where suitable, the results from the controls here support the previous findings on changes to temperature and *Daphnia*. Testing *Daphnia* at 15°C consistently led to significantly slower times to first brood than *Daphnia* tested at higher temperatures in line with the findings from other studies (Chen and Stillman, 2012; Im et al., 2019). Otherwise, no significant conclusions could be drawn for the other reproductive and growth parameters. However, the influence of both test and acclimatised temperature affected the reproductive strategy; higher temperatures, both during acclimation and testing saw an investment in a smaller number of larger offspring earlier on in the *Daphnia's* life stage. Equally, for a multi-stressor perspective the results here show limited effect of warming on *Daphnia* sensitivity, with the exception of *Daphnia* cultured at 20°C, which may have relevance for the use of *Daphnia* as a model ecotoxicological species for climate change conditions.

# **CHAPTER 5**

Agrochemicals and climate change effects on freshwaters: implications for environmental risk assessment

# Chapter 5. Agrochemical and climate change effects on freshwaters: implications for environmental risk assessment

# 5.1 Introduction

The aim of this thesis was to evaluate how climate change will alter the risk agrochemicals pose to freshwater ecosystems, taking England and Wales as a case study. The thesis focused on the transport of agrochemicals from field to ecosystem via soil, the sensitivity of and shift in composition of macroinvertebrate assemblages and the effect of long-term adaptation on the response of organisms to multiple stressor exposure. This chapter aims to draw together these results by i) exploring the implications of climate change on different components of the environmental risk assessment (ERA) process; ii) based on the results from i), develop a framework that incorporates climate change into the ERA, and iii) illustrated the application of the framework for some case study compounds to explore how the risks of agrochemical pollution for these chemicals might alter in the future due to climate change. This chapter first discusses the main findings of the preceding chapters, and then proposes ERA framework that integrates these findings and that accounts for the effects of climate change on agrochemical risk. Figure 5.1 outlines how the research described in Chapters 2 to 4, links to the ERA framework. The proposed framework is then applied to potential real-life scenarios with three case study risk assessments (glyphosate, copper and a theoretical new chemical) that provide both a practical application of the research within this thesis while noting the data requirements for integration with existing ERAs.

# 5.2 Main findings

# 5.2.1 Interaction between climate change and chemical flux

The effect of climate change on localised climatic patterns in 2060-2080 was considered for the edge of field chemical flux for 24 agrochemicals and compared to baseline (1980-2000) values using the high resolution 5 km<sup>2</sup> UKCP18 data (Met Office, 2019). Broadly, climate change projections are for warmer wetter winters and hotter dryer summers, with an increase in extreme precipitation events, although this expected to be spatially variable across the UK (Lowe et al., 2018). Consequently, the effects of climate change on chemical flux was evaluated across six sites representing the climatic zones of England and Wales (Met Office, 2021). Chemical transport in soil is affected primarily by the size of precipitation events that trigger chemical movement, and secondarily by the quantity of chemical in the soil matrix when precipitation events occur, which itself is determined by the persistence of the chemical (Biswas et al., 2018; Elrashidi et al., 2013). The persistence of a chemical

is determined by the degradation rate of the chemical, which is influenced by temperature (Cavoski et al., 2008; FOCUS, 2006; Matthies and Beulke, 2017).



Figure 5.1 Flow diagram of how climate change was integrated into the ERA for considering the exposure and sensitivity aspects of the risk with the databases and models utilised for each aspect shown in brackets: UKCP18 (Met Office, 2019), Pesticide Root Zone Model (PRZM, Carsel et al., 1985; US EPA, 2016), Pesticide Properties Data Base (PPDB, University of Hertfordshire, 2007), River Invertebrate Classification Tool (RICT, Environment Agency et al., 2021), hierarchical Species Sensitivity Distribution (hSSD, Craig, 2013), ECOTOX database (US EPA, 2021)

As climate change-induced alterations in precipitation patterns and temperatures vary in space and time, and soil characteristics vary spatially, it was expected that the site, season of application and chemical identity would all influence the effects of climate change on chemical flux from soil to surface waters. This was supported in the results where range in effects of climate change (in 2060-2080) on edge of field flux differed markedly between sites (e.g. for prothioconazole from -97% in Cornwall to

+248% in Lancashire of baseline (1980-2000) edge of field chemical flux), and seasons of application (e.g. for diclofenac in Kent from -97% in Kent to +248% in Lancashire of baseline (1980-2000) edge of field chemical flux).

To consider how these different factors would influence flux, the commonly used fate model PRZM was used to quantify the change in flux accounting for the effects of climate change (Carsel et al., 1985). The underlying hypothesis was that compared to baseline conditions, persistent chemicals with slow degradation rates exhibited less seasonal variation and generally exhibited decreases in flux, due to increased degradation, under future climate conditions, which was supported by the decrease in variation of the effects of climate change for slowly degrading chemicals. Where flux increased for slowly degrading chemicals, this was due to an increase in the intensity of rainfall events under future climate conditions. In contrast, rapidly degrading chemicals ( $DT_{50} < ^5$  days) were highly dependent on the weather following application and flux varied greatly between sites; with the largest changes between baseline and future conditions due to precipitation events occurring days after application. Thus, intensity of precipitation events change under future climates and therefore the probability of exposure of freshwater ecosystems also change in line with the probable climate conditions post application.

By using the high resolution UKCP18 data at the 5km scale, highly localised extreme weather events, that drive chemical flux, cannot be discerned at coarser scales, and so could be captured when modelling change of flux at a site specific level (Kennedy-Asser et al., 2021). Given the different climatic zones of the UK that were represented by selected sites, the effects of climate change were found to be both site and season specific. Site, season of application and chemical identity were all factors affecting flux and with edge of field flux being the result of complex interactions among all three. However, distinct patterns between chemical persistence and change to flux under climate change were observed across all agrochemicals, although this was more obvious for pharmaceuticals as chemicals with a range of DT<sub>50</sub> values were applied at the same seasons and sites. Equally the variation in flux from site and season of application emphasised the importance ensuring chemicals are modelled with accurate application times and locations, and as shown within chapter 2, quantification of spatial variation of climate change on a per-chemical basis is possible.

Overall, this chapter has shown how meteorology under the effect of climate change will significantly alter agrochemical flux into freshwaters. The magnitude and direction of change in flux relates to chemical degradation, forming distinct patterns on a site and season of application specific level. Furthermore, chapter 2 has highlighted how climate projections can be integrated with spatially explicit fate models to quantify how climate change conditions will affect chemical flux into freshwater ecosystems.

# 5.2.2 Assemblage sensitivity

The biodiversity of natural ecosystems means that the community composition varies spatially, and the non-exchangeability of chemical sensitivity between species (Craig, 2012) mean some species tend to be more sensitive to specific chemicals than others. Given both of these, it is postulated that variation in the taxa composing an ecosystem will mean that the sensitivity of that ecosystem is also expected to vary (Schmitt-Jansen et al., 2008). However, climate change conditions are also set to shift the composition of freshwater ecosystems (Durance and Ormerod, 2007; Niggebrugge et al., 2007). The relative sensitivity of species is chemical specific and is driven by the mode of action of the chemical, for example Arthropoda to tend to be the most sensitive macroinvertebrates to insecticide exposure (Maltby et al., 2005). Consequently, chemicals were grouped into three types in chapter 3, insecticides, metals and narcotics.

Thus chapter 3 aimed to assess the extent that spatial variation in the composition of freshwater macroinvertebrate assemblages influences assemblage sensitivity and whether this varied by chemical type. Equally, how the shift in assemblage composition under climate change would affect assemblage sensitivity on top of existing spatial variation was also investigated. This research considered the response of macroinvertebrate assemblages from 835 minimally impacted sites (those that underwent macroinvertebrate sampling for the RIVPACS reference database (Wright et al., 1996) that underlies RICT) to 40 chemicals under baseline (1980-2000) and future (2060-2080) climate conditions. An issue was that the sensitivity of most natural taxa have not been studied in toxicity tests and remain unknown. To address this a hierarchical species sensitivity model (hSSD, Craig, 2013) was used to predict macroinvertebrate assemblage sensitivity for each chemical while the multivariate model River Invertebrate Classification Tool (RICT, Wright et al., 1996) was used to predict expected assemblage composition under future conditions.

The 40 chemicals studied were grouped into three chemical types: insecticides, metals and narcotics. It was hypothesised that different assemblage compositions would have differing sensitivities to the chemicals and that variation of assemblage sensitivity would be greatest for chemicals that target a specific group of macroinvertebrates (e.g., Insecta and closely related Arthropoda clades such as Crustacea for insecticides). This was supported by the results that indicated that there was a greater magnitude of range between both the maximum and minimum HC<sub>5</sub> values for the insecticides compared to metals and generally acting chemicals, here classified as narcotics.

Secondly, assemblage composition aligns to river typology (Davy-Bowker et al., 2006) and given assemblage composition has been shown to affect sensitivity in the previous results from this chapter it was hypothesised that specific typologies may be associated with toxicant prone or tolerant assemblages. Here the results indicated that the 5% most sensitive sites for both narcotics and metals was composed of a different proportion of site typologies compared to the reference sites. Large lowland calcareous sites tended to be the only locations with snails, mussels and leeches, and such soft-bodied taxa are known to be highly sensitive to metals such as copper (Bjerregaard et al., 2015; Verschoor et al., 2011). This was reflected in the results with 77.1% of the most sensitive sites for insecticides, Insecta and Crustacea are highly sensitive to insecticides and therefore drive the assemblage sensitivity when SSDs are fitted to insecticide toxicity data (Forbes and Calow, 2002). The ubiquity of Arthropoda meant sensitive taxa for insecticides could be found across all typologies equally.

Although these two hypotheses do not directly address the effect of climate change on assemblage sensitivity, these results address another pertinent question for environmental risk assessments: to what extent is there spatial variation in the sensitivities of assemblages? Current risk assessments do not take spatial variation in the species composition of exposed ecosystems into account explicitly. Spatial uncertainty, along with other uncertainties, are lumped together and covered within a single assessment factor and are applied to Tier 1 ecotoxicity data and HC<sub>5</sub> values, but the results here show that for some chemicals the range of HC<sub>5</sub> values goes beyond the recommended assessment factors for HC<sub>5</sub>s of three to six depending on the quality and quantity of toxicity data (ECHA, 2008; EFSA, 2013a). If between-site variation in species composition has a pronounced effect on assemblage sensitivity, any effect of climate change on composition will therefore affect sensitivity. Moreover, because the meteorological consequences of climate change vary spatially, the impact of climate change on species composition and hence assemblage sensitivity may also vary spatially.

The hypothesis that shifts in species composition due to climate change would result in a change in assemblage sensitivity (i.e.  $HC_5$  value) was investigated by using RICT to predict the macroinvertebrate composition of 835 sites under baseline and future temperature conditions and comparing their  $HC_5$  values for 40 chemicals. On average, assemblages were less sensitive under future climate scenarios although the magnitude of change compared to the  $HC_5$  of baseline assemblages varied between chemical groups: 16% decrease for insecticides, 2% decrease for narcotics. Within chemical groups there were examples of chemicals that exhibited increased sensitivity (e.g., benzamine (9.5% increase), dieldrin (5.3% increase) and cadmium (3.5% increase)) and some chemical with particularly

large decreases in assemblage sensitivity (e.g., bifenthrin (34% decrease), deltamethrin and permethrin (61% decrease), all pyrethroid insecticides, (79% decrease).

Overall, this chapter has developed and applied sensitivity predictive methods to quantify risk at the assemblage level for a range of natural ecosystems. The results have shown that the spatial variation in community composition influences assemblage sensitivity. However, this variation is currently not accounted for in existing ERAs outside of assessment factors (that also aim to account for other sources of uncertainty). Yet the results here show that the variation in sensitivity between natural assemblages is greater than these assessment factors for some chemicals making the ERA not protective of natural ecosystems. Furthermore, the effects of climate on community composition will affect assemblage level sensitivity resulting in both increases and decreases to sensitivity depending on the chemical meaning a chemical specific assessment of future risk is necessary.

# 5.2.3 Multi-generation adaption and organism sensitivity

In addition to influencing assemblage sensitivity by changing species composition, climate change may also affect the sensitivity of individual species to chemical exposure. Most studies investigating the effect of warming on chemical sensitivity have been heat shock experiments with limited temperature acclimation of test organisms. However, warming due to climate change will occur gradually providing an opportunity for species to adapt or acclimate to new temperature regimes. The hypothesis that gradual, multi-generation temperature acclimation will influence the effect of heat shock on chemical toxicity was investigated using the Cladocera, *Daphnia magna*, exposed to copper.

*Daphnia* neonates, originally cultured at 20°C, were allocated into three cultures, which had the target temperatures of 15, 20 and 25°C. Culture temperature was changed gradually by 0.5°C a week until the target temperatures were reached. Temperature acclimatised *Daphnia* were then maintained at their target temperature until used in a chronic toxicity study. The toxicity study was modelled on OECD 211 with an extended study duration to account for slower growth and reproduction at 15°C (OECD, 2012).

Over the course of acclimation, generation times began to increase with higher temperatures with *Daphnia* acclimatised to 15°C being on generation 8 at test start, compared to generation 11 and 12 for 20°C and 25°C respectively. This was supported in the results from the test itself where *Daphnia* tested at 15°C had significantly longer times to first brood than those tested at 20°C and 25°C. Another hypothesis tested was that *Daphnia* would shift reproductive strategy depending on temperature with higher temperatures associated with faster maturation and smaller reproductive investment per brood (Bonada et al., 2007; Contador et al., 2014). This hypothesis was supported by *Daphnia* 

acclimated and tested at 15°C exhibiting longer times to first brood than those at 20°C and 25°C, while those at 25°C had lower reproductive investment, primarily caused by shift in strategy for a reduced number of larger neonates.

The hypothesis that a temperature shock increases the sensitivity of *Daphnia* to copper, was not well supported given the results from Chapter 4. In particular, the only Daphnia that were significantly less sensitive for the reproductive parameters tested were those acclimatised at 20°C and tested at 20° (EC<sub>50</sub> values of 41-45  $\mu$ g/). Otherwise, temperature shock did not appear to affect calculated EC<sub>50</sub> values of copper toxicity, including when the magnitude of temperature rise was greater (10°C against 5°C or no temperature change). Previous studies have investigated the multi-stressor effects of copper and temperature to Daphnia, but without multi-generation acclimation. However such studies, including those that investigated reproductive effects, found that increasing temperatures tended to increase copper toxicity with either additive or synergistic toxicity (Bae et al., 2016; Boeckman and Bidwell, 2006), although some Daphnia and copper studies, including two investigating reproductive effects, indicated little change in toxicity due to temperature supporting the results here (Cuco et al., 2016; Hochmuth et al., 2016; C. M. S. Pereira et al., 2017). One explanation for these results is that the optimum temperature for Daphnia is near 20°C; Lamkemeyer et al. (2003) and Chen and Stiller (2012) did not investigate chemical toxicity, but did acclimate Daphnia over multiple generations. Both discovered that the optimum temperature for Daphnia tended towards a value around 20°C. However, acclimation did shift the optimum temperature slightly towards the acclimation temperature.

The results from Chapter 4 indicate that the multi-stressor effects of copper and temperature increase to *Daphnia* did not indicate an increase in *Daphnia* sensitivity to copper, noting the similarities and differences observed in the literature. However, both temperature acclimation and shock temperature change affected the reproductive parameters alone. These changes included a shift in reproductive strategy associated with fewer larger offspring in a shorter time to first brood for those acclimatised and tested at higher temperatures. Such results may still impact sensitivity, for example larger organisms are known to be more tolerant of chemical exposure. However, the tolerance of *Daphnia* acclimatised at 20°C and tested at 20° compared to other temperatures may have important consequences when considering climate change in ecotoxicological studies, as altering the test temperature would be associated with a change in chemical sensitivity regardless of any multi-generation acclimation.

# 5.3 Application of findings to environmental risk assessment

# 5.3.1 Framework for considering climate change

The results presented in Chapters 2 to 4 demonstrate that climate change can influence both the exposure and sensitivity of freshwater organisms to chemicals and therefore affect the outcome of ERAs. However, the effect of climate change is both chemical and site dependent meaning that any proposed ERA framework should consider spatial variation in environmental and ecological factors in addition to chemical properties. Existing ERAs have spatially specific scenarios for considering chemical exposure, although the results of Chapter 2 have shown that the effects of climate change on chemical flux are substantial and spatially variable. Therefore in light of climate change, such scenario sites may need to be reconsidered to account how the future change in meteorology will affect the risk posed by chemical exposure. This could be done either by updating such sites with future projections or selecting additional locations particularly prone to increases in risk under climate change conditions to act as climate change scenarios. Equally, when assessing freshwater sensitivity there is no specific consideration of spatial variation in species composition; instead an assessment factor is used to represent all sources of uncertainty including variation of species sensitivity across different sites (ECHA, 2008; EFSA, 2013a).

A spatially specific framework accounting for climate change that includes all the aspects considered in this thesis is shown in Figure 5.1. The framework includes both the elements of risk assessment covered within this thesis, and the models, methods and databases necessary to quantify them. Figure 5.1 shows how each aspect of agrochemical exposure and ecosystem sensitivity considered in this thesis can be drawn together to calculate risk. The effects of climate change explored in this thesis are divided into i) the effects of temperature and precipitation on chemical degradation and the resultant change in runoff and erosion on chemical flux, ii) how temperature may shift the taxonomic composition of natural ecosystems and how such a shift in taxonomic composition affects assemblage sensitivity and iii) how long-term temperature acclimation has notable or negligible effects on the results of laboratory ecotoxicity testing, upon which endpoints used for calculating ecosystem sensitivity are based.

Note, this framework, and the case studies used to illustrate it, represent only a sub-set of the considerations required for a complete picture of risk under climate change. Ideally, a more complete risk assessment would also account for other routes of exposure (spray drift, drainage and groundwater), chemical fate processes within freshwaters, recovery of both species and ecosystems, and community and food web dynamics (Moe et al., 2013; Schmitt-Jansen et al., 2008; Stahl et al.,

2013). However, considering that some of these are not accounted within existing ERAs that do not consider climate change, considerable research effort would be required to integrate them into the ERA. Furthermore, while the extent of spatial variation of the effects of climate change on sensitivity and exposure has been demonstrated, such spatial variation reflects only two aspects of the risk assessment. Equally only one taxonomic group assessed in ERAs, macroinvertebrates, was investigated here, while for chemical fate in-field flux only considered one soil and crop type. Furthermore, these spatially variable effects of climate change would be additional to any existing variation among sites. Noting these limitations, the next section explores how a proposed framework of Figure 5.1 could be used to consider the change in ERA risk for three agrochemicals: glyphosate, copper and a theoretical new chemical.

# 5.3.2 Case study: Glyphosate

Glyphosate is a non-specific systemic herbicide and plant desiccant and represents the single most used herbicide in the UK representing 21% of herbicide use on arable land (Garthwaite, 2018). This case study assumes a 1.44 kg glyphosate/ha pre-harvest summer application on winter cereals to treat broad-leaved weeds and couch grass prior to combining the crop (EFSA, 2015). The effects of climate change on glyphosate flux were calculated for suitable locations for growing winter wheat in the UK (Chapter 2, Table 2.4). The six locations selected within Chapter 2 have cognate river locations to the RICT reference sites nearby that were used in Chapter 3 so that the invertebrate community would be reflective of one receiving input for the agricultural land.

One additional factor that can affect chemical risk is changes to chemical input, effectively the amount and frequency of glyphosate application. Climate change conditions will increase overall weed growth, a shift to agricultural patters and herbicide resistance is set to be a continuing problem over the 21<sup>st</sup> century that may necessitate shifts in glyphosate use (Dayan, 2019; Helander et al., 2012; Ziska, 2020). However, studies so far predominantly indicate that increases in temperature do not reduce the efficacy of glyphosate to several weed species, including where there was increased growth from elevated CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations, and forecast use on wheat is projected to stay approximately the same (Bajwa et al., 2020; Iqbal et al., 2021; Jabran and Doğan, 2018; Rasche, 2021).

The nearest site combinations were calculated on the minimum trigonometric distance in latitude and longitude of the 835 RICT reference sites to each of the 6 sites in Chapter 2 in turn; the range of distances between sites ranged between 10.58km to 26.74km. Thus, it is possible to consider how the change in flux at each site could be related to the assemblage-specific sensitivity of an ecologically

similar nearby river that could potentially undergo exposure. The effect of climate change on flux and assemblage sensitivity for the six sites is presented in Table 5.1.

Table 5.1. Effect of climate change on chemical flux and assemblage sensitivity and the overall effect on the risk quotient for glyphosate applied to winter wheat across six sites representative of the different climatic zones of England and Wales. Percentages here represent the change to edge of field chemical flux and calculated HC<sub>5</sub> under future climate conditions (2060-2080) compared to the baseline (1980-2000) with overall risk being calculated multiplicatively from these values. The locations used in Chapters 2 and 3 were compared to find the nearest RICT reference site to each site selected for flux prediction to ensure that the assemblage sensitivity would be calculated for an assemblage of a similar ecological profile and change in temperature under climate change

Location	Climate zone	Increase of flux (%)	Increased sensitivity of assemblage (%)	Overall increase of risk (%)	Ratio of change to risk
Cornwall	S Wales & England SW	+136	+21	+185.6	1:2.86
Durham	England E & NE	+4	+5	+9.2	1:1.09
Lancashire	England NW & NW &	-33	+23	-17.6	1.21:1
Kent	England SE & central south	-32	+5	-28.1	1.39:1
Essex	East Anglia	-44	+23	-31.1	1.45:1
Oxfordshire	Midlands	-56	-21	-65.2	2.88:1

The existing ERA upon which glyphosate is approved concluding a low risk to freshwater organisms with the highest FOCUS step 2 PEC<sub>sw</sub> values for all the representative uses, and with macroinvertebrates not being the organisms driving the risk (EFSA, 2015). In this case study the change to flux is the largest influencer on the change in the overall risk with value of -56% to +136% compared to only a shift of -21% to +23% in assemblage sensitivity. Despite this, the changes to the risk predicted in Table 5.1 emphasise the difference spatial variation has on the outcome of environmental risk assessments and how both exposure (as edge of field flux) and receptor sensitivity (as assemblage HC<sub>5</sub>) can combine to affect overall risk. Considering the effects of climate change on both and receptor sensitivity, between the most and least sensitive sites (Cornwall and Oxfordshire respectively) there is a factor of 8.2 difference between the change to the risk quotient under future climate conditions.

At an organism level, there are a limited number of studies performed on macroinvertebrate species investigating the multiple stressor effects of temperature increase and glyphosate exposure. Silva et al. (2020), investigated the effect of short-term temperature acclimation (from neonate to adult) of the cladoceran *Ceriodaphnia silvestrii* on their acute sensitivity (as mortality) to glyphosate compared to a shock temperature change. In general, increasing test temperature increased sensitivity to glyphosate.

Overall, the effects of climate change on the risk posed by glyphosate in light of the calculation and literature presented here are quantifiable and exhibit distinct spatial variation resulting in both increase and decreases to risk under climate change. The most recent UK and EU aquatic risk assessment for glyphosate was resolved as low risk to all aquatic organisms without any higher tier refinements (EFSA, 2015). Given that the sensitivity of aquatic macroinvertebrates is not driving the risk assessment, the effects of climate change may not alter the outcome of the environmental risk assessment for glyphosate. However, even without the effects of climate change, the output from the hSSD model on the RICT reference sites indicates that there is a 4.8-fold difference in sensitivity between different assemblages. This nears the most conservative assessment factor of 5 for an equivalent SSD of the toxicity data, which is intended to cover all sources of uncertainty, including spatial variation in sensitivity (ECHA, 2008; EFSA, 2013a). Consequently, the question of how well assessment factors cover existing environmental risk assessments is raised.

#### 5.3.3 Case study: Copper

The use of copper as a pesticide is primarily within organic farming practices as a fungicide and general bactericide (Garthwaite, 2018). Although copper is used for treating fungal and bacterial infestations, the toxic effects of copper to many organisms are acknowledged, and soft-bodied invertebrates organisms, such as annelid worm and molluscs are particularly sensitive (Bjerregaard et al., 2015; Verschoor et al., 2011). When copper is applied as a pesticide it is in the form of dissolved copper salts such as copper sulphate, copper oxychloride, copper hydroxide or copper oxide, however all share the same risk assessment within the UK, currently based on prior EU authorisation (EFSA et al., 2018; HSE, 2021). As copper is a metal, its fate and behaviour in soil is different to that of organic chemical compounds. For example, while its speciation might change, copper does not degrade and many fate models have lower suitability for predicting its transport compared to organic compounds. Current environmental risk assessment is based upon FOCUS modelling although the limitations of using such a methodology and the associated uncertainties are acknowledged (EFSA, 2013b; E. F. S. EFSA et al., 2018).

Copper is considered to be of high risk to aquatic macroinvertebrates (EFSA et al., 2018) and therefore the results from Chapters 3 and 4 are combined to consider how future climate conditions may affect the sensitivity of freshwater macroinvertebrate assemblages to copper exposure. Given the limited suitability of PRZM for accurately predicting metal fate and the fact that copper is approved for use in orchards and grapevines, rather than cereals, it was not used as a study chemical in Chapter 2. Future climate change had little effect on the average sensitivity of 835 macroinvertebrate assemblages to copper: overall there was a 2.2% decrease in sensitivity. However, when considering the spatial variation of the effect of climate change, changes in sensitivity ranged from a 139% increase in the HC<sub>5</sub> value to 58.8% decrease, equivalent difference in ratio of 1:3.4 between the two. In addition, the effect of raising temperatures by 5°C for Daphnia acclimatised at 20°C (i.e., temperature used in the standard for toxicity tests for Daphnia: OECD 202 and OECD 211 (OECD, 2012, 2004)) was associated with an increase in copper toxicity on size of adult (by a factor of 5.5) and reproductive investment at first brood (by a factor of 5.4). Daphnia acclimated at 25°C still exhibited an increase in sensitivity compared to those acclimated and tested at 20°C, but the magnitude of effect was reduced to 4.5 for adult size and 3.2 for reproductive investment and must be considered within the caveat that Daphnia appear to have an optimum temperature near 20°C that may not be present in other organisms (Lamkemeyer et al., 2003). Overall, the effect of future climate change on increasing the sensitivity of macroinvertebrates to copper is greater at an organism level than from shifts in assemblage composition. However, as some sites will experience large increases in sensitivity due to composition change and another increase in sensitivity when moving away from Daphnia tested at 20°C, an overall increase in sensitivity for some sites under climate change is expected. The outcome of the existing ERA for copper already has macroinvertebrates on the boundary of unacceptable risk (EFSA et al., 2018). Consequently, any increases to sensitivity from climate change could result in the overall conclusion of unacceptable risk from copper.

From a chemical input perspective, shifting spring and summer temperature and precipitation patterns under future climate projections favour fungal infestation and may therefore require an increase in the use of copper-based pesticides (Bajwa et al., 2020; Rhodes and McCarl, 2020a; West et al., 2012a). However, accumulation of copper in the field is already restricted to 6 kg copper ha<sup>-1</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> (EU Commission, 2002), and increased application rates would need to remain within these limits unless there was a change in regulation. All the assumptions of future copper use, however, are reliant on the continued approval of copper. Given the results presented here, an overall increase in sensitivity to copper may be expected under future climate conditions. Consequently, a future environmental risk assessment for copper may find fewer or no agricultural uses with acceptable risk.

# 5.3.4 Case study: Theoretical new chemical

While the case studies for copper and glyphosate demonstrate the application of the framework to existing chemicals, this case study assesses how it may applied to new pesticide active substances or emerging chemical pollutants relevant to agriculture, such as pharmaceuticals applied to agricultural

land within irrigation water, manure and biosolid fertiliser (Chefetz et al., 2008; Fijalkowski et al., 2017; Pollard and Morra, 2018; Wu et al., 2010).

Spatial variation in climate change projections mean that location should be considered within the ERA. Consequently, either likely areas of exposure or generic scenario sites applicable for the entire UK need to be selected, which would permit the use of localised climate data (e.g., the 5km resolution UKCP18 data to run any exposure assessment (Met Office, 2019). In a manner similar to existing ERAs, specific fate scenarios could be created for the risks of climate change on fate, as demonstrated here within Chapter 2 that covers the major climatic zones of England and Wales. By also incorporating spatial variation in soil (e.g. using the LAND IS database, Cranfield University, 2021) the assessment can tailored to accurately represent a specific site. Equally for considering the local assemblage, RICT and the landscape parameters of a nearby river can be used with the same UKCP18 data to predict baseline and future assemblages to assess assemblage sensitivity (Environment Agency et al., 2021).

To assess the effect of climate change on chemical flux and to run through the risk assessment framework shown in Figure 5.1, first the quantity of the chemical applied should be known. New pesticides will have proposed application rates as part of their approved GAP (Good Agricultural Practice), which indicates when, how, in what quantity and on what crop the chemical may be applied. However, methods for calculating input of chemicals via irrigation water, manure and biosolid fertiliser require development (Fijalkowski et al., 2017). Even without any specific exposure rates, PRZM can still be used with a generic application rate kept consistent between the base and future climate scenarios to assess the effects of climate change as was done here with all chemical being applied at 1 kg/ha.

To run PRZM a suite of environmental chemical properties must be known, including various degradation rates,  $k_{OC}$ , solubility in water, vapour pressure and Henry's constant, which may be available in existing databases (University of Hertfordshire, 2007a, 2007b). However, as shown in Chapter 2, persistence is a large determinator of flux and knowing the degradation rate of the chemical in soil and the season of application alone means that a chemical could be compared with the outputs from chemicals with similar properties and approximate effects estimated.

Regarding sensitivity, the hSSD model can address the question of spatial or climate change variation in assemblage and therefore assemblage sensitivity but running the model does require a toxicity dataset of sufficient taxonomic richness for the chemical of interest. Ideally such a toxicity dataset would need to be composed of at least 20 different species covering all the major phyla of macroinvertebrates relevant to UK freshwater ecosystems (Annelida worms, Mollusca, Platyhelminth worms and Arthropoda (including Insecta and Crustacea). At an organism sensitivity level some indication of the multi-stressor effects of temperature and chemicals could inform future change in sensitivity. It could be envisaged that *Daphnia* could be cultured to different temperatures and toxicity tests run on the individuals acclimatised to each of the relevant temperatures, rather than just the 20°C cultures which are currently standard.

# 5.4 Conclusion

# 5.4.1 Uncertainties, limitations and recommendations

While this thesis has addressed the effects of climate change on agrochemical risk to freshwaters, the scope of potential impacts goes beyond what has been considered here. Consequently, the uncertainties and limitations surrounding the method and results from each chapter have been discussed below along with recommendations for mitigating and improvement upon these in future research.

Within Chapter 2, spatial variation considered both current and future climates. However, other landscape parameters, particularly soil, can drastically affect exposure (Biswas et al., 2018). Equally the chemical property of  $k_{oc}$  can become a determining factor of fate depending on the soil (Farenhorst et al., 2009; Wolt et al., 2002). Furthermore, the effect on flux was only considered for fields growing winter cereals, and the known impacts of climate change on crop phenology (eg. later drilling and earlier maturation and harvest) were not considered (Craufurd and Wheeler, 2009; Olesen et al., 2012). However, given different soils, crops and their phenologies can be directly inputted into PRZM, this research could be customised to represent unconsidered or updated ERA scenarios. This improves the spatial explicitness and adaptability of this research to changes in crop economics, viability and phenology (Cranfield University, 2021). Equally, within the UK fields can be drained, particularly on clay soils, representing an additional route of exposure via the soil not considered here as clay soils were not modelled (Brown and van Beinum, 2009). However, PRZM is not capable of modelling drain flow, therefore necessitating the use of additional fate models, such as MACRO, that can be run to calculate drainflow and gain a more complete picture of exposure (Jarvis et al., 1997). Finally, fate dynamics in freshwater were not considered, although PRZM itself forms one of a series of integrated models used within ERAs to predict soil and water fate (TOXSWA in FOCUS-SWASH, (Te Roller et al., 2015; Van den Berg et al., 2015)). As there is already direct links between PRZM and TOXSWA, assessing the effects of climate change on freshwater fate represents a logical next step.

While the hSSD model has shown that it can predict species sensitivity, there are two major limitations surrounding the use of taxonomy as the basis of sensitivity extrapolation: firstly that taxonomic ranks

represent differing levels of phylogenetic distance (Barraclough, 2010), and secondly that some sensitivity influencing traits are highly labile (Blomberg et al., 2003; Rubach et al., 2010). Both mean that taxonomy may misrepresent the similarity of sensitivity between two taxa. One solution to this would be a holistic approach integrating the results from multiple sensitivity predictive methods (van den Berg et al., 2021). While the traits database remains incomplete for macroinvertebrates, it is being built upon and is increasing in its taxonomic coverage (Hébert et al., 2016; Usseglio-Polatera et al., 2000). Thus, integrating with the hSSD model with trait-based approaches of predicting chemical sensitivity may result in a more accurate predictor of species sensitivity. Equally, while RICT can be used for predicting communities, it is limited by the range of sites in its reference database to the UK. Consequently, predictions become increasingly uncertain as temperatures rise beyond those of the reference sites (Clarke et al., 2003). Improving upon this would require integrating water framework directive data from warmer locations (Wilby et al., 2006).

While Chapter 4 investigated the effects of rising temperatures and multi-generational acclimation on chemical sensitivity for a single species, Chapter 3 has explicitly shown that there is interspecific variation in sensitivity. Therefore, there is a question on how representative the results from Chapter 4 are of how thermal change would affect chemical sensitivity when extrapolating to all macroinvertebrates. Given that the species and chemical investigated were *Daphnia magna* and copper, both have already been extensively studied (Bae et al., 2016; Hochmuth et al., 2016; Pereira et al., 2017). Thus these results are therefore representative of the first tier of ERAs where *Daphnia magna* is the most frequent species tested. Still, Chapter 3 has highlighted the need for toxicity data on as wide a range of taxonomically diverse species as possible to improve predictions. This may work hand-in-hand with assessing the effects of acclimation and toxicity on a wider range of species, as in the methodology of Chapter 4 which tested species under both standard laboratory (20°C, OECD, 2004) and increased temperatures.

With regards to case studies considered within this chapter, the effect of climate change on input has been contextualised within each case study, but not explored within this thesis. Reviews have considered how climate change may shift timing of chemicals and the amounts applied to treat the changing pest phenologies (Delcour et al., 2015; Tudi et al., 2021) and how droughts may increase irrigation (Woznicki et al., 2015). A natural next step would be to integrate a method for quantifying how climate change affects chemical use and application rate. However, predicting future use is innately uncertain; economics and agricultural subsidies shift the viability of planting different crops and using the chemicals applied to them, regulation may see the banning or restriction of currently applied agrochemicals, while future technology and research may uncover new chemical active substances or discover emerging chemical pollutants of relevance to ecosystems (Christensen et al., 2018; Gavrilescu et al., 2015).

#### 5.4.2 Conclusion

Overall, this thesis has integrated the effects of climate change on the risk posed to freshwater ecosystems by building upon the existing body of scientific knowledge and environmental risk assessment (ERA) with modelling and laboratory data. Primarily this thesis has demonstrated how climate change can alter environmental risk by shifting agrochemical exposure and ecosystem sensitivity. This resulted in both increases and decreases to risk depending on the specific location and agrochemical in question. One recurring result present within Chapters 2 and 3 is the importance of spatial variation both now and in the future that arises from variation in climates and community compositions respectively. Thus, a major novel finding of this thesis is that for freshwater ecosystems, both agrochemical exposure via soil and assemblage sensitivity of macroinvertebrates are spatially explicit. The variation in risk shown in the results here can increase risk beyond the uncertainty included within existing ERAs. This means risk is currently being underestimated for some site and chemical combinations and may become worse under climate change.

As demonstrated above, this thesis has shown how multiple aspects of the ERA can be further investigated and refined to account for the effects of climate change. This has been practically applied to existing chemicals which could alter the conclusions of their respective ERAs as well as define the package of data required to consider a similar process for another chemical. An ERA which can functionally consider the effects of climate change can inform and refine future agrochemical use while providing suitable protection of ecosystems and their services. However, the work here only approached three aspects of the ERA; future steps adapting and integrating additional aspects will permit a full picture of the change. This will involve a wider range relevant aspects, as discussed in 5.4.1. As constructing a comprehensive environmental risk assessment system requires knowledge of meteorology, chemistry, agronomy, soil science, toxicology, ecology and economics, an interdisciplinary approach is required to accurately capture the effects of climate change is. However, any system developed should be simple enough to be utilised and rolled-out within industrial, water quality-assessment and regulatory environments to make assessment of the effects of climate change on agrochemical risk accessible.

# References

- Ademollo, N., Capri, S., Patrolecco, L., Puddu, A., Polesello, S., Rusconi, M., Valsecchi, S., Froebrich, J., 2011. Fate and monitoring of hazardous substances in temporary rivers. Clim.-Change Impacts Water Chem. 30, 1222–1232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2011.05.002
- Adriaanse, P.I., 1996. Fate of pesticides in field ditches: the TOXSWA simulation model. SC-DLO, Wageningen.
- Agatz, A., Hammers-Wirtz, M., Gergs, A., Mayer, T., Preuss, T.G., 2015. Family-portraits for daphnids: scanning living individuals and populations to measure body length. Ecotoxicology 24, 1385–1394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-015-1490-0
- Aldenberg, T., Jaworska, J.S., 2000. Uncertainty of the hazardous concentration and fraction affected for normal species sensitivity distributions. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 46, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1006/eesa.1999.1869
- Ankley, G.T., Bennett, R.S., Erickson, R.J., Hoff, D.J., Hornung, M.W., Johnson, R.D., Mount, D.R., Nichols, J.W., Russom, C.L., Schmieder, P.K., Serrrano, J.A., Tietge, J.E., Villeneuve, D.L., 2010. Adverse outcome pathways: A conceptual framework to support ecotoxicology research and risk assessment. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29, 730–741. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.34
- Armitage, P., 2000. The potential of RIVPACS for predicting the effects of environmental change. Freshwater Biological Association.
- Arvidsson, T., Bergstrom, L., Kreuger, J., 2011. Spray drift as influenced by meteorological and technical factors. Pest Manag. Sci. 67, 586–598. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.2114
- Ashauer, R., Boxall, A., Brown, C., 2006. Predicting effects on aquatic organisms from fluctuating or pulsed exposure to pesticides. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-393R.1
- Bach, M., Diesner, M., Grossmann, D., Guerniche, D., Hommen, U., Klein, M., Kubiak, R., Muller, A., Preuss, T.G., Priegnitz, J., Reichenberger, S., Thomas, K., Trapp, M., 2017. Pesticide exposure assessment for surface waters in the EU. Part 2: Determination of statistically based run-off and drainage scenarios for Germany. Pest Manag. Sci. 73, 852–861. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.4519
- Bach, M., Diesner, M., Großmann, D., Guerniche, D., Hommen, U., Klein, M., Kubiak, R., Müller, A., Priegnitz, J., Reichenberger, S., Thomas, K., Trapp, M., 2016. Pesticide exposure assessment for surface waters in the EU. Part 1: Some comments on the current procedure. Pest Manag Sci 72, 1279–1284. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.4281
- Bae, E., Samanta, P., Yoo, J., Jung, J., 2016. Effects of multigenerational exposure to elevated temperature on reproduction, oxidative stress, and Cu toxicity in Daphnia magna. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2016.06.034
- Baird, D.J., Barber, I., Bradley, M., Soares, A.M.V.M., Calow, P., 1991. A comparative study of genotype sensitivity to acute toxic stress using clones of Daphnia magna straus. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 21, 257–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/0147-6513(91)90064-V
- Baird, D.J., Van den Brink, P.J., 2007. Using biological traits to predict species sensitivity to toxic substances. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 67, 296–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.07.001
- Bajwa, A.A., Farooq, M., Al-Sadi, A.M., Nawaz, A., Jabran, K., Siddique, K.H.M., 2020. Impact of climate change on biology and management of wheat pests. Crop Prot. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cropro.2020.105304
- Balbus, J.M., Boxall, A.B.A., Fenske, R.A., McKone, T.E., Zeise, L., 2012. Implications of global climate change for the assessment and management of human health risks of chemicals in the natural environment. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. Setac 32, 62–78.
- Barraclough, T.G., 2010. Evolving entities: towards a unified framework for understanding diversity at the species and higher levels. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B-Biol. Sci. 365, 1801–1813. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0276
- Beketov, M.A., Liess, M., 2008. An indicator for effects of organic toxicants on lotic invertebrate communities: Independence of confounding environmental factors over an extensive river continuum. Environ. Pollut. 156, 980–987. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2008.05.005
- Belanger, S., Barron, M., Craig, P., Dyer, S., Galay-Burgos, M., Hamer, M., Marshall, S., Posthuma, L., Raimondo, S., Whitehouse, P., 2017. Future needs and recommendations in the development of species sensitivity distributions: Estimating toxicity thresholds for aquatic ecological communities and assessing impacts of chemical exposures. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 13, 664–674. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.1841

- Berg, A., Sheffield, J., Milly, P.C.D., 2017. Divergent surface and total soil moisture projections under global warming. Geophys. Res. Lett. 44, 236–244. https://doi.org/10.1002/2016GL071921
- Berger, E., Haase, P., Kuemmerlen, M., Leps, M., Schäfer, R.B., Sundermann, A., 2017. Water quality variables and pollution sources shaping stream macroinvertebrate communities. Sci. Total Environ. 587–588, 1– 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.031
- Birk, S., Chapman, D., Carvalho, L., Spears, B.M., Andersen, H.E., Argillier, C., Auer, S., Baattrup-Pedersen, A., Banin, L., Beklioglu, M., Bondar-Kunze, E., Borja, A., Branco, P., Bucak, T., Buijse, A.D., Cardoso, A.C., Couture, R.-M., Cremona, F., de Zwart, D., Feld, C.K., Ferreira, M.T., Feuchtmayr, H., Gessner, M.O., Gieswein, A., Globevnik, L., Graeber, D., Graf, W., Gutierrez-Canovas, C., Hanganu, J., Iskin, U., Jarvinen, M., Jeppesen, E., Kotamaki, N., Kuijper, M., Lemm, J.U., Lu, S., Solheim, A.L., Mischke, U., Moe, S.J., Noges, P., Noges, T., Ormerod, S.J., Panagopoulos, Y., Phillips, G., Posthuma, L., Pouso, S., Prudhomme, C., Rankinen, K., Rasmussen, J.J., Richardson, J., Sagouis, A., Santos, J.M., Schaefer, R.B., Schinegger, R., Schmutz, S., Schneider, S.C., Schuelting, L., Segurado, P., Stefanidis, K., Sures, B., Thackeray, S.J., Turunen, J., Uyarra, M.C., Venohr, M., von der Ohe, P.C., Willby, N., Hering, D., 2020. Impacts of multiple stressors on freshwater biota across spatial scales and ecosystems. Nat. Ecol. Evol. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1216-4
- Biswas, B., Qi, F., Biswas, J.K., Wijayawardena, A., Khan, M.A.I., Naidu, R., 2018. The Fate of Chemical Pollutants with Soil Properties and Processes in the Climate Change Paradigm-A Review. SOIL Syst. https://doi.org/10.3390/soilsystems2030051
- Bjerregaard, P., Andersen, C.B.I., Andersen, O., 2015. Chapter 21 Ecotoxicology of Metals—Sources, Transport, and Effects on the Ecosystem, in: Nordberg, G.F., Fowler, B.A., Nordberg, M. (Eds.), Handbook on the Toxicology of Metals (Fourth Edition). Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 425–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59453-2.00021-4
- Blenkinsop, S., Fowler, H.J., Dubus, I.G., Nolan, B.T., Hollis, J.M., 2008. Developing climatic scenarios for pesticide fate modelling in Europe. Environ. Pollut. 154, 219–231.
- Blomberg, S.P., Garland JR., T., Ives, A.R., 2003. Testing for phylogenetic signal in comparative data: behavioral traits are more labile. Evolution 57, 717–745. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0014-3820.2003.tb00285.x
- Bloomfield, J.P., Williams, R.J., Gooddy, D.C., Cape, J.N., Guha, P.M., 2006. Impacts of climate change on the fate and behaviour of pesticides in surface and groundwater—a UK perspective. Sci. Total Environ. 369, 163– 177.
- Boeckman, C., Bidwell, J., 2006. The effects of temperature, suspended solids, and organic carbon on copper toxicity to two aquatic invertebrates. Water. Air. Soil Pollut. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-005-9036-3
- Bonada, N., Doledec, S., Statzner, B., 2007. Taxonomic and biological trait differences of stream macroinvertebrate communities between mediterranean and temperate regions: implications for future climatic scenarios. Glob. Change Biol. 13, 1658–1671.
- Bony, S., Colman, R., Kattsov, V.M., Allan, R.P., Bretherton, C.S., Dufresne, J.-L., Hall, A., Hallegatte, S., Holland, M.M., Ingram, W., Randall, D.A., Soden, B.J., Tselioudis, G., Webb, M.J., 2006. How Well Do We Understand and Evaluate Climate Change Feedback Processes? J. Clim. 19, 3445–3482. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI3819.1
- Boxall, A., Brown, C., Barrett, K., 2002. Higher-tier laboratory methods for assessing the aquatic toxicity of pesticides. PEST Manag. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.479
- Boxall, A., Kolpin, D., Halling-Sorensen, B., Tolls, J., 2003. Are veterinary medicines causing environmental risks? Environ. Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1021/es032519b
- Boxall, A.B.A., Hardy, A., Beulke, S., Boucard, T., Burgin, L., Falloon, P.D., Haygarth, P.M., Hutchinson, T., Kovats, R.S., Leonardi, G., Levy, L.S., Nichols, G., Parsons, S.A., Potts, L., Stone, D., Topp, E., Turley, D.B., Walsh, K., Wellington, E.M.H., Williams, R.J., 2009. Impacts of Climate Change on Indirect Human Exposure to Pathogens and Chemicals from Agriculture. Environ. Health Perspect. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0800084
- Boyle, T.P., Fairchild, J.F., 1997. The role of mesocosm studies in ecological risk analysis. Ecol. Appl. 7, 1099– 1102. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(1997)007[1099:TROMSI]2.0.CO;2
- Bradley, D., Ormerod, S., 2001. Community persistence among stream invertebrates tracks the North Atlantic Oscillation. J. Anim. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0021-8790.2001.00551.x

- Brans, K.I., De Meester, L., 2018. City life on fast lanes: Urbanization induces an evolutionary shift towards a faster lifestyle in the water flea Daphnia. Funct. Ecol. 32, 2225–2240. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13184
- Brauman, K.A., Daily, G.C., Duarte, T.K., Mooney, H.A., 2007. The nature and value of ecosystem services: An overview highlighting hydrologic services. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour., Annual Review of Environment and Resources. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy.32.031306.102758
- Brooks, B., Ankley, G., Boxall, A., Rudd, M., 2013. SETAC Launches Global Horizon Scanning/Research Prioritisation Project. SETAC Globe 14.
- Brose, U., Archambault, P., Barnes, A.D., Bersier, L.-F., Boy, T., Canning-Clode, J., Conti, E., Dias, M., Digel, C., Dissanayake, A., 2019. Predator traits determine food-web architecture across ecosystems. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 3, 919–927.
- Brown, C.D., van Beinum, W., 2009. Pesticide transport via sub-surface drains in Europe. Persistent Org. Pollut. Mt. Areas 157, 3314–3324. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2009.06.029
- Bruder, A., Salis, R.K., Jones, P.E., Matthaei, C.D., 2017. Biotic interactions modify multiple-stressor effects on juvenile brown trout in an experimental stream food web. Glob. CHANGE Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13696
- Burgmer, T., Hillebrand, H., Pfenninger, M., 2007. Effects of climate-driven temperature changes on the diversity of freshwater macroinvertebrates. OECOLOGIA. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0542-9
- Burt, T.P., Ferranti, E.J.S., 2012. Changing patterns of heavy rainfall in upland areas: a case study from northern England. Int. J. Climatol. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.2287
- Bussi, G., Whitehead, P.G., Gutierrez-Canovas, C., Ledesma, J.L.J., Ormerod, S.J., Couture, R.-M., 2018. Modelling the effects of climate and land-use change on the hydrochemistry and ecology of the River Wye (Wales). Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.295
- Cáceres, T., Megharaj, M., Naidu, R., 2008. Degradation of fenamiphos in soils collected from different geographical regions: the influence of soil properties and climatic conditions. J. Environ. Sci. Health Part B 43, 314–322.
- Cairns, J., 1986. The Myth of the Most Sensitive Species. BioScience 36, 670–672. https://doi.org/10.2307/1310388
- Cairns, J., Lanza, G.R., Parker, B.C., 1972. Pollution Related Structural and Functional Changes in Aquatic Communities with Emphasis on Freshwater Algae and Protozoa. Proc. Acad. Nat. Sci. Phila. 124, 79– 127.
- Camargo, J.A., 1994. The importance of biological monitoring for the ecological risk assessment of freshwater pollution: A case study. Environ. Int. 20, 229–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/0160-4120(94)90140-6
- Capel, P.D., McCarthy, K.A., Barbash, J.E., 2008. National, Holistic, Watershed-Scale Approach to Understand the Sources, Transport, and Fate of Agricultural Chemicals. J. Environ. Qual. 37, 983–993. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2007.0226
- Carsel, R.F., Mulkey, L.A., Lorber, M.N., Baskin, L.B., 1985. The pesticide root zone model (PRZM): A procedure for evaluating pesticide leaching threats to groundwater. Ecol. Model. 30, 49–69.
- Carson, R., 1962. Silent spring. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Carvalho, F.P., 2017. Pesticides, environment, and food safety. FOOD ENERGY Secur. https://doi.org/10.1002/fes3.108
- Cavoski, I., Caboni, P., Sarais, G., Miano, T., 2008. Degradation and Persistence of Rotenone in Soils and Influence of Temperature Variations. J. Agric. Food Chem. 56, 8066–8073. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf801461h
- Ceschin, S., Bellini, A., Scalici, M., 2021. Aquatic plants and ecotoxicological assessment in freshwater ecosystems: a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28, 4975–4988. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-11496-3
- Cess, R.D., 1976. Climate Change: An Appraisal of Atmospheric Feedback Mechanisms Employing Zonal Climatology. J. Atmospheric Sci. 33, 1831–1843. https://doi.org/10.1175/1520-0469(1976)033<1831:CCAAOA>2.0.CO;2
- Chamberlain, S.A., Szöcs, E., 2013. taxize: taxonomic search and retrieval in R. F1000Research 2.
- Chefetz, B., Mualem, T., Ben-Ari, J., 2008. Sorption and mobility of pharmaceutical compounds in soil irrigated with reclaimed wastewater. CHEMOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.06.070
- Chen, X., Stillman, J.H., 2012. Multigenerational analysis of temperature and salinity variability affects on metabolic rate, generation time, and acute thermal and salinity tolerance in Daphnia pulex. Plast. Therm. Toler. 37, 185–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2011.12.010

- Chiu, M.-C., Hunt, L., Resh, V.H., 2017. Climate-change influences on the response of macroinvertebrate communities to pesticide contamination in the Sacramento River, California watershed. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.002
- Chopelet, J., Blier, P.U., Dufresne, F., 2008. Plasticity of growth rate and metabolism in Daphnia magna populations from different thermal habitats. J. Exp. Zool. Part Ecol. Genet. Physiol. 309A, 553–562. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.488
- Christensen, P., Gillingham, K., Nordhaus, W., 2018. Uncertainty in forecasts of long-run economic growth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 115, 5409–5414.
- Clark, M.S., Peck, L.S., 2009. Triggers of the HSP70 stress response: environmental responses and laboratory manipulation in an Antarctic marine invertebrate (Nacella concinna). Cell Stress Chaperones 14, 649–660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12192-009-0117-x
- Clarke, A., 1987. Temperature, latitude and reproductive effort. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 38, 89–99.
- Clarke, R., Wright, J., Furse, M., 2003. RIVPACS models for predicting the expected macroinvertebrate fauna and assessing the ecological quality of rivers. Ecol. Model. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3800(02)00255-7
- Cleland, E.E., Collins, S.L., Dickson, T.L., Farrer, E.C., Gross, K.L., Gherardi, L.A., Hallett, L.M., Hobbs, R.J., Hsu, J.S., Turnbull, L., Suding, K.N., 2013. Sensitivity of grassland plant community composition to spatial vs. temporal variation in precipitation. Ecology 94, 1687–1696. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-1006.1
- Clem, K.R., Fogt, R.L., Turner, J., Lintner, B.R., Marshall, G.J., Miller, J.R., Renwick, J.A., 2020. Record warming at the South Pole during the past three decades. Nat. Clim. Change 10, 762–770. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0815-z
- Comber, M.H.I., Williams, T.D., Stewart, K.M., 1993. The effects of nonylphenol on Daphnia magna. Water Res. 27, 273–276. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(93)90086-W
- Conant, R.T., Ryan, M.G., Agren, G.I., Birge, H.E., Davidson, E.A., Eliasson, P.E., Evans, S.E., Frey, S.D., Giardina, C.P., Hopkins, F.M., Hyvonen, R., Kirschbaum, M.U.F., Lavallee, J.M., Leifeld, J., Parton, W.J., Steinweg, J.M., Wallenstein, M.D., Wetterstedt, J.A.M., Bradford, M.A., 2011. Temperature and soil organic matter decomposition rates synthesis of current knowledge and a way forward. Glob. CHANGE Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02496.x
- Contador, T., Kennedy, J., Ojeda, J., Feinsinger, P., Rozzi, R., 2014. Life cycles of freshwater invertebrates and global climate change in the sub-Antarctic Magellanic ecoregion: long-term ecological research at the Omora Ethonobotanical Park, Biosphere Reserve Cape Horn (55 degrees S). BOSQUE. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0717-92002014000300018
- Cooney, J.J., S. A. Silver, Beck, E.A., 1985. Factors Influencing Hydrocarbon Degradation in Three Freshwater Lakes. Microb. Ecol. 11, 127–137.
- Correa, J., Postma, J.A., Watt, M., Wojciechowski, T., 2019. Soil compaction and the architectural plasticity of root systems. J. Exp. Bot. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erz383
- Craig, P.S., 2013. Exploring novel ways of using species sensitivity distributions to establish PNECs for industrial chemicals: Final report to Project Steering Group 3 April 2013. (Technical Report). DU.
- Craig, P.S., Hickey, G.L., Luttik, R., Hart, A., 2012. Species non-exchangeability in probabilistic ecotoxicological risk assessment. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. -Stat. Soc. 175, 243–262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-985X.2011.00716.x
- Cranfield University, 2021. LandIS: The Soils Guide.
- Craufurd, P.Q., Wheeler, T.R., 2009. Climate change and the flowering time of annual crops. J. Exp. Bot. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erp196
- Cuco, A.P., Abrantes, N., Goncalves, F., Wolinska, J., Castro, B.B., 2016. Toxicity of two fungicides in Daphnia: is it always temperature-dependent? ECOTOXICOLOGY. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-016-1689-8
- Cuenca Cambronero, M., Marshall, H., De Meester, L., Davidson, T.A., Beckerman, A.P., Orsini, L., 2018. Predictability of the impact of multiple stressors on the keystone species Daphnia. Sci. Rep. 8, 17572. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-35861-y
- Cunningham, V., 2006. Effects of Human Pharmaceuticals on Aquatic Life: Next Steps. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 3456–3462. https://doi.org/10.1021/es063017b
- Daam, M.A., Van den Brink, P.J., 2010. Implications of differences between temperate and tropical freshwater ecosystems for the ecological risk assessment of pesticides. Ecotoxicology 19, 24–37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-009-0402-6

Dallas, H.F., Rivers-Moore, N.A., 2012a. Critical thermal maxima of aquatic macroinvertebrates: towards identifying bioindicators of thermal alteration. Hydrobiologia 679, 61–76.

Dallas, H.F., Rivers-Moore, N.A., 2012b. Critical thermal maxima of aquatic macroinvertebrates: towards identifying bioindicators of thermal alteration. Hydrobiologia 679, 61–76.

- Daryanto, S., Fu, B., Wang, L., Jacinthe, P.-A., Zhao, W., 2018. Quantitative synthesis on the ecosystem services of cover crops. EARTH-Sci. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2018.06.013
- Dasgupta, S., Peng, X., Chen, S., Li, J., Du, M., Zhou, Y., Zhong, G., Xu, H., Ta, K., 2018. Toxic anthropogenic pollutants reach the deepest ocean on Earth.
- Daughton, C., Ternes, T., 1999. Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: Agents of subtle change? Environ. Health Perspect. https://doi.org/10.2307/3434573
- Davy-Bowker, J., Clarke, R.T., Johnson, R.K., Kokes, J., Murphy, J.F., Zahrádková, S., 2006. A comparison of the European Water Framework Directive physical typology and RIVPACS-type models as alternative methods of establishing reference conditions for benthic macroinvertebrates. Hydrobiologia 566, 91– 105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-006-0068-5
- Dayan, F.E., 2019. Current Status and Future Prospects in Herbicide Discovery. Plants 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants8090341
- de Beeck, L.O., Verheyen, J., Olsen, K., Stoks, R., 2017. Negative effects of pesticides under global warming can be counteracted by a higher degradation rate and thermal adaptation. J. Appl. Ecol. 54, 1847–1855. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12919
- de Oliveira, E., Lopes, R., Paumgartten, F., 2004. Comparative study on the susceptibility of freshwater species to copper-based pesticides. CHEMOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.04.026
- Delcour, I., Spanoghe, P., Uyttendaele, M., 2015. Literature review: Impact of climate change on pesticide use. FOOD Res. Int. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2014.09.030
- Delnat, V., Tran, T.T., Verheyen, J., Dinh, K.V., Janssens, L., Stoks, R., 2019. Temperature variation magnifies chlorpyrifos toxicity differently between larval and adult mosquitoes. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.030
- Delnat, V., Verborgt, J., Janssens, L., Stoks, R., 2021. Daily temperature variation lowers the lethal and sublethal impact of a pesticide pulse due to a higher degradation rate. CHEMOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128114
- Di, H., Cameron, K., 2004. Effects of temperature and application rate of a nitrification inhibitor, dicyandiamide (DCD), on nitrification rate and microbial biomass in a grazed pasture soil. Aust. J. SOIL Res. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR04050
- Di Luzio, M., Srinivasan, R., Arnold, J.G., 2002. Integration of watershed tools and SWAT model into basins. JAWRA J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 38, 1127–1141. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2002.tb05551.x
- Dinh Van, K., Janssens, L., Debecker, S., Stoks, R., 2014. Temperature- and latitude-specific individual growth rates shape the vulnerability of damselfly larvae to a widespread pesticide. J. Appl. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12269
- Dudgeon, D., Arthington, A.H., Gessner, M.O., Kawabata, Z.-I., Knowler, D.J., Leveque, C., Naiman, R.J., Prieur-Richard, A.-H., Soto, D., Stiassny, M.L.J., Sullivan, C.A., 2006. Freshwater biodiversity: importance, threats, status and conservation challenges. Biol. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1464793105006950
- Dunn, S.M., Brown, I., Sample, J., Post, H., 2012. Relationships between climate, water resources, land use and diffuse pollution and the significance of uncertainty in climate change. J. Hydrol. 434, 19–35.
- Durance, I., Ormerod, S.J., 2007. Climate change effects on upland stream macroinvertebrates over a 25-year period. Glob. CHANGE Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01340.x
- ECHA, 2008. Guidance on information requirements and chemical safety assessment Chapter R.10: Characterisation of dose [concentration]-response for environment. Eur. Chem. Agency.
- EEA, 2019. Europe's state of the environment 2020: change of direction urgently needed to face climate change challenges, reverse degradation and ensure future prosperity.
- EFSA, 2015. Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of the active substance glyphosate. EFSA J. 13, 4302. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4302
- EFSA, 2014. Scientific Opinion on good modelling practice in the context of mechanistic effect models for risk assessment of plant protection products. EFSA J. 12, 3589. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3589
- EFSA, 2013a. Guidance on tiered risk assessment for plant protection products for aquatic organisms in edge-offield surface waters. EFSA J. 11, 3290. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3290

- EFSA, 2013b. Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of confirmatory data submitted for the active substance Copper (I), copper (II) variants namely copper hydroxide, copper oxychloride, tribasic copper sulfate, copper (I) oxide, Bordeaux mixture. EFSA J. 11, 3235. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3235
- EFSA, 2010. Scientific Opinion on the development of specific protection goal options for environmental risk assessment of pesticides, in particular in relation to the revision of the Guidance Documents on Aquatic and Terrestrial Ecotoxicology (SANCO/3268/2001 and SANCO/10329/2002). EFSA J. 8, 1821. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1821
- EFSA, 2008. Opinion on a request from EFSA related to the default Q10 value used to describe the temperature effect on transformation rates of pesticides in soil Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Plant Protection Products and their Residues (PPR Panel). EFSA J. 6, 622. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2008.622
- EFSA, 2006. Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Plant protection products and their residues (PPR) a request from the Commission on the Guidance Document on Estimating Persistence and Degradation Kinetics from Environmental Fate Studies on Pesticides in EU Registration. EFSA J. 4, 300. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2006.300
- EFSA, Benford, D., Halldorsson, T., Jeger, M.J., Knutsen, H.K., More, S., Naegeli, H., Noteborn, H., Ockleford, C., Ricci, A., Rychen, G., Schlatter, J.R., Silano, V., Solecki, R., Turck, D., Younes, M., Craig, P., Hart, A., Von Goetz, N., Koutsoumanis, K., Mortensen, A., Ossendorp, B., Germini, A., Martino, L., Merten, C., Mosbach-Schulz, O., Smith, A., Hardy, A., 2018a. The principles and methods behind EFSA's Guidance on Uncertainty Analysis in Scientific Assessment. EFSA J. 16, e05122. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5122
- EFSA, E.F.S., Arena, M., Auteri, D., Barmaz, S., Bellisai, G., Brancato, A., Brocca, D., Bura, L., Byers, H., Chiusolo, A., Court Marques, D., Crivellente, F., De Lentdecker, C., Egsmose, M., Erdos, Z., Fait, G., Ferreira, L., Goumenou, M., Greco, L., Ippolito, A., Istace, F., Jarrah, S., Kardassi, D., Leuschner, R., Lythgo, C., Magrans, J.O., Medina, P., Miron, I., Molnar, T., Nougadere, A., Padovani, L., Parra Morte, J.M., Pedersen, R., Reich, H., Sacchi, A., Santos, M., Serafimova, R., Sharp, R., Stanek, A., Streissl, F., Sturma, J., Szentes, C., Tarazona, J., Terron, A., Theobald, A., Vagenende, B., Verani, A., Villamar-Bouza, L., 2018. Peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of the active substance copper compounds copper(I), copper(II) variants namely copper hydroxide, copper oxychloride, tribasic copper sulfate, copper(I) oxide, Bordeaux mixture. EFSA J. 16, e05152. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5152
- EFSA, Maggiore, A., Afonso, A., Barrucci, F., Sanctis, G.D., 2020. Climate change as a driver of emerging risks for food and feed safety, plant, animal health and nutritional quality. EFSA Support. Publ. 17, 1881E. https://doi.org/10.2903/sp.efsa.2020.EN-1881
- EFSA, Ockleford, C., Adriaanse, P., Berny, P., Brock, T., Duquesne, S., Grilli, S., Hernandez-Jerez, A.F., Bennekou, S.H., Klein, M., Kuhl, T., Laskowski, R., Machera, K., Pelkonen, O., Pieper, S., Smith, R.H., Stemmer, M., Sundh, I., Tiktak, A., Topping, C.J., Wolterink, G., Cedergreen, N., Charles, S., Focks, A., Reed, M., Arena, M., Ippolito, A., Byers, H., Teodorovic, I., 2018b. Scientific Opinion on the state of the art of Toxicokinetic/Toxicodynamic (TKTD) effect models for regulatory risk assessment of pesticides for aquatic organisms. EFSA J. 16, e05377. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5377
- Ellis, E.C., Gauthier, N., Klein Goldewijk, K., Bliege Bird, R., Boivin, N., Díaz, S., Fuller, D.Q., Gill, J.L., Kaplan, J.O., Kingston, N., Locke, H., McMichael, C.N.H., Ranco, D., Rick, T.C., Shaw, M.R., Stephens, L., Svenning, J.-C., Watson, J.E.M., 2021. People have shaped most of terrestrial nature for at least 12,000 years. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 118, e2023483118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2023483118
- Ellis, E.C., Klein Goldewijk, K., Siebert, S., Lightman, D., Ramankutty, N., 2010. Anthropogenic transformation of the biomes, 1700 to 2000. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 19, 589–606. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00540.x
- Elrashidi, M.A., Seybold, C.A., Delgado, J., 2013. Annual precipitation and effects of runoff nutrient from agricultural watersheds on water quality. Soil Sci. 178, 679–688.
- EMA, Murphy, D., Ricci, A., Auce, Z., Beechinor, J.G., Bergendahl, H., Breathnach, R., Bureš, J., Duarte Da Silva, J.P., Hederová, J., Hekman, P., Ibrahim, C., Kozhuharov, E., Kulcsár, G., Lander Persson, E., Lenhardsson, J.M., Mačiulskis, P., Malemis, I., Markus-Cizelj, L., Michaelidou-Patsia, A., Nevalainen, M., Pasquali, P., Rouby, J.-C., Schefferlie, J., Schlumbohm, W., Schmit, M., Spiteri, S., Srčič, S., Taban, L., Tiirats, T., Urbain, B., Vestergaard, E.-M., Wachnik-Święcicka, A., Weeks, J., Zemann, B., Allende, A., Bolton, D., Chemaly, M., Fernandez Escamez, P.S., Girones, R., Herman, L., Koutsoumanis, K., Lindqvist, R., Nørrung, B., Robertson, L., Ru, G., Sanaa, M., Simmons, M., Skandamis, P., Snary, E., Speybroeck, N., Ter

Kuile, B., Wahlström, H., Baptiste, K., Catry, B., Cocconcelli, P.S., Davies, R., Ducrot, C., Friis, C., Jungersen, G., More, S., Muñoz Madero, C., Sanders, P., Bos, M., Kunsagi, Z., Torren Edo, J., Brozzi, R., Candiani, D., Guerra, B., Liebana, E., Stella, P., Threlfall, J., Jukes, H., 2017. EMA and EFSA Joint Scientific Opinion on measures to reduce the need to use antimicrobial agents in animal husbandry in the European Union, and the resulting impacts on food safety (RONAFA). EFSA J. 15, e04666. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4666

- Enanga, E.M., Creed, I.F., Casson, N.J., Beall, F.D., 2016. Summer storms trigger soil N2O efflux episodes in forested catchments. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 121, 95–108.
- Environment Agency, 2020. The Catchment Data Explorer.
- Environment Agency, 2018. The state of the environment: water quality.
- Environment Agency, E., NIEA, NRW, SEPA, 2021. River Invertebrate Classification Tool (RICT).
- Ernst, M.R., Beitinger, T.L., Stewart, K.W., 1984. Critical thermal maxima of nymphs of three Plecoptera species from an Ozark foothill stream. Freshw. Invertebr. Biol. 3, 80–85.
- EU Commission, 2002. Commission Regulation (EC) No 473/2002.
- Fabrega, J., Carapeto, R., 2020. Regulatory review of the environmental risk assessment of veterinary medicinal products in the European Union, with particular focus on the centralised authorisation procedure. Environ. Sci. Eur. 32, 99. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-020-00374-x
- FAO, 2020. FAOSTAT: Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations Data Repository.
- Farenhorst, A., McQueen, D.A.R., Saiyed, I., Hilderbrand, C., Li, S., Lobb, D.A., Messing, P., Schumacher, T.E., Papiernik, S.K., Lindstrom, M.J., 2009. Variations in soil properties and herbicide sorption coefficients with depth in relation to PRZM (pesticide root zone model) calculations. Geoderma 150, 267–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2009.02.002
- Farmahin, R., Wu, D., Crump, D., Hervé, J.C., Jones, S.P., Hahn, M.E., Karchner, S.I., Giesy, J.P., Bursian, S.J., Zwiernik, M.J., Kennedy, S.W., 2012. Sequence and In Vitro Function of Chicken, Ring-Necked Pheasant, and Japanese Quail AHR1 Predict In Vivo Sensitivity to Dioxins. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46, 2967–2975. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2043992
- Fedorenkova, A., Vonk, J.A., Lenders, H.J.R., Ouborg, N.J., Breure, A.M., Hendriks, A.J., 2010. Ecotoxicogenomics: Bridging the Gap between Genes and Populations. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 4328–4333. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9037287
- Fent, K., Weston, A., Caminada, D., 2006. Ecotoxicology of human pharmaceuticals. Aquat. Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2005.09.009
- Ficklin, D.L., Luo, Y., Luedeling, E., Gatzke, S.E., Zhang, M., 2010. Sensitivity of agricultural runoff loads to rising levels of CO2 and climate change in the San Joaquin Valley watershed of California. Environ. Pollut. 158, 223–234.
- Fijalkowski, K., Rorat, A., Grobelak, A., Kacprzak, M.J., 2017. The presence of contaminations in sewage sludge -The current situation. J. Environ. Manage. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.05.068
- FOCUS, 2021. FOrum for the Co-ordination of pesticide fate models and their USe DG SANTE [WWW Document]. URL https://esdac.jrc.ec.europa.eu/projects/focus-dg-sante (accessed 9.15.21).
- FOCUS, 2006. Guidance document on estimating persistence and degradation kinetics from environmental fate studies on pesticides in EU registration. Rep. FOCUS Work Group Degrad. Kinet. EC Document Reference Sanco/10058/2005 version 2.0, 434 pp.
- Forbes, V.E., Calow, P., 2002. Species Sensitivity Distributions Revisited: A Critical Appraisal. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. Int. J. 8, 473–492. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807030290879781
- Franco, A., Price, O.R., Marshall, S., Jolliet, O., Van den Brink, P.J., Rico, A., Focks, A., De Laender, F., Ashauer, R., 2017. Toward refined environmental scenarios for ecological risk assessment of down-the-drain chemicals in freshwater environments. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 13, 233–248. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.1801
- Gagnon, P., Sheedy, C., Rousseau, A.N., Bourgeois, G., Chouinard, G., 2016. Integrated assessment of climate change impact on surface runoff contamination by pesticides. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 12, 559– 571. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.1706
- García-Prieto, J.C., Cachaza, J.M., Pérez-Galende, P., Roig, M.G., 2012. Impact of drought on the ecological and chemical status of surface water and on the content of arsenic and fluoride pollutants of groundwater in the province of Salamanca (Western Spain). Chem. Ecol. 28, 545–560.
- Garthwaite, R.M.& Y.L., I. Barker, L. Ridley, A. Mace, G. Parrish, 2018. Pesticide useage survey report 271: Arable crops in the UK Version 2. Fera Sci. Ltd, Pesticide Useage Survey Report.

- Gavrilescu, M., Demnerova, K., Aamand, J., Agathoss, S., Fava, F., 2015. Emerging pollutants in the environment: present and future challenges in biomonitoring, ecological risks and bioremediation. NEW Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2014.01.001
- Gericke, D., Nekovar, J., Horold, C., 2010. Estimation of plant protection product application dates for environmental fate modeling based on phenological stages of crops. J. Environ. Sci. Health Part B-Pestic. Food Contam. Agric. Wastes 45, PII 926886156. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601234.2010.502433
- Gil, E., Gallart, M., Balsari, P., Marucco, P., Almajano, M.P., Llop, J., 2015. Influence of wind velocity and wind direction on measurements of spray drift potential of boom sprayers using drift test bench. Agric. For. Meteorol. 202, 94–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2014.12.002
- Giller, K., Witter, E., McGrath, S., 1998. Toxicity of heavy metals to microorganisms and microbial processes in agricultural soils: A review. SOIL Biol. Biochem. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(97)00270-8
- Gogos, A., Knauer, K., Bucheli, T.D., 2012. Nanomaterials in Plant Protection and Fertilization: Current State, Foreseen Applications, and Research Priorities. J. Agric. FOOD Chem. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf302154y
- Gomez-Zavaglia, A., Mejuto, J.C., Simal-Gandara, J., 2020. Mitigation of emerging implications of climate change on food production systems. FOOD Res. Int. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2020.109256
- Gondim, R.S., de Castro, M.A., Maia, A. de H., Evangelista, S.R., Fuck, S.C. de F., 2012. Climate Change Impacts on Irrigation Water Needs in the jaguaribe River Basin 1. JAWRA J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 48, 355– 365.
- Green, J., 1956. Growth, size and reproduction in Daphnia (Crustacea: Cladocera), in: Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London. Wiley Online Library, pp. 173–204.
- Grist, E.P.M., Leung, K.M.Y., Wheeler, J.R., Crane, M., 2002. Better bootstrap estimation of hazardous concentration thresholds for aquatic assemblages. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 21, 1515–1524. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620210725
- Gros, M., Mas-Pla, J., Boy-Roura, M., Geli, I., Domingo, F., Petrović, M., 2019. Veterinary pharmaceuticals and antibiotics in manure and slurry and their fate in amended agricultural soils: Findings from an experimental field site (Baix Empordà, NE Catalonia). Sci. Total Environ. 654, 1337–1349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.061
- Guenard, G., von der Ohe, P.C., de Zwart, D., Legendre, P., Lek, S., 2011. Using phylogenetic information to predict species tolerances to toxic chemicals. Ecol. Appl. 21, 3178–3190. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-2242.1
- Guenard, G., von der Ohe, P.C., Walker, S.C., Lek, S., Legendre, P., 2014. Using phylogenetic information and chemical properties to predict species tolerances to pesticides. Proc. R. Soc. B-Biol. Sci. 281, 20133239. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.3239
- Haap, T., Schwarz, S., Koehler, H.-R., 2016. Metallothionein and Hsp70 trade-off against one another in Daphnia magna cross-tolerance to cadmium and heat stress. Aquat. Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.11.008
- Hallett, S.H., Sakrabani, R., Keay, C.A., Hannam, J.A., 2017. Developments in Land Information Systems: Case studies in land resource management capabilities and options. Soil Use and Management. https://doi.org/10.1111/sum.12380
- Hannaford, J., Buys, G., 2012. Trends in seasonal river flow regimes in the UK. J. Hydrol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2012.09.044
- Harrass, M., 1996. Regulatory use of ecotoxicity statistics: A US perspective. ECOTOXICOLOGY. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00116336
- Hawkins, E., Sutton, R., 2011. The potential to narrow uncertainty in projections of regional precipitation change. Clim. Dyn. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-010-0810-6
- Hébert, M.-P., Beisner, B.E., Maranger, R., 2016. A compilation of quantitative functional traits for marine and freshwater crustacean zooplankton. Ecology 97, 1081–1081. https://doi.org/10.1890/15-1275.1
- Helander, M., Saloniemi, I., Saikkonen, K., 2012. Glyphosate in northern ecosystems. Trends Plant Sci. 17, 569– 574. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2012.05.008
- Henriques, C., Garnett, K., Weatherhead, E.K., Lickorish, F.A., Forrow, D., Delgado, J., 2015. The future water environment Using scenarios to explore the significant water management challenges in England and Wales to 2050. Sci. Total Environ. 512–513, 381–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.12.047

Hickey, G.L., Craig, P.S., Hart, A., 2009. On the application of loss functions in determining assessment factors for ecological risk. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 72, 293–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2008.06.004

- Hickey, G.L., Craig, P.S., Luttik, R., de Zwart, D., 2012. On the quantification of intertest variability in ecotoxicity data with application to species sensitivity distributions. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 31, 1903–1910. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.1891
- Hirabayashi, Y., Kanae, S., Emori, S., Oki, T., Kimoto, M., 2008. Global projections of changing risks of floods and droughts in a changing climate. Hydrol. Sci. J. 53, 754–772.
- Hochmuth, J.D., Janssen, C.R., De Schamphelaere, K.A.C., 2016. Temperature and food concentration have limited influence on the mixture toxicity of copper and Microcystis aeruginosa to Daphnia magna. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3235
- Hoekstra, J.A., Vaal, M.A., Notenboom, J., Slooff, W., 1994. Variation in the sensitivity of aquatic species to toxicants. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 53, 98–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00205145
- Hofmann, G., Somero, G., 1995. Evidence for protein damage at environmental temperatures: seasonal changes in levels of ubiquitin conjugates and hsp70 in the intertidal mussel Mytilus trossulus. J. Exp. Biol. 198, 1509–1518. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.198.7.1509
- Hommen, U., Baveco, J. (Hans), Galic, N., van den Brink, P.J., 2010. Potential application of ecological models in the European environmental risk assessment of chemicals I: Review of protection goals in EU directives and regulations. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 6, 325–337. https://doi.org/10.1002/ieam.69
- Howard, A.J., Kincey, M., Carey, C., 2015. Preserving the Legacy of Historic Metal-Mining Industries in Light of<br/>the Water Framework Directive and Future Environmental Change in Mainland Britain: Challenges for<br/>the Heritage Community. Hist. Environ.-POLICY Pract.<br/>https://doi.org/10.1179/1756750514Z.0000000061
- Hrdinka, T., Novický, O., Hanslík, E., Rieder, M., 2012. Possible impacts of floods and droughts on water quality. J. Hydro-Environ. Res. 6, 145–150.
- HSE, 2021. Essential use authorisation: Commission Decision of 13 February 2014 concerning the placing on the market for essential use of biocidal products containing copper.
- Hudak, P.F., Banks, K.E., 2006. Compositions of first flush and composite storm water runoff in small urban and rural watersheds, north-central Texas. URBAN WATER J. https://doi.org/10.1080/15730620600578678
- Hutson, J.L., 1993. Applying one-dimensional deterministic chemical fate models on a regional scale. Geoderma 60, 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/0016-7061(93)90027-I
- Ibrahim, L., Preuss, T.G., Ratte, H.T., Hommen, U., 2013. A list of fish species that are potentially exposed to pesticides in edge-of-field water bodies in the European Union—a first step towards identifying vulnerable representatives for risk assessment. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 20, 2679–2687. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1471-x
- Im, H., Samanta, P., Na, J., Jung, J., 2019. Time-Dependent Responses of Oxidative Stress, Growth, and Reproduction of Daphnia magna Under Thermal Stress. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 102, 817–821. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-019-02613-1
- IPBES, Brondizio, E.S., Settele, J., Díaz, S., Ngo, H.T., 2019. Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
- Iqbal, N., Manalil, S., Chauhan, B.S., Adkins, S., 2021. Effect of Different Climate Change Variables on the Ecology and Management of Sesbania cannabina through Glyphosate. Plants 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants10050910
- Jabran, K., Doğan, M.N., 2018. High carbon dioxide concentration and elevated temperature impact the growth of weeds but do not change the efficacy of glyphosate. Pest Manag. Sci. 74, 766–771. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.4788
- Jaccard, P., 1912. The distribution of the flora in the alpine zone. New Phytol. 11, 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1912.tb05611.x
- Jackson, F.L., Fryer, R.J., Hannah, D.M., Millar, C.P., Malcolm, I.A., 2018. A spatio-temporal statistical model of maximum daily river temperatures to inform the management of Scotland's Atlantic salmon rivers under climate change. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.010
- Jackson, S.H., 2004. Use of PRZM-3 to validate a laboratory to field degradation conceptual model. Pest Manag. Sci. 60, 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.804
- Jarvis, N.J., Hollis, J.M., Nicholls, P.H., Mayr, T., Evans, S.P., 1997. MACRO—DB: a decision-support tool for assessing pesticide fate and mobility in soils. Environ. Model. Softw. 12, 251–265.

- Johnson, L., Richards, C., Host, G., Arthur, J., 1997. Landscape influences on water chemistry in Midwestern stream ecosystems. Freshw. Biol. 37, 193–208. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.1997.d01-539.x
- Juvigny-Khenafou, N.P.D., Piggott, J.J., Atkinson, D., Zhang, Y., Macaulay, S.J., Wu, N., Matthaei, C.D., 2021. Impacts of multiple anthropogenic stressors on stream macroinvertebrate community composition and functional diversity. Ecol. Evol. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6979
- Kattwinkel, M., Kuehne, J.-V., Foit, K., Liess, M., 2011. Climate change, agricultural insecticide exposure, and risk for freshwater communities. Ecol. Appl. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-1993.1
- Kay, A.L., Rudd, A.C., Fry, M., Nash, G., Allen, S., 2021. Climate change impacts on peak river flows: Combining national-scale hydrological modelling and probabilistic projections. Clim. RISK Manag. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2020.100263
- Kay, A.L., Watts, G., Wells, S.C., Allen, S., 2020. The impact of climate change on U. K. river flows: A preliminary comparison of two generations of probabilistic climate projections. Hydrol. Process. 34, 1081–1088. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.13644
- Kendon, E.J., Roberts, N.M., Fowler, H.J., Roberts, M.J., Chan, S.C., Senior, C.A., 2014. Heavier summer downpours with climate change revealed by weather forecast resolution model. Nat. Clim. CHANGE. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCLIMATE2258
- Kendon, M., McCarthy, M., Jevrejeva, S., Matthews, A., Legg, T., 2019. State of the UK climate 2018. Int. J. Climatol. 39, 1–55.
- Kendon, M., McCarthy, M., Jevrejeva, S., Matthews, A., Sparks, T., Garforth, J., 2020. State of the UK Climate 2019. Int. J. Climatol. 40, 1–69.
- Kennedy-Asser, A.T., Andrews, O., Mitchell, D.M., Warren, R.F., 2021. Evaluating heat extremes in the UK Climate Projections (UKCP18). Environ. Res. Lett. 16, 014039. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abc4ad
- Kidd, K.A., Paterson, M.J., Rennie, M.D., Podemski, C.L., Findlay, D.L., Blanchfield, P.J., Liber, K., 2014. Direct and indirect responses of a freshwater food web to a potent synthetic oestrogen. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 369, 20130578. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0578
- King, R.S., Brain, R.A., Back, J.A., Becker, C., Wright, M.V., Toteu Djomte, V., Scott, W.C., Virgil, S.R., Brooks, B.W., Hosmer, A.J., Chambliss, C.K., 2016. Effects of pulsed atrazine exposures on autotrophic community structure, biomass, and production in field-based stream mesocosms. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35, 660– 675. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3213
- Kinney, C., Furlong, E., Werner, S., Cahill, J., 2006. Presence and distribution of wastewater-derived pharmaceuticals in soil irrigated with reclaimed water. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-187R.1
- Knillmann, S., Stampfli, N.C., Noskov, Y.A., Beketov, M.A., Liess, M., 2013. Elevated temperature prolongs longterm effects of a pesticide on Daphnia spp. due to altered competition in zooplankton communities. Glob. CHANGE Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12151
- Kookana, R., Holz, G., Barnes, C., Bubb, K., Fremlin, R., Boardman, B., 2010. Impact of climatic and soil conditions on environmental fate of atrazine used under plantation forestry in Australia. J. Environ. Manage. 91, 2649–2656.
- Kroiher, M., Walther, M., Berking, S., 1992. Heat shock as inducer of metamorphosis in marine invertebrates. Rouxs Arch. Dev. Biol. 201, 169–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00188715
- Kuemmerer, K., Dionysiou, D.D., Olsson, O., Fatta-Kassinos, D., 2019. Reducing aquatic micropollutants -Increasing the focus on input prevention and integrated emission management. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.219
- Ladányi, M., Horváth, L., 2010. A review of the potential climate change impact on insect populations- general and agricultural aspects. Appl. Ecol. Environ. Res. 8, 143–152.
- LaLone, C.A., Villeneuve, D.L., Burgoon, L.D., Russom, C.L., Helgen, H.W., Berninger, J.P., Tietge, J.E., Severson, M.N., Cavallin, J.E., Ankley, G.T., 2013. Molecular target sequence similarity as a basis for species extrapolation to assess the ecological risk of chemicals with known modes of action. Aquat. Toxicol. 144–145, 141–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2013.09.004
- Lamkemeyer, T., Zeis, B., Paul, R.J., 2003. Temperature acclimation influences temperature-related behaviour as well as oxygen-transport physiology and biochemistry in the water flea Daphnia magna. Can. J. Zool. 81, 237–249.
- Lammoglia, S.-K., Brun, F., Quemar, T., Moeys, J., Barriuso, E., Gabrielle, B., Mamy, L., 2018. Modelling pesticides leaching in cropping systems: Effect of uncertainties in climate, agricultural practices, soil and pesticide properties. Environ. Model. Softw. 109, 342–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2018.08.007
- Lasram, S., Oueslati, S., Valero, A., Marin, S., Ghorbel, A., Sanchis, V., 2010. Water Activity and Temperature Effects on Fungal Growth and Ochratoxin A Production by Ochratoxigenic Aspergillus carbonarius Isolated from Tunisian Grapes. J. Food Sci. 75, M89–M97. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2009.01484.x
- Legendre, P., Borcard, D., Peres-Neto, P.R., 2005. Analyzing beta diversity: partitioning the spatial variation of community composition data. Ecol. Monogr. 75, 435–450. https://doi.org/10.1890/05-0549
- Lewan, E., Kreuger, J., Jarvis, N., 2009. Implications of precipitation patterns and antecedent soil water content for leaching of pesticides from arable land. Agric. Water Manag. 96, 1633–1640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2009.06.006
- Liess, M., von der Ohe, P.C., 2005. Analyzing effects of pesticides on invertebrate communities in streams. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 24, 954–965. https://doi.org/10.1897/03-652.1
- Liu, Y., Pan, X., Li, J., 2015. A 1961-2010 record of fertilizer use, pesticide application and cereal yields: a review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-014-0259-9
- Loreau, M., Mazancourt, C., 2013. Biodiversity and ecosystem stability: a synthesis of underlying mechanisms. Ecol. Lett. 16, 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12073
- Lorenz, S., Rasmussen, J.J., Süß, A., Kalettka, T., Golla, B., Horney, P., Stähler, M., Hommel, B., Schäfer, R.B., 2017. Specifics and challenges of assessing exposure and effects of pesticides in small water bodies. Hydrobiologia 793, 213–224. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-2973-6
- Lowe, J.A., Bernie, D., Bett, P., Bricheno, L., Brown, S., Calvert, D., Clark, R., Eagle, K., Edwards, T., Fosser, G., 2018. UKCP18 science overview report. Exeter UK Met Off. Hadley Cent.
- Lucarini, V., Ragone, F., Lunkeit, F., 2017. Predicting Climate Change Using Response Theory: Global Averages and Spatial Patterns. J. Stat. Phys. 166, 1036–1064. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10955-016-1506-z
- Ma, J., Hung, H., Macdonald, R.W., 2016. The influence of global climate change on the environmental fate of persistent organic pollutants: A review with emphasis on the Northern Hemisphere and the Arctic as a receptor. Glob. Planet. CHANGE. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2016.09.011
- Ma, Q., Wauchope, R.D., Rojas, K.W., Ahuja, L.R., Ma, L., Malone, R.W., 2004. The pesticide module of the Root Zone Water Quality Model (RZWQM): testing and sensitivity analysis of selected algorithms for pesticide, fate and surface runoff. Pest Manag. Sci. 60, 240–252. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.790
- Macaulay, S.J., Hageman, K.J., Piggott, J.J., Matthaei, C.D., 2021. Time-cumulative effects of neonicotinoid exposure, heatwaves and food limitation on stream mayfly nymphs: A multiple-stressor experiment. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141941
- Maclean, I.M.D., Suggitt, A.J., Wilson, R.J., Duffy, J.P., Bennie, J.J., 2017. Fine-scale climate change: modelling spatial variation in biologically meaningful rates of warming. Glob. Change Biol. 23, 256–268. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13343
- Malaj, E., Guenard, G., Schafer, R.B., von der Ohe, P.C., 2016. Evolutionary patterns and physicochemical properties explain macroinvertebrate sensitivity to heavy metals. Ecol. Appl. 26, 1249–1259. https://doi.org/10.1890/15-0346
- Malaj, E., von der Ohe, P.C., Grote, M., Kuehne, R., Mondy, C.P., Usseglio-Polatera, P., Brack, W., Schaefer, R.B., 2014. Organic chemicals jeopardize the health of freshwater ecosystems on the continental scale. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1321082111
- Malhi, Y., Franklin, J., Seddon, N., Solan, M., Turner, M.G., Field, C.B., Knowlton, N., 2020. Climate change and ecosystems: threats, opportunities and solutions. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 375, 20190104. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0104
- Maltby, E., Ormerod, S., Acreman, M., Dunbar, M., Jenkins, A., Maberly, S., Newman, J., Blackwell, M., Ward, R., 2011. Freshwaters: openwaters, wetlands and floodplains [chapter 9].
- Maltby, L., Blake, N., Brock, T.C.M., Van den Brink, P.J., 2005. Insecticide species sensitivity distributions: Importance of test species selection and relevance to aquatic ecosystems. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 24, 379–388. https://doi.org/10.1897/04-025R.1
- Mangas, E., Vaquero, M., Comellas, L., Broto-Puig, F., 1998. Analysis and fate of aliphatic hydrocarbons, linear alkylbenzenes, polychlorinated biphenyls and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sewage sludge amended soils. CHEMOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(97)00350-0
- Marcinkowski, Pawel, Piniewski, M., 2018. Effect of climate change on sowing and harvest dates of spring barley and maize in Poland. Int. AGROPHYSICS. https://doi.org/10.1515/intag-2017-0015
- Marcinkowski, Paweł, Piniewski, M., 2018. Effect of climate change on sowing and harvest dates of spring barley and maize in Poland. Int. Agrophysics 32, 265–271. https://doi.org/10.1515/intag-2017-0015

- Matthies, M., Beulke, S., 2017. Considerations of temperature in the context of the persistence classification in the EU. Environ. Sci. Eur. 29, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-017-0113-1
- Maxwell, S.L., Fuller, R.A., Brooks, T.M., Watson, J.E., 2016. Biodiversity: The ravages of guns, nets and bulldozers. Nat. News 536, 143.
- Mayes, W.M., Perks, M.T., Large, A.R.G., Davis, J.E., Gandy, C.J., Orme, P.A.H., Jarvis, A.P., 2021. Effect of an extreme flood event on solute transport and resilience of a mine water treatment system in a mineralised catchment. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141693
- McCauley, S.J., Hammond, J.I., Mabry, K.E., 2018. Simulated climate change increases larval mortality, alters phenology, and affects flight morphology of a dragonfly. ECOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2151
- Met Office, 2021. UK climate districts map [WWW Document]. URL https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/climate/maps-and-data/about/districts-map (accessed 4.14.21).
- Met Office, 2019. Met Office Hadley Centre (2019): UKCP Local Projections on a 5km grid over the UK for 1980-2080.
- Met Office Hadley Centre, 2017. UKCP09: Land and marine past climate and future scenario projections data for the UK.
- Met Office UKCP, 2018. UKCP18 Project announcement.
- Metz, F., Ingold, K., 2017. Politics of the precautionary principle: assessing actors' preferences in water protection policy. Policy Sci. 50, 721–743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11077-017-9295-z
- Michael, I., Rizzo, L., McArdell, C.S., Manaia, C.M., Merlin, C., Schwartz, T., Dagot, C., Fatta-Kassinos, D., 2013. Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for the release of antibiotics in the environment: A review. WATER Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2012.11.027
- Miko, Z., Ujszegi, J., Gal, Z., Imrei, Z., Hettyey, A., 2015. Choice of experimental venue matters in ecotoxicology studies: Comparison of a laboratory-based and an outdoor mesocosm experiment. Aquat. Toxicol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.07.014
- Min, S.-K., Zhang, X., Zwiers, F.W., Hegerl, G.C., 2011. Human contribution to more-intense precipitation extremes. NATURE. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09763
- Miner, K.R., Clifford, H., Taruscio, T., Potocki, M., Solomon, G., Ritari, M., Napper, I.E., Gajurel, A.P., Mayewski, P.A., 2021. Deposition of PFAS 'forever chemicals' on Mt. Everest. Sci. Total Environ. 759, 144421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144421
- Miralles, D.G., Van Den Berg, M.J., Teuling, A.J., De Jeu, R.A.M., 2012. Soil moisture-temperature coupling: A multiscale observational analysis. Geophys. Res. Lett. 39.
- Moe, S.J., De Schamphelaere, K., Clements, W.H., Sorensen, M.T., Van den Brink, P.J., Liess, M., 2013. Combined and interactive effects of global climate change and toxicants on populations and communities. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 32, 49–61.
- Moller, V., Forbes, V., Depledge, M., 1994. Influence of acclimation and exposure temperature on the acute toxicity of cadmium to the fresh-water snail Potamopyrgus-antipodarum (hydrobiidae). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1897/1552-8618(1994)13[1519:IOAAET]2.0.CO;2
- Morecroft, M.D., Bealey, C.E., Beaumont, D.A., Benham, S., Brooks, D.R., Burt, T.P., Critchley, C.N.R., Dick, J., Littlewood, N.A., Monteith, D.T., Scott, W.A., Smith, R.I., Walmsley, C., Watson, H., 2009. The UK Environmental Change Network: Emerging trends in the composition of plant and animal communities and the physical environment. Biol. Conserv. 142, 2814–2832.
- Morgan, R., Jangoux, M., 2002. Reproductive cycle and spawning induction in the gregarious brittle star Ophiothrix fragilis (Echinodermata) in the Oosterschelde (Netherlands). Invertebr. Reprod. Dev. 42, 145–155. https://doi.org/10.1080/07924259.2002.9652771
- Morselli, M., Vitale, C.M., Ippolito, A., Villa, S., Giacchini, R., Vighi, M., Di Guardo, A., 2018. Predicting pesticide fate in small cultivated mountain watersheds using the DynAPlus model: Toward improved assessment of peak exposure. Sci. Total Environ. 615, 307–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.287
- Mosley, L.M., 2015. Drought impacts on the water quality of freshwater systems; review and integration. Earth-Sci. Rev. 140, 203–214.
- Moulton, S.R., Beitinger, T.L., Stewart, K.W., Currie, R.J., 1993. Upper temperature tolerance of four species of caddisflies (Insecta: Trichoptera). J. Freshw. Ecol. 8, 193–198.

- Mullins, J.A., Carsel, R.F., Scarbrough, J.E., Ivery, A.M., 1993. PRZM-2, a model for predicting pesticide fate in the crop root and unsaturated soil zones: User's manual for release 2. 0. AScI Corp., Athens, GA (United States).
- NCBI, 2021. NCBI Taxonomy Database.
- Newman, M., Ownby, D., Mezin, L., Powell, D., Christensen, T., Lerberg, S., Anderson, B., 2000. Applying speciessensitivity distributions in ecological risk assessment: Assumptions of distribution type and sufficient numbers of species. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620190233
- Nienstedt, K.M., Brock, T.C.M., van Wensem, J., Montforts, M., Hart, A., Aagaard, A., Alix, A., Boesten, J., Bopp, S.K., Brown, C., Capri, E., Forbes, V., Kopp, H., Liess, M., Luttik, R., Maltby, L., Sousa, J.P., Streissl, F., Hardy, A.R., 2012. Development of a framework based on an ecosystem services approach for deriving specific protection goals for environmental risk assessment of pesticides. Sci. Total Environ. 415, 31– 38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.05.057
- Nieto, E., Hampel, M., Gonzalez-Ortegon, E., Drake, P., Blasco, J., 2016. Influence of temperature on toxicity of single pharmaceuticals and mixtures, in the crustacean A. desmarestii. J. Hazard. Mater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.03.061
- Niggebrugge, K., Durance, I., Watson, A.M., Leuven, R.S.E.W., Ormerod, S.J., 2007. Applying landscape ecology to conservation biology: Spatially explicit analysis reveals dispersal limits on threatened wetland gastropods. Biol. Conserv. 139, 286–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.07.003
- Noel, Z.A., Wang, J., Chilvers, M.I., 2018. Significant influence of EC50 estimation by model choice and EC50 type. Plant Dis. 102, 708–714.
- Nolan, B.T., Dubus, I.G., Surdyk, N., Fowler, H.J., Burton, A., Hollis, J.M., Reichenberger, S., Jarvis, N.J., 2008. Identification of key climatic factors regulating the transport of pesticides in leaching and to tile drains. PEST Manag. Sci. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.1587
- Nordborg, M., Davis, J., Cederberg, C., Woodhouse, A., 2017. Freshwater ecotoxicity impacts from pesticide use in animal and vegetable foods produced in Sweden. Sci. Total Environ. 581–582, 448–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.153
- Norhave, N.J., Spurgeon, D., Svendsen, C., Cedergreen, N., 2014. The importance of experimental time when assessing the effect of temperature on toxicity in poikilotherms. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2563
- Noyes, P.D., Lema, S.C., 2015. Forecasting the impacts of chemical pollution and climate change interactions on the health of wildlife. Curr. Zool. 61, 669–689.
- Noyes, P.D., McElwee, M.K., Miller, H.D., Clark, B.W., Van Tiem, L.A., Walcott, K.C., Erwin, K.N., Levin, E.D., 2009. The toxicology of climate change: environmental contaminants in a warming world. Environ. Int. 35, 971–986.
- OECD, 2012. Test No. 211: Daphnia magna Reproduction Test. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264185203-en
- OECD, 2004. Test No. 202: Daphnia sp. Acute Immobilisation Test. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264069947-en
- Ohba, M., Sugimoto, S., 2019. Differences in climate change impacts between weather patterns: possible effects on spatial heterogeneous changes in future extreme rainfall. Clim. Dyn. 52, 4177–4191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-018-4374-1
- Olesen, J.E., Borgesen, C.D., Elsgaard, L., Palosuo, T., Rotter, R.P., Skjelvag, A.O., Peltonen-Sainio, P., Borjesson, T., Trnka, M., Ewert, F., Siebert, S., Brisson, N., Eitzinger, J., van Asselt, E.D., Oberforster, M., van der Fels-Klerx, H.J., 2012. Changes in time of sowing, flowering and maturity of cereals in Europe under climate change. FOOD Addit. Contam. PART -Chem. Anal. CONTROL Expo. RISK Assess. https://doi.org/10.1080/19440049.2012.712060
- Oliver, D.P., Kookana, R.S., Anderson, J.S., Cox, J., Waller, N., Smith, L., 2012. The off-site transport of pesticide loads from two land uses in relation to hydrological events in the Mt. Lofty Ranges, South Australia. Agric. Water Manag. 106, 70–77.
- Op de Beeck, L., Verheyen, J., Stoks, R., 2018. Strong differences between two congeneric species in sensitivity to pesticides in a warming world. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.311
- Op de Beeck, L., Verheyen, J., Stoks, R., 2017. Integrating both interaction pathways between warming and pesticide exposure on upper thermal tolerance in high- and low latitude populations of an aquatic insect. Environ. Pollut. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.11.014
- Orr, H.G., Des Clers, S., Simpson, G.L., Hughes, M., Battarbee, R.W., Cooper, L., Dunbar, M.J., Evans, R., Hannaford, J., Hannah, D.M., 2010. Changing water temperatures: a surface water archive for England and Wales.

- Paasivirta, J., Sinkkonen, S., Mikkelson, P., Rantio, T., Wania, F., 1999. Estimation of vapor pressures, solubilities and Henry's law constants of selected persistent organic pollutants as functions of temperature. CHEMOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(99)00016-8
- Pall, P., Aina, T., Stone, D.A., Stott, P.A., Nozawa, T., Hilberts, A.G.J., Lohmann, D., Allen, M.R., 2011. Anthropogenic greenhouse gas contribution to flood risk in England and Wales in autumn 2000. NATURE. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09762
- Palm, C., Blanco-Canqui, H., DeClerck, F., Gatere, L., Grace, P., 2014. Conservation agriculture and ecosystem services: An overview. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.010
- Parker, R., Arnold, J.G., Barrett, M., Burns, L., Carrubba, L., Neitsch, S.L., Snyder, N.J., Srinivasan, R., 2007.
  Evaluation of Three Watershed-Scale Pesticide Environmental Transport and Fate Models. JAWRA J.
  Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 43, 1424–1443. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2007.00101.x
- Paul, R.J., Lamkemeyer, T., Maurer, J., Pinkhaus, O., Pirow, R., Seidl, M., Zeis, B., 2004. Thermal acclimation in the microcrustacean Daphnia: a survey of behavioural, physiological and biochemical mechanisms. J. Therm. Biol. 29, 655–662.
- Pecl, Araújo Miguel B., Bell Johann D., Blanchard Julia, Bonebrake Timothy C., Chen I-Ching, Clark Timothy D., Colwell Robert K., Danielsen Finn, Evengård Birgitta, Falconi Lorena, Ferrier Simon, Frusher Stewart, Garcia Raquel A., Griffis Roger B., Hobday Alistair J., Janion-Scheepers Charlene, Jarzyna Marta A., Jennings Sarah, Lenoir Jonathan, Linnetved Hlif I., Martin Victoria Y., McCormack Phillipa C., McDonald Jan, Mitchell Nicola J., Mustonen Tero, Pandolfi John M., Pettorelli Nathalie, Popova Ekaterina, Robinson Sharon A., Scheffers Brett R., Shaw Justine D., Sorte Cascade J. B., Strugnell Jan M., Sunday Jennifer M., Tuanmu Mao-Ning, Vergés Adriana, Villanueva Cecilia, Wernberg Thomas, Wapstra Erik, Williams Stephen E., 2017. Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. Science 355, eaai9214. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aai9214
- Pereira, A.S., Daam, M.A., Cerejeira, M.J., 2017. Evaluation of FOCUS surface water pesticide concentration predictions and risk assessment of field-measured pesticide mixtures—a crop-based approach under Mediterranean conditions. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 17394–17406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-9393-7
- Pereira, C.M.S., Blust, R., De Schamphelaere, K.A.C., 2019. Effect of temperature on nickel uptake and elimination in Daphnia magna. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4352
- Pereira, C.M.S., Deruytter, D., Blust, R., De Schamphelaerey, K.A.C., 2017. Effect of temperature on chronic toxicity of copper, zinc, and nickel to Daphnia magna. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3714
- Pfrender, M.E., Hawkins, C.P., Bagley, M., Courtney, G.W., Creutzburg, B.R., Epler, J.H., Fend, S., Ferrington, L.C., Hartzell, P.L., Jackson, S., Larsen, D.P., Lévesque, C.A., Morse, J.C., Petersen, M.J., Ruiter, D., Schindel, D., Whiting, M., 2010. Assessing Macroinvertebrate Biodiversity in Freshwater Ecosystems: Advances and Challenges in DNA-based Approaches. Q. Rev. Biol. 85, 319–340. https://doi.org/10.1086/655118
- Pilli, A., Carle, D.O., Kline, E., Pickering, Q., Lazorchak, J., 1988. Effects of Pollution on Freshwater Organisms. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 60, 994–1065.
- Planton, S., 2002. Climate change scenarios and their hydrological impacts. HOUILLE BLANCHE-Rev. Int. EAU. https://doi.org/10.1051/lhb/2002111
- Pollard, A.T., Morra, M.J., 2018. Fate of tetracycline antibiotics in dairy manure-amended soils. Environ. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2017-0041
- Posthuma, L., van Gils, J., Zijp, M.C., van de Meent, D., de Zwart, D., 2019. Species sensitivity distributions for use in environmental protection, assessment, and management of aquatic ecosystems for 12 386 chemicals. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 38, 905–917. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4373
- Preston, B., 2002. Indirect effects in aquatic ecotoxicology: Implications for ecological risk assessment. Environ. Manage. 29, 311–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-001-0023-1
- Prudhomme, C., Dadson, S., Morris, D., Williamson, J., Goodsell, G., Crooks, S., Boelee, L., Davies, H., Buys, G., Lafon, T., Watts, G., 2012. Future Flows Climate: an ensemble of 1-km climate change projections for hydrological application in Great Britain. Earth Syst Sci Data 4, 143–148. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-4-143-2012
- Raimondo, S., Vivian, D.N., Delos, C., Barron, M.G., 2008. Protectiveness of species sensitivity distribution hazard concentrations for acute toxicity used in endangered species risk assessment. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 27, 2599–2607. https://doi.org/10.1897/08-157.1

Rasche, L., 2021. Estimating Pesticide Inputs and Yield Outputs of Conventional and Organic Agricultural Systems in Europe under Climate Change. Agronomy 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11071300

- Rathore, R., Khangarot, B., 2002. Effects of temperature on the sensitivity of sludge worm Tubifex tubifex Muller to selected heavy metals. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. https://doi.org/10.1006/eesa.2001.2100
- Reger, J., Lind, M.I., Robinson, M.R., Beckerman, A.P., 2018. Predation drives local adaptation of phenotypic plasticity. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 2, 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0373-6
- Reid, A.J., Carlson, A.K., Creed, I.F., Eliason, E.J., Gell, P.A., Johnson, P.T.J., Kidd, K.A., MacCormack, T.J., Olden, J.D., Ormerod, S.J., Smol, J.P., Taylor, W.W., Tockner, K., Vermaire, J.C., Dudgeon, D., Cooke, S.J., 2019. Emerging threats and persistent conservation challenges for freshwater biodiversity. Biol. Rev. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12480
- Relyea, R., Hoverman, J., 2006. Assessing the ecology in ecotoxicology: a review and synthesis in freshwater systems. Ecol. Lett. 9, 1157–1171. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00966.x
- Rhodes, L.A., McCarl, B.A., 2020a. An analysis of climate impacts on herbicide, insecticide, and fungicide expenditures. Agronomy 10, 745.
- Rhodes, L.A., McCarl, B.A., 2020b. An analysis of climate impacts on herbicide, insecticide, and fungicide expenditures. Agronomy 10, 745.
- Ritz, C., 2010. Toward a unified approach to dose–response modeling in ecotoxicology. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29, 220–229. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.7
- Rohr, J.R., Crumrine, P.W., 2005. Effects of an herbicide and an insecticide on pond community structure and processes. Ecol. Appl. 15, 1135–1147. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-5353
- Rubach, M.N., Baird, D.J., Van den Brink, P.J., 2010. A New Method for Ranking Mode-specific Sensitivity of Freshwater Arthropods to Insecticides and Its Relationship to Biological Traits. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29, 476–487. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.55
- Ruosteenoja, K., Carter, T.R., Jylhä, K., Tuomenvirta, H., 2003. Future climate in world regions: an intercomparison of model-based projections for the new IPCC emissions scenarios.
- Sarmah, A.K., Meyer, M.T., Boxall, A.B.A., 2006. A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (VAs) in the environment. CHEMOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.03.026
- Schmitt-Jansen, M., Veit, U., Dudel, G., Altenburger, R., 2008. An ecological perspective in aquatic ecotoxicology: Approaches and challenges. Spec. Feature Ecotoxicol. Ecosyst. Relev. Restrict. Res. Needs 9, 337–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2007.08.008
- Schnoor, J.L., 1992. Fate of Pesticides and Chemicals in the Environment. John Wiley & Sons.
- Schwarzenbach, R.P., Escher, B.I., Fenner, K., Hofstetter, T.B., Johnson, C.A., von Gunten, U., Wehrli, B., 2006. The Challenge of Micropollutants in Aquatic Systems. Science 313, 1072. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1127291
- Silva, L.C.M., Daam, M.A., Gusmao, F., 2020. Acclimation alters glyphosate temperature-dependent toxicity: Implications for risk assessment under climate change. J. Hazard. Mater. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121512
- Silva Maciel, C.F., Teixeira, M.M., Fernandes, H.C., Zolnier, S., Cecon, P.R., 2018. Droplet spectrum of a spray nozzle under different weather conditions. Rev. Cienc. Agron. https://doi.org/10.5935/1806-6690.20180048
- Silvertown, J., Dodd, M.E., McConway, K., Potts, J., Crawley, M., 1994. Rainfall, Biomass Variation, and Community Composition in the Park Grass Experiment. Ecology 75, 2430–2437. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940896
- Sokolova, I.M., Lannig, G., 2008. Interactive effects of metal pollution and temperature on metabolism in aquatic ectotherms: implications of global climate change. Clim. Res. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr00764
- Squire, G.R., Cammarano, D., Daniell, T.J., Newton, A.C., White, P.J., 2016. Agriculture and Forestry Climate change report card technical paper 3. Arable Crops. RIDE Forum Climate change impacts report cards.
- Stahl Jr., R.G., Hooper, M.J., Balbus, J.M., Clements, W., Fritz, A., Gouin, T., Helm, R., Hickey, C., Landis, W., Moe, S.J., 2013. The influence of global climate change on the scientific foundations and applications of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry: Introduction to a SETAC international workshop. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 32, 13–19. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2037
- Steffens, K., Jarvis, N., Lewan, E., Lindström, B., Kreuger, J., Kjellström, E., Moeys, J., 2015. Direct and indirect effects of climate change on herbicide leaching — A regional scale assessment in Sweden. Sci. Total Environ. 514, 239–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.12.049

Stocker, T., 2014. Climate change 2013: the physical science basis: Working Group I contribution to the Fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge university press.

Stott, P., 2016. How climate change affects extreme weather events. Science 352, 1517–1518.

- Szalinska, E., Zemelka, G., Krylow, M., Orlinska-Wozniak, P., Jakusik, E., Wilk, P., 2021. Climate change impacts on contaminant loads delivered with sediment yields from different land use types in a Carpathian basin. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142898
- Te Roller, J.A., van den Berg, F., Adriaanse, P.I., de Jong, A., Beltman, W.H.J., 2015. Surface WAter Scenario Help (SWASH) version 5.3: technical description. Statutory Research Tasks Unit for Nature & the Environment (WOT Natuur & Milieu).
- Teixeira, E.I., de Ruiter, J., Ausseil, A.-G., Daigneault, A., Johnstone, P., Holmes, A., Tait, A., Ewert, F., 2018. Adapting crop rotations to climate change in regional impact modelling assessments. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.247
- Ternes, T.A., Bonerz, M., Herrmann, N., Teiser, B., Andersen, H.R., 2007. Irrigation of treated wastewater in Braunschweig, Germany: An option to remove pharmaceuticals and musk fragrances. CHEMOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.06.035
- Thomson, L.J., Macfadyen, S., Hoffmann, A.A., 2010. Predicting the effects of climate change on natural enemies of agricultural pests. Aust. N. Z. Biocontrol Conf. 52, 296–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocontrol.2009.01.022
- Tirado, M.C., Clarke, R., Jaykus, L.A., McQuatters-Gollop, A., Franke, J.M., 2010. Climate change and food safety: A review. FOOD Res. Int. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2010.07.003
- Tran, T.T., Janssens, L., Dinh, K., V., Stoks, R., 2019. An adaptive transgenerational effect of warming but not of pesticide exposure determines how a pesticide and warming interact for antipredator behaviour. Environ. Pollut. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.11.022
- Tran, T.T., Janssens, L., Dinh, K.V., Stoks, R., 2018. Transgenerational interactions between pesticide exposure and warming in a vector mosquito. Evol. Appl. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12605
- Tudi, M., Daniel Ruan, H., Wang, L., Lyu, J., Sadler, R., Connell, D., Chu, C., Phung, D.T., 2021. Agriculture Development, Pesticide Application and Its Impact on the Environment. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 18. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18031112
- UN, 2019. World Population Prospects 2019: Data Booklet (ST/ESA/SER. A/424).
- University of Hertfordshire, 2007a. PPDB: Pesticide Properties DataBase.
- University of Hertfordshire, 2007b. VSDB: Veterinary Substances DataBase.
- US EPA, 2020. Pesticide Registration Manual: Chapter 1 Overview of Requirements for Pesticide Registration and Registrant Obligations.
- US EPA, 2018. ECOTOXicology knowledgebase (ECOTOX).
- US EPA, 2016a. PWC (Pesticide in Water Calculator) v1.52 with PRZM v5.02.
- US EPA, 2016b. Web-based Interspecies Correlation Estimation (Web-ICE) V3.3.
- Usseglio-Polatera, P., Bournaud, M., Richoux, P., Tachet, H., 2000. Biological and ecological traits of benthic freshwater macroinvertebrates: relationships and definition of groups with similar traits. Freshw. Biol. 43, 175–205. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2427.2000.00535.x
- Vaal, M.A., Van Leeuwen, C.J., Hoekstra, J.A., Hermens, J.L.M., 2000. Variation in Sensitivity of Aquatic Species to Toxicants: Practical Consequences for Effect Assessment of Chemical Substances. Environ. Manage. 25, 415–423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002679910033
- Valle, M.D., Codato, E., Marcomini, A., 2007. Climate change influence on POPs distribution and fate: A case study. CHEMOSPHERE. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.12.028
- Van den Berg, F., Beltman, W.H.J., Adriaanse, P.I., de Jong, A., Te Roller, J.A., 2015. SWASH Manual 5.3: user's guide version 5. Statutory Research Tasks Unit for Nature & the Environment (WOT Nature & Milieu).
- Van den Berg, S.J.P., Baveco, H., Butler, E., De Laender, F., Focks, A., Franco, A., Rendal, C., Van den Brink, P.J., 2019. Modeling the Sensitivity of Aquatic Macroinvertebrates to Chemicals Using Traits. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 6025–6034. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b00893
- van den Berg, S.J.P., Maltby, L., Sinclair, T., Liang, R., van den Brink, P.J., 2021. Cross-species extrapolation of chemical sensitivity. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141800
- Van den Brink, P.J., Boxall, A.B.A., Maltby, L., Brooks, B.W., Rudd, M.A., Backhaus, T., Spurgeon, D., Verougstraete, V., Ajao, C., Ankley, G.T., Apitz, S.E., Arnold, K., Brodin, T., Cañedo-Argüelles, M., Chapman, J., Corrales, J., Coutellec, M.-A., Fernandes, T.F., Fick, J., Ford, A.T., Giménez Papiol, G., Groh, K.J., Hutchinson, T.H., Kruger, H., Kukkonen, J.V.K., Loutseti, S., Marshall, S., Muir, D., Ortiz-Santaliestra,

M.E., Paul, K.B., Rico, A., Rodea-Palomares, I., Römbke, J., Rydberg, T., Segner, H., Smit, M., van Gestel, C.A.M., Vighi, M., Werner, I., Zimmer, E.I., van Wensem, J., 2018. Toward sustainable environmental quality: Priority research questions for Europe. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 37, 2281–2295. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4205

- van der Putten, W.H., Bradford, M.A., Brinkman, E.P., van de Voorde, T.F.J., Veen, G.F., 2016. Where, when and how plant-soil feedback matters in a changing world. Funct. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12657
- Van Vuuren, D.P., Edmonds, J., Kainuma, M., Riahi, K., Thomson, A., Hibbard, K., Hurtt, G.C., Kram, T., Krey, V., Lamarque, J.-F., 2011. The representative concentration pathways: an overview. Clim. Change 109, 5– 31.
- Varty, S., Lehnherr, I., St. Pierre, K., Kirk, J., Wisniewski, V., 2021. Methylmercury Transport and Fate Shows Strong Seasonal and Spatial Variability along a High Arctic Freshwater Hydrologic Continuum. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 331–340. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c05051
- Vaughan, I.P., Ormerod, S.J., 2014. Linking interdecadal changes in British river ecosystems to water quality and climate dynamics. Glob. CHANGE Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12616
- Vaughan, I.P., Ormerod, S.J., 2012. Large-scale, long-term trends in British river macroinvertebrates. Glob. CHANGE Biol. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02662.x
- Vernier, F., Leccia-Phelpin, O., Lescot, J.-M., Minette, S., Miralles, A., Barberis, D., Scordia, C., Kuentz-Simonet, V., Tonneau, J.-P., 2017. Integrated modeling of agricultural scenarios (IMAS) to support pesticide action plans: the case of the Coulonge drinking water catchment area (SW France). Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7657-2
- Verschoor, A.J., Vink, J.P.M., de Snoo, Geert.R., Vijver, M.G., 2011. Spatial and Temporal Variation of Watertype-Specific No-Effect Concentrations and Risks of Cu, Ni, and Zn. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45, 6049–6056. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2007963
- Wagenet, R.J., Rao, P.S.C., 1990. Modeling pesticide fate in soils. Pestic. Soil Environ. Process. Impacts Model. 2, 351–399.
- Wagner, C., Løkke, H., 1991. Estimation of ecotoxicological protection levels from NOEC toxicity data. Water Res. 25, 1237–1242. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(91)90062-U
- Walters, D.M., Jardine, T.D., Cade, B.S., Kidd, K.A., Muir, D.C.G., Leipzig-Scott, P., 2016. Trophic Magnification of Organic Chemicals: A Global Synthesis. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50, 4650–4658. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.6b00201
- Wang, R., Yuan, Y., Yen, H., Grieneisen, M., Arnold, J., Wang, D., Wang, C., Zhang, M., 2019. A review of pesticide fate and transport simulation at watershed level using SWAT: Current status and research concerns. Sci. TOTAL Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.141
- Warren, N., Allan, I., Carter, J., House, W., Parker, A., 2003. Pesticides and other micro-organic contaminants in freshwater sedimentary environments - a review. Appl. Geochem. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0883-2927(02)00159-2
- Watts, G., Battarbee, R.W., Bloomfield, J.P., Crossman, J., Daccache, A., Durance, I., Elliott, J.A., Garner, G., Hannaford, J., Hannah, D.M., Hess, T., Jackson, C.R., Kay, A.L., Kernan, M., Knox, J., Mackay, J., Monteith, D.T., Ormerod, S.J., Rance, J., Stuart, M.E., Wade, A.J., Wade, S.D., Weatherhead, K., Whitehead, P.G., Wilby, R.L., 2015. Climate change and water in the UK - past changes and future prospects. Prog. Phys. Geogr.-EARTH Environ. https://doi.org/10.1177/0309133314542957
- Webster, E., Mackay, D., Di Guardo, A., Kane, D., Woodfine, D., 2004. Regional differences in chemical fate model outcome. Chemosphere 55, 1361–1376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2003.10.061
- West, J.S., Holdgate, S., Townsend, J.A., Edwards, S.G., Jennings, P., Fitt, B.D., 2012a. Impacts of changing climate and agronomic factors on fusarium ear blight of wheat in the UK. Fungal Ecol. 5, 53–61.
- West, J.S., Holdgate, S., Townsend, J.A., Edwards, S.G., Jennings, P., Fitt, B.D., 2012b. Impacts of changing climate and agronomic factors on fusarium ear blight of wheat in the UK. Fungal Ecol. 5, 53–61.
- Whitehead, P.G., Wilby, R.L., Battarbee, R.W., Kernan, M., Wade, A.J., 2009. A review of the potential impacts of climate change on surface water quality. Hydrol. Sci. J.-J. Sci. Hydrol. https://doi.org/10.1623/hysj.54.1.101
- Wilby, R.L., Orr, H.G., Hedger, M., Forrow, D., Blackmore, M., 2006. Risks posed by climate change to the delivery of Water Framework Directive objectives in the UK. Environ. Risk Manag. - State Art 32, 1043–1055. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2006.06.017

- Williams, P.J., Dick, K.B., Yampolsky, L.Y., 2012. Heat tolerance, temperature acclimation, acute oxidative damage and canalization of haemoglobin expression in Daphnia. Evol. Ecol. 26, 591–609.
- Willming, M.M., Qin, G., Maul, J.D., 2013. Effects of environmentally realistic daily temperature variation on pesticide toxicity to aquatic invertebrates. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2354
- Winton, K., Weber, J.B., 1996. A review of field lysimeter studies to describe the environmental fate of pesticides. Weed Technol. 10, 202–209.
- Wolstenholme, A.J., Fairweather, I., Prichard, R., von Samson-Himmelstjerna, G., Sangster, N.C., 2004. Drug resistance in veterinary helminths. Trends Parasitol. 20, 469–476.
- Wolt, J., Singh, P., Cryer, S., Lin, J., 2002. Sensitivity analysis for validating expert opinion as to ideal data set criteria for transport modeling. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620210805
- Woodward, G., Perkins, D.M., Brown, L.E., 2010. Climate change and freshwater ecosystems: impacts across multiple levels of organization. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 365, 2093–2106. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0055
- Woznicki, S.A., Nejadhashemi, A.P., Parsinejad, M., 2015. Climate change and irrigation demand: Uncertainty and adaptation. J. Hydrol.-Reg. Stud. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2014.12.003
- Wright, J.F., 1994. Development of RIVPACS in the UK and the value of the underlying data-base. Limnética 10, 15–31.
- Wright, J.F., Blackburn, J.H., Gunn, R.J.M., Furse, M.T., Armitage, P.D., Winder, J.M., Symes, K.L., Moss, D., 1996. Macroinvertebrate frequency data for the RIVPACS III sites in Great Britain and their use in conservation evaluation. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 6, 141–167.
- Wright, J.F., Furse, M.T., Moss, D., 1998. River classification using invertebrates: RIVPACS applications. Aquat. Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 8, 617–631. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1099-0755(199807/08)8:4<617::aid-aqc255>3.0.co;2-#
- Wu, C., Spongberg, A.L., Witter, J.D., Fang, M., Czajkowski, K.P., 2010. Uptake of Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products by Soybean Plants from Soils Applied with Biosolids and Irrigated with Contaminated Water. Environ. Sci. Technol. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1011115
- Wu, Y., Lin, C., Yuan, L., 2007. Characteristics of six cladocerans in relation to ecotoxicity testing. Ecol. Indic. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2006.09.001
- Xuan, R., Blassengale, A.A., Wang, Q., 2008. Degradation of Estrogenic hormones in a silt loam soil. J. Agric. FOOD Chem. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf8016942
- Zettler, M.L., Proffitt, C.E., Darr, A., Degraer, S., Devriese, L., Greathead, C., Kotta, J., Magni, P., Martin, G., Reiss, H., Speybroeck, J., Tagliapietra, D., Van Hoey, G., Ysebaert, T., 2013. On the Myths of Indicator Species: Issues and Further Consideration in the Use of Static Concepts for Ecological Applications. PLOS ONE 8, e78219. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0078219
- Zhang, X., Luo, Y., Goh, K.S., 2018. Modeling spray drift and runoff-related inputs of pesticides to receiving water. Environ. Pollut. 234, 48–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.11.032
- Zimmermann, A., Webber, H., Zhao, G., Ewert, F., Kros, J., Wolf, J., Britz, W., de Vries, W., 2017. Climate change impacts on crop yields, land use and environment in response to crop sowing dates and thermal time requirements. Agric. Syst. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2017.07.007
- Ziska, L.H., 2020. Climate Change and the Herbicide Paradigm: Visiting the Future. Agronomy 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10121953
- Ziska, L.H., McConnell, L.L., 2016. Climate Change, Carbon Dioxide, and Pest Biology: Monitor, Mitigate, Manage. J. Agric. FOOD Chem. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf506101h

## Appendices Appendix A2 for Chapter 2

Table A2.1 Relevant environmental properties of 24 chemicals. 14 pesticides and 10 pharmaceuticals. Chemical properties were sourced from the relevant of the Veterinary Substances DataBase (University of Hertfordshire, 2007a) for pharmaceuticals and pesticides respectively.

Chemical	Target	Time of Application	DT₅₀ Soil (day)	kOC	Solubility (mg/L)	Molecular weight	Vapour pressure	Henry's coefficient	DT <sub>50</sub> Water (day)	DT₅₀ Sediment (day)
Azoxystrobin	Fungicide	Spring	78	427	6.7	403.4	1.10E-10	7.40E-09	1000	205
Carbamazepine	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	36.5	419.08	17.7	236.27	1.80E-07	1.08E-07	100	328
Chlorothalonil	Fungicide	Spring	4.29	1288	0.81	265.9	7.62E-05	0.025	1.97	1000
Cypermethrin	Insecticide	Spring	141.3	89	93	416.3	2E-05	5E-05	22.2	1000
Cyproconazole	Fungicide	Summer	126	130031	0.00121	291.8	2.6 E-05	2.6E-05	1000	1000
Diazinon	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	9.1	609	60	304.35	9.01E-05	6.25E-8	4.3	10.4
Diclofenac	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	0.5	833	2.37	296.15	6.14E-08	4.73E-12	5	8
Diflufenican	Herbicide	Winter	141.8	1989	0.05	394	4.25E-06	7.40E-09	31.7	214
Erythromycin	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	20	10	2000	733.93	2.10E-25	5.42E-29	17.63	6.8
Fluroxypyr	Herbicide	Spring	0.7	19550	0.009	367.3	1.35E-06	0.027	38.1	38.1
Fluvalinate	Insecticide	Summer	31	750746	0.00103	502.9	9.10E-11	1.2E-04	1.96	87.32
Glyphosate	Herbicide	Summer	20.51	15844	10500	169.07	1.31E-05	2.1E-07	67.74	67.74
Imidacloprid	Insecticide	Autumn	38.9	242	514	255.7	7E-07	6.50E-11	168.58	27.1
Ivermectin	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	27	12600	4.1	874.7	1.5E-09	4.80E-26	2.9	15
MCPA	Herbicide	Summer	21	24	29390	214.65	1.4E-04	5.50E-07	141	1000
Metformin Hydrochloride	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	5	1693	1060000	165.66	7.60E-05	7.64E-16	20.3	14
Metronidazole	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	5.7	38	11000	171.15	3.10E-07	1.70E-11	385	74.5
Naproxen	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	2	349	15.9	230.26	1.90E-06	3.39E-10	14	7.7
Orlistat	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	6.4	49937	0.0919	495.74	9.77E-14	1.13E-09	18.9	18.9
Prothioconazole	Fungicide	Spring	0.5	1765	0.3	344.3	4E-07	3E-05	1	2.8
Pyraclostrobin	Fungicide	Spring	62	9304	1.9	387.8	2.6 E-06	5.3E-06	28	28
Thifensulfuron-methyl	Herbicide	Spring	1.39	9	2240	387.4	5.20E-09	3.25E-08	22.8	22.8
Tri-allate	Herbicide	Autumn	58.2	4301.4	4.1	304.7	0.012	0.89	103.8	68.2
Trimethoprim	Pharmaceutical	Autumn	110	301	400	290.32	9.90E-09	2.40E-14	20	75

Table A2.2 Coefficients for the static coefficient (a) and gradient coefficient (r) of logarithmic models base e fitted to the degradation of hypothetical chemicals with varying  $DT_{50}$  in a hypothetical soil over a 360-day period

DT <sub>50</sub>		
(days)	а	r
	0.00	-
0.5	3	0.0007
	0.01	-
2.5	6	0.0034
	0.02	-
12.5	4	0.0042
	0.02	-
62.5	6	0.0036
	0.02	-
312.5	5	0.0028

Table A2.3 Coefficients for the static coefficient (a) and gradient coefficient (r) of exponential models fitted to the degradation of hypothetical chemicals with varying  $DT_{50}$  over a temperature increase from 0°C to 40°C

DT <sub>50</sub>			Q10
(days)	а	r	
	0.20	0.04	1.5
0.5	4	2	2
	0.12	0.05	1.7
2.5	5	3	1
	0.10	0.05	1.7
12.5	9	7	6
	0.10	0.05	1.7
62.5	6	7	7
	0.10	0.05	1.7
312.5	7	7	7

Table A2.4 Calculated p-values from the inter-seasonal variation in  $EFF_{90}$  between the six sites from the Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction. Sites with differing letters were statistically significant (P<0.05) from each other

	Lancashir	Durha	Oxfordshir	FSSOV	Cornwal	Ken
	е	m	е	LSSEX	1	t
Lancashire	а					
Durham	0.995	а				
Oxfordshir e	<0.001	<0.001	b			
Essex	0.999	0.938	< 0.001	а		
Cornwall	0.996	0.908	<0.001	0.99 9	а	
Kent	0.965	0.759	<0.001	0.99 8	0.999	а

_	Baseline (1980-2000)						Future (2060-2080)							
50	А	Lancashire	Durham	Oxfordshire	Essex	Cornwall	Kent	В	Lancashire	Durham	Oxfordshire	Essex	Cornwall	Kent
o iring	Lancashire	а						Lancashire	а					
og1 igge e flu	Durham	<0.001	b					Durham	0.896	а				
or l n tr ntil	Oxfordshire	<0.001	<0.001	с				Oxfordshire	0.848	0.220	ab			
es f atio erce	Essex	<0.001	< 0.001	0.080	cd			Essex	0.001	< 0.001	0.061	b		
p-valu recipita 0th pe	Cornwall	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.00 1	е		Cornwall	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.00 1	с	
IД)	Kent	<0.001	<0.001	0.048	0.999	<0.001	d	Kent	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.00 1	0.824	с
\$ _	С	Lancashire	Durham	Oxfordshire	Essex	Cornwall	Kent	D	Lancashire	Durham	Oxfordshire	Essex	Cornwall	Kent
Day: flux	Lancashire	а						Lancashire	а					
tile.	Durham	0.992	ab					Durham	0.829	ab				
, log	Oxfordshire	<0.001	<0.001	С				Oxfordshire	<0.001	<0.001	С			
s for per	Essex	0.012	0.067	0.065	bc			Essex	<0.001	<0.001	0.999	с		
-value: o 90th	Cornwall	0.027	0.130	0.031	0.999	b		Cornwall	0.044	0.542	<0.001	<0.00 1	b	
ά¥	Kent	<0.001	<0.001	0.967	0.005	0.002	С	Kent	<0.001	<0.001	0.535	0.778	<0.001	с
Ŧ	F	Lancashire	Durham	Oxfordshire	Fssey	Cornwall	Kent	F	Lancashire	Durham	Oxfordshire	Fssey	Cornwall	Kent
ge o )	Lancashiro		Dumum	Oxfordshire	LIJCA	contwan	Kent	Lancashiro	Lancasinine	Darnam	Oxfordshire	LIJCA	contwan	Kent
(Edg	Durbam	a <0.001	h					Durbam	a <0.001	h				
g10 cal t	Oxfordshire	<0.001	_0.001	C				Oxfordshire	<0.001 0.012	<0.001	C			
· log emi	Fssex	<0.001	<0.001	0 941	C			Fssex	0.012	<0.001	0.992	ас		
s for I che	ESSCX II	0.001	<0.001	0.541	<0.00			E35CK	0.000	<0.001	0.552	<0.00		
lues ield	Cornwall	0.549	<0.001	<0.001	1	а		Cornwall	<0.001	<0.001	0.004	1	d	
p-va f	Kent	<0.001	<0.001	0.996	0.720	<0.001	с	Kent	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.00 1	0.869	d

Table A2.5 Calculated p-values for the size (A & B) and delay (C & D) to the precipitation event triggering the EFF<sub>90</sub> (E & F) from baseline (A, C & E) and future (B, D & F) climate scenarios between the six sites from the Tukey's HSD test with Sidak correction. Sites with differing letters were statistically significant (p<0.05) from each other

155

## Appendix A3 for Chapter 3

Table A3.1 Breakdown of the percentage taxonomic coverage of various toxicity datasets collated from the US EPA ECOTOX database compared to the freshwater taxa present across all 835 RICT reference sites grouped by chemical type

, , ,	Number of	Coverage of R	ICT referen	ce taxa in ch	emical toxicity	dataset (%)
Chemical	taxa	Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus
Insecticides	Average 68	94.6	87.2	67.6	30.6	7.1
Aldrin	26	82.3	77.6	47.9	17.3	2.7
Azinphos-Methyl	30	96.9	85.3	68.2	28.7	6.5
Bifenthrin	29	74.6	73.4	71.5	25.9	7.9
Carbofuran	24	96.9	85.9	35.4	20.3	3.6
Carbaryl	141	96.9	95.7	91.1	41.2	3.3
Cypermethrin	81	96.9	90.7	60.8	28.9	7.4
Chlorpyriphos	137	98.2	90.8	69.4	33.9	3.7
DDT	109	98.2	90.8	88.9	35.9	12.9
Diflubenzuron	49	98.2	85.1	65.2	30.2	9.6
Dieldrin	40	89.2	79.6	61.1	24.6	4.8
Deltamethrin	81	96.9	89.5	63.8	32.7	11.1
Diazinon	60	98.2	97.0	75.8	37.0	10.1
Endrin	59	98.2	93.4	78.2	40.6	13.3
Endosulfan	71	96.9	89.5	85.2	29.1	4.0
Fenitrothion	120	98.2	90.8	90.2	40.6	6.6
Fenvalerate	21	82.3	77.6	32.5	13.7	0.4
Lambda-Cyhalothrin	45	89.2	79.6	61.8	31.3	13.9
Lindane	70	96.9	85.9	81.6	38.5	15.2
Malathion	176	98.2	97.0	93.2	44.1	12.5
Methyl Parathion	39	98.2	87.2	36.6	20.3	2.9
Methoxychlor	35	96.9	87.3	66.0	25.6	2.8
Parathion-Ethyl	62	96.9	81.1	78.7	34.4	7.0
Parathion-Methyl	38	98.2	90.8	37.6	21.4	3.1
Permethrin	90	98.2	90.8	82.7	39.6	5.6
Metals	Average 47	97.7	96.4	59.4	31.6	9.6
Cadmium	80	98.2	97.0	53.9	35.5	13.8
Copper	59	96.9	95.7	77.1	32.6	9.8
Nickel	26	98.2	97.0	63.8	27.7	5.1
Lead	24	96.9	95.7	50.4	28.8	8.6
Zinc	47	98.2	97.0	52.0	33.1	10.5
Narcotics	Average 44	93.0	87.4	50.3	25.4	6.1
Acenapthalene	12	89.2	73.4	31.5	14.5	2.4
Atrazine	27	82.3	81.1	45.5	17.9	2.6
Benzamine	25	98.2	85.1	49.3	25.2	4.1
Fluoranthene	40	96.9	95.7	49.3	23.9	2.3
Glyphosate	35	98.2	88.6	39.0	19.7	6.0
Linear-Alkyl Sulfonate	40	98.2	97.0	87.1	50.6	22.5
Nonyl-Phenol	35	98.2	88.6	32.9	16.2	0.4
Pentachlorophenol	69	98.2	97.0	80.1	38.3	6.5
Phenol	157	98.2	98.2	96.3	56.9	18.2
Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate	26	83.6	75.3	5.4	1.5	0.1
loluene	23	82.3	81.1	37.2	14.8	2.1

Table A3.2 Leave one out analysis with the strength of correlation between actual toxicity data endpoints and the predicted
values when predicting the toxicity from all other toxicity datapoints and across the taxonomic ranks of family and genus

	Correlation between toxicity data and prediction						
Chemical	Toxicity dataset	Family	Genus				
Aldrin	0.424	0.695	0.703				
Acenapthalene	-0.158	0.737	0.776				
Atrazine	0.464	0.920	0.933				
Azinphos-Methyl	0.643	0.897	0.906				
Benzamine	0.688	0.907	0.920				
Bifenthrin	0.823	0.950	0.954				
Carbofuran	0.344	0.906	0.942				
Carbaryl	0.808	0.892	0.903				
Cadmium	0.491	0.738	0.738				
Chlorpyriphos	0.609	0.882	0.919				
Cypermethrin	0.620	0.800	0.854				
Copper	0.357	0.617	0.618				
DDT	0.487	0.797	0.847				
Diflubenzuron	0.785	0.906	0.910				
Dieldrin	0.259	0.684	0.705				
Deltamethrin	0.316	0.789	0.817				
Diazinon	0.746	0.916	0.920				
Endrin	0.580	0.905	0.932				
Endosulfan	0.428	0.821	0.829				
Fluoranthene	0.238	0.798	0.809				
Fenitrothion	0.633	0.838	0.884				
Fenvalerate	0.583	0.931	0.948				
Fluoranthene	0.422	0.780	0.830				
Glyphosate	0.369	0.800	0.827				
Linear-Alkyl Sulfonate	0.425	0.677	0.696				
Lambda-Cyhalothrin	0.565	0.847	0.872				
Lindane	0.727	0.844	0.852				
Malathion	0.766	0.894	0.900				
Methyl Parathion	0.714	0.894	0.913				
Methoxychlor	0.795	0.946	0.952				
Nickel	0.479	0.920	0.930				
Nonyl-Phenol	0.398	0.862	0.898				
Parathion-Ethyl	0.750	0.876	0.891				
Parathion-Methyl	0.845	0.945	0.954				
Lead	0.541	0.743	0.747				
Pentachlorophenol	0.420	0.776	0.793				
Phenol	0.547	0.609	0.626				
Permethrin	0.352	0.697	0.705				
Sodium dodecyl sulfate	0.587	0.908	0.922				
Toluene	0.458	0.839	0.853				
Zinc	0.377	0.878	0.889				

## Appendix A4 for Chapter 4

Table A4.1 Calculated EC <sub>50</sub> values for the different reproductive endpoints tested within this study for Daphnia acclimatised
and tested at 15°C, 20°C or 25°C . EC <sub>50</sub> values were calculated form dose response curves fitted with non-linear log-logistic
models

Endpoint parameter	Acclimation Temperature (°C)	Test Temperature (°C)	Change in temperature (°C)	Estimate EC₅₀ (µg/L)	Standard Error
	15	15	0	17.2	9.2
	15	20	5	13.0	0.7
Time to first	15	25	10	14.7	13.2
brood	20	20	0	41.1	15.6
	20	25	5	5.1	2.2
	25	25	0	2.8	5.6
Adult size at first brood	15	15	0	10.6	3.8
	15	20	5	24.9	49.8
	15	25	10	13.7	12.6
	20	20	0	45.3	3.5
	20	25	5	8.3	18.6
	25	25	0	10.1	12.0
	15	15	0	10.9	4.7
First brood	15	20	5	11.9	4.2
investment	15	25	10	8.4	3.2
	20	20	0	42.9	16.7
	20	25	5	8.0	9.2
	25	25	0	13.3	3.6